# IDENTIFICATION OF ALLOSTERIC INHIBITORS AGAINST CASPASE-6 ACTIVITY IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

By

Jeffrey Lynham

Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology McGill University, Montreal

December 2016

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Jeffrey Lynham 2016

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	5
LIST OF FIGURES	11
LIST OF TABLES	12
ABSTRACT	13
RÉSUMÉ	14
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	15
INTRODUCTION: RATIONALE & OBJECTIVES	16
I. LITERATURE REVIEW	19
1.1. CASPASES	19
1.1.1. DISCOVERY OF CASPASES	19
1.1.2. CASPASE STRUCTURE	19
1.1.3. CASPASE CLASSIFICATIONS	21
1.1.3.1. Classification Based on Function	21
1.1.3.2. Classification Based on Procaspase Structure / Mode of Activation	22
1.1.3.3. Classification Based on Substrate Specificity	23
1.1.3.4. Classification Based on Phylogenetic Clades	24
1.1.4. CASPASE FUNCTIONS	24
1.1.4.1. Inflammation	24
1.1.4.1.1. Inflammatory Caspase Activation	24
1.1.4.1.2. Inflammatory Signaling Pathways: Caspase-1	25
1.1.4.1.3. Other Inflammatory Caspases: Caspase-4, -5, -11, -12, and -13	26
1.1.4.2. Apoptosis	26
1.1.4.2.1. Initiator Caspases	26
1.1.4.2.1.1. Caspases in the Intrinsic Pathway: Caspase-2 and -9	27
1.1.4.2.1.2. Caspases in the Extrinsic Pathway: Caspase-8 and -10	28
1.1.4.2.2. Effector Caspases: Caspase-3, -6 and -7	28
1.1.4.3. Unclassified Caspase Functions: Caspase-14, -15, -16, -17 and -18	30
1.1.4.4. Differentiation	30
1.1.4.5. Proliferation	31
1.1.4.6. Neuronal Function	31

1.1.5. REGULATION OF CASPASE ACTIVITY	
1.1.5.1. Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins	
1.1.5.2. FLICE-like Inhibitor Proteins	
1.1.5.3. Virally Encoded Inhibitors	
1.1.5.4. Post-translational Modifications	
1.1.6. SYNTHETIC CASPASE INHIBITORS	
1.1.6.1. Active Site Inhibitors	
1.1.6.1.1. Peptide Inhibitors	
1.1.6.1.2 Small Molecule Inhibitors	
1.1.6.2. Allosteric Inhibitors	
1.2. CASPASE-6	
1.2.1. STRUCTURE	
1.2.2. ACTIVATION	
1.2.3. REGULATION	39
1.2.4. SUBSTRATES	40
1.3. CASPASE-6 AND NEURODEGENERATION	43
1.3.1. PHYSIOLOGICAL NEURODEGENERATION: AXON PRUNING	43
1.3.2. PATHOLOGICAL NEURODEGENERATION MECHANISMS	44
1.3.3. NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES	45
1.3.3.1. Alzheimer Disease	
1.3.3.1.1. Amyloid-β Production	
1.3.3.1.2. C31-mediated Axonal Degeneration	47
1.3.3.1.3. Tau Cleavage	48
1.3.3.1.4. Other Caspase-6 Targets in AD	49
1.3.3.1.5. Cognitive Impairment	51
1.3.3.1.6. Neuroinflammation	52
1.3.3.2. Huntington Disease	53
1.3.3.3. Parkinson Disease	56
1.3.3.4. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis	56
1.3.3.5. HIV-mediated Neurodegeneration	57
1.3.3.6. Ischemic Neurodegeneration	57

1.4. CASPASE-6 OUTSIDE THE BRAIN	58
1.4.1. APOPTOTIC TARGETS	58
1.4.2. IMMUNE SYSTEM	59
1.4.3. DIFFERENTIATION	60
1.5. CASPASE-6 INHIBITORS	61
1.5.1. COMPETITIVE PEPTIDE INHIBITORS	61
1.5.2. COMPETITIVE SMALL MOLECULE INHIBITORS	
1.5.3. ALLOSTERIC PEPTIDE INHIBITORS	
1.5.4. ALLOSTERIC SMALL MOLECULE INHIBITORS	
1.5.5. UNCOMPETITIVE SMALL MOLECULE INHIBITORS	
II. PREFACE	
2.1. INTRODUCTION	
2.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.3. RESULTS	
2.4. DISCUSSION	
III. CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	103

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

AAM	Alternatively Activated Macrophage
Αβ	Amyloid β Peptide
AD	Alzheimer Disease
AFC	7-amino-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin
Akt	Protein Kinase B
ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
AMPA	$\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic Acid
Apaf-1	Apoptotic Protease Activating Factor 1
APP	Amyloid Precursor Protein
ARK5	AMPK-related Kinase 5
Asp	Aspartate
Atg3	Autophagy-related Protein 3
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
BAC	Bacterial Artificial Chromosome
BACE	Beta-site Amyloid Precursor Protein Cleaving Enzyme
Bcl-2	B-Cell Lymphoma 2
BIR	Baculoviral Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein Repeat
C31	31 Amino Acid Peptide of C-terminal Cleaved APP
C. elegans	Caenorhabditis elegans
c-FLIP	Cellular FLICE-like Inhibitor Protein
c-IAP1	Cellular Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein 1
c-IAP2	Cellular Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein 2
c-maf	Cellular Muscular Aponeurotic Fibrosarcoma
CA1	Cornus Ammonis 1
CAD	Caspase-activated Deoxyribonuclease
CARD	Caspase Activation Recruitment Domain
Casp1	Caspase-1
Casp2	Caspase-2
Casp3	Caspase-3

Casp4	Caspase-4
Casp5	Caspase-5
Casp6	Caspase-6
Casp7	Caspase-7
Casp8	Caspase-8
Casp9	Caspase-9
Casp10	Caspase-10
Casp11	Caspase-11
Casp12	Caspase-12
Casp13	Caspase-13
Casp14	Caspase-14
Casp15	Caspase-15
Casp16	Caspase-16
Casp17	Caspase-17
Casp18	Caspase-18
CBP	CREB Binding Protein
CED-3	Cell Death Protein 3
CDK1	Cyclin Dependent Kinase 1
CHAPS	3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate
СНО	Chinese Hamster Ovary
CNS	Central Nervous System
CREB	cAMP-Responsive Element Binding Protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal Fluid
DED	Death Effector Domain
DIABLO	Direct IAP Binding Protein with Low pI
DISC	Death Inducing Signaling Complex
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DR6	Death Receptor 6
DTT	Dithiothreitol
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid

FAD	Familial Alzheimer Disease
FADD	Fas-associated Protein with Death Domain
FasL	First Apoptosis Signal Ligand
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FLICE	FADD-like IL-1β-converting Enzyme
FLIP	FLICE-like Inhibitor Protein
FLIPL	FLICE-like Inhibitor Protein Long
FLIP <sub>s</sub>	FLICE-like Inhibitor Protein Short
fmk	Fluoromethylketone
GFP	Green Fluorescent Protein
GGA3	Golgi Associated, Gamma Adaptin Ear Containing, ARF Binding
	Protein 3
HAL	Hexaminolevulinate
HAUSP	Herpesvirus-associated Ubiquitin-specific Protease
HCT116	Human Colon Carcinoma Cells
HD	Huntington Disease
HEK293T	Human Embryonic Kidney Fibroblasts
HEPES	N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N-2-ethane Sulfonic Acid
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HIVE	Human Immunodeficiency Virus Encephalitis
Hsp90a	Heat Shock Protein 90 a
hTERT	Human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase
Htt	Huntingtin
IAP	Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein
ICAD	Inhibitor of Caspase-activated Deoxyribonuclease
ICE	Interleukin-1β-Converting Enzyme
IFNγ	Interferon y
IL-1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL-33	Interleukin-33
IPTG	Isopropyl $\beta$ -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside

IRAK-M	Interleukin-1 Associated Kinase-M
KO	Knockout
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LTD	Long Term Depression
MAPK	Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase
MCAO	Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion
Mch2 <sub>β</sub>	Mammalian Ced-3 Homologue 2β
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
MEM	Minimal Essential Media
mHtt	Mutant Huntingtin
miRNA	Microribonucleic Acid
MMP-2	Matrix Metalloproteinase 2
MMP-9	Matrix Metalloproteinase 9
$MPP^+$	1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium Ion
mTOR	Raptor
mTORC1	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Complex 1
NCI	Non Cognitive Impairment
NFT	Neurofibrillary Tangle
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor
NK	Natural Killer
NLR	Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain-like Receptor
NLRP1	Nod-like Receptor Protein 1
NMDA	N-methyl-D-Aspartate
NP	Neuritic Plaque
NT	Neuropil Thread
NuMa	Nuclear Mitotic Apparatus Protein
PAINS	Pan Assay Interference Compounds
PAK2	p21-activated Kinase 2
PANX1	Pannexin 1
PARD3	Par-3 Family Cell Polarity Regulator
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase

PD	Parkinson Disease
PDT	Photodynamic Therapy
PEG	Polyethylene Glycol
PIDD	p53-induced Protein with a Death Domain
PINK1	PTEN-induced Putative Kinase
PIPES	Piperazine-N, N-bis 2-ethanesulfonic Acid
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PP2	Protein Phosphatase 2
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
PSEN1	Presenilin 1
PSEN2	Presenilin 2
PTEN	Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog
RAIDD	Receptor-interacting Protein Associated CED-3 Homologous Death
	Protein with a Death Domain
RCasp6	Recombinant Caspase-6
RIPK1	Receptor Interacting Protein Kinase 1
RIPK3	Receptor Interacting Protein Kinase 3
ROCK I	Serine/threonine Kinase Rho-associated Kinase I
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SAD	Sporadic Alzheimer Disease
SATB1	Special AT-rich Sequence Binding Protein
SB	Stennicke's Buffer
SDCCAG3	Serologically Defined Colon Cancer Antigen 3
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SGK	Serine/threonine Protein Kinase
Smac	Second Mitochondria-derived Activator of Caspase
SOD1	Copper/zinc Superoxide Dismutase
SRBP	Sterol Regulatory Binding Protein
STS	Staurosporine
Tau∆Casp6	Tau Cleaved by Caspase-6
TNFα	Tumor Necrosis Factor α

TRADD	Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor type 1-Associated Death Domain
	Protein
UPS	Ubiquitin Proteasomal System
VCP	Valosin Containing Protein
v-FLIP	Viral FLICE-like Inhibitor Protein
WT	Wild Type
XIAP	X-linked inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein
YAC	Yeast Artificial Chromosome
$Zn^{2+}$	Zinc Ion

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Schematic representation of procaspase and mature caspase	pg. 20
	structure	
Figure 2.	Crystal structure of procaspase-3 and mature caspase-3	pg. 21
Figure 3.	Domain arrangement of mammalian caspases	pg. 22
Figure 4.	Caspase substrate binding site	pg. 23
Figure 5.	Schematic of the in vitro fluorescence based activity assay	pg. 78
Figure 6.	Schematic of the two-step in vitro luminescence based activity	pg. 79
	assay	
Figure 7.	Casp6 was titrated with Q-VD-OPh to estimate its active site	pg. 80
	concentration	
Figure 8.	Compound 10 inhibits active Casp6 potently and selectively	pg. 81
Figure 9.	Luciferase is inhibited by compound <b>5</b> but not by compound <b>10</b>	pg. 82
Figure 10.	The selectivity of compound 10, 10E and 10G were confirmed	pg. 83
	through their IC <sub>50</sub> values against other recombinant caspases	
Figure 11.	An analogue of compound 10, compound 10G, inhibits active	pg. 84
	Casp6 more potently but less selectively	
Figure 12.	A non-PAIN compound 10G analogue, compound 10P, inhibits	pg. 85
	active Casp6	
Figure 13.	Compounds 10G and 10P inhibit active Casp6 through a non-	pg. 86
	competitive allosteric mechanism	
Figure 14.	Compound 10 and its analogues show a trend towards Casp6	pg. 87
	inhibition in HCT116 cells without inducing cytotoxicity	
Figure 15.	Compound 10 and its analogues do not inhibit Casp6 activity in	pg. 88
	HEK293T cells at sub-toxic doses	

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1.</b> Structures and inhibition data of hit compounds from Sigma Library	pg. 89 - 91
Table 2. IC <sub>50</sub> values of compound 10, 10E and 10G against recombinant	
caspases	
Table 3. Structures and inhibition data of compound 10 analogues	pg. 93 - 94
Table 4. Structures and inhibition data of non-PAIN compound 10 analogues	pg. 95

#### ABSTRACT

Knock-in transgenic mouse models and human post-mortem studies have demonstrated Caspase-6 (Casp6) activity to be involved in both age-dependent cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease, suggesting Casp6 as a potential therapeutic target. Although Casp6 inhibitors have been identified, many of them are non-selective. Here, we show that by using a novel human genetic approach, we identified a non-conserved allosteric pocket that bears favorable tertiary architecture for accommodating small molecules. An in silico screen of 77,000 diverse molecules against this pocket identified fifty-four potential Casp6 inhibitors. This thesis will focus on the fifteen hits identified from the Sigma-Aldrich commercial library. In vitro screening of these compounds identified compound 10 and its analogues as the most potent and selective Casp6 inhibitors. In addition, kinetic analyses show that these compounds inhibit Casp6 through a noncompetitive mode of inhibition. Furthermore, these compounds are non-toxic and reduce Casp6 activity in HCT116 cells, whereas they induce cytotoxicity in HEK293T cells. Finally, extensive compound 10 analogue screens have identified compound 10P as our hit compound that could potentially be used as a starting point for medicinal chemistry for the optimization of a more potent, selective and non-toxic allosteric inhibitor. Together, not only do these findings identify a novel class of Casp6 inhibitors, but also validate a novel approach for the discovery of allosteric sites for other drug targets.

## RÉSUMÉ

Des études réalisées à partir de modèles murins transgéniques et de tissus humains postmortem ont montré que l'activité de la caspase-6 est impliquée dans les troubles cognitifs liés à l'âge et la maladie d'Alzheimer, suggérant que la caspase-6 pourrait être une cible thérapeutique potentielle pour ces pathologies. Bien que plusieurs inhibiteurs de caspase-6 aient été identifiés, la plupart d'entre eux ne sont pas sélectifs. Dans cette étude, en utilisant une nouvelle approche génétique, nous avons identifié une poche allostérique non conservée pouvant lier des petites molécules. Un criblage in silico de 77 000 molécules contre cette poche allostérique a permis d'identifier 54 inhibiteurs potentiels de caspase-6. Ce travail de thèse se concentre sur 15 de ces composés, appartenant à banque de composés Sigma-Aldrich. Des analyses in vitro ont identifié le composé 10 et ses analogues comme étant les inhibiteurs de caspase-6 les plus puissants et sélectifs. Des analyses cinétiques ont montré que ces composés inhibent la caspase-6 de manière noncompétitive. De plus, ces composés sont non toxiques et diminuent l'activité de la caspase-6 dans les cellules HCT116, mais sont cytotoxiques dans les cellules HEK293T. Enfin, nos études ont révélé que le composé 10P serait la molécule qui pourrait potentiellement servir de base pour l'optimisation de composés allostériques plus puissants, sélectifs et non toxiques. En conclusion, en plus d'avoir identifié de nouveaux inhibiteurs de caspase-6, nous avons validé une nouvelle approche pour la découverte d'inhibiteurs allostériques.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my gratitude to my supervisor, *Dr. Andréa LeBlanc* for giving me the opportunity to pursue my Master's Degree in her lab and her unwavering support, guidance and patience.

I would also like to thank our collaborators *Alexandre Beautrait* and *Anne Marinier* at the Institute For Research in Immunology and Cancer (IRIC) for their assistance in designing and executing my project.

I am also grateful for all my colleagues in the lab, past and present, for their assistance especially *Gyanesh Sharma* and *Agne Tubeleviciute-Aydin* for teaching me everything I needed to know about protein purification, titrations and enzyme kinetic assays and their help in performing my experiments over the past two years.

I would like to thank my parents, *Merilyn* and *William* and my siblings *Kristine* and *Craig* for their continual encouragement and moral support.

This thesis is dedicated in loving memory to Wilson Vicenté.

## **INTRODUCTION: RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVES**

Alzheimer disease (AD) is the most common cause of dementia accounting for an estimated 60% to 80% of cases (Alzheimer's Association, 2016). The etiology of AD is poorly defined as scientists have been debating over the tau and amyloid hypotheses for over twenty-five years. As the social and economic burden of AD continues to grow, it is important to explore other avenues of AD treatments at this time. Caspase-6 (Casp6) has recently gained considerable attention as a novel therapeutic target because of its involvement in AD progression. Therefore, my objective was to identify a Casp6 inhibitor.

Our lab discovered that Casp6 plays an integral role in both AD and age-dependent cognitive impairment. Casp6 activity causes the accumulation of amyloid  $\beta$  peptide in stressed primary human neurons (LeBlanc 1995, LeBlanc et al. 1999). In addition, Casp6 is present in neurofibrillary tangles, neuropil threads and in senile plaques of degenerating neurites in all stages of sporadic AD and in severe familial AD (Guo et al. 2004, Albrecht et al. 2007, Albrecht et al. 2009). More recently, we demonstrated that Casp6 levels in the entorhinal cortex and the Cornus Ammonis 1 (CA1) region of the hippocampus, the first areas of the brain to be affected by AD (Braak et al. 1997), correlate with episodic memory in aged individuals within normal cognitive range (Ramcharitar et al. 2013). Furthermore, we developed a mouse model expressing a selfactivated form of human Casp6 in the CA1 region and this mouse develops agedependent episodic and spatial memory impairments in the absence of neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (LeBlanc et al. 2014). Collectively, these results suggest that the elimination of plaques and tangles would have an insignificant effect on AD progression, and that these lesions are an effect rather than a cause of AD. Targeting early events that lead to the accumulation of these lesions would be a more effective approach. In this regard, we believe Casp6 represents a therapeutic target against agedependent cognitive impairment and AD.

Several studies indicate Casp6 to be a viable drug target. The first Casp6 knockout mice developed normally without exhibiting any major apoptotic defects (Zheng et al. 1999). More recent Casp6 knockout mouse models have demonstrated a role for Casp6 in inhibiting B-cell differentiation; therefore, Casp6 inhibition in the elderly could sensitize their immune response (Watanabe et al. 2008). In humans, Casp6 is expressed in all peripheral tissues with the highest expression levels in the colon, suggesting that its inhibition could cause colon cancer (Godefroy et al. 2013). However, inflammation induced tumorigenesis in the mouse colon is Casp6 independent (Foveau et al. 2014). Furthermore, some rare variants of human Casp6 have no catalytic activity (unpublished data). Taken together, these findings suggest that Casp6 activity is dispensable for normal physiology.

Several Casp6 inhibitors have been identified, each with their own advantages and disadvantages. Methylene blue inhibits Casp6 activity through the active site; however, since the active site is highly conserved, methylene blue also inhibits caspase-1 and -3 activity (Pakavathkumar et al. 2015). Zinc inhibits Casp6 through a non-competitive allosteric mechanism (Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012), but it also inhibits caspase-3, and -9 (Perry et al. 1997, Huber et al. 2012). Mammalian ced-3 homologue  $2\beta$  is the only selective endogenous Casp6 inhibitor, but it blocks Casp6 activation and has no effect on activated Casp6 (Lee et al. 2010). Moreover, a synthetic allosteric peptide was reported to selectively downregulate Casp6 activity in neuronal cells; however, it had poor cell penetration properties (Stanger et al. 2012). To our knowledge, no selective small molecule allosteric inhibitors that target active Casp6 have been reported.

We hypothesized that targeting an allosteric site of active Casp6 would selectivity inhibit its activity. I test this hypothesis by screening various compounds against purified recombinant Casp6 and other caspases. Through a novel human genetic approach, an allosteric pocket of low sequence conservation amongst different caspases was identified (unpublished data). The rationale was that binding of a small molecule within this pocket would affect Casp6 activity. Our collaborators at the IRIC ran an *in silico* screen of 77,000 diverse molecules from commercial chemical libraries and their own medicinal chemistry platform. Fifty-four compounds were identified: fourteen from IRIC, twentyfive from Chembridge Corporation and fifteen from Sigma-Aldrich. This thesis will focus on the work I have conducted on the compounds identified from the Sigma-Aldrich commercial library.

#### I. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **1.1. CASPASES**

## 1.1.1. Discovery of Caspases

Caspases belong to a family of highly conserved cysteine proteases that have a strict specificity to cleave their substrates after aspartate (Asp) residues. The first member of this family to be described was Caspase-1 (Casp1) (Black et al. 1989, Kostura et al. 1989), which was purified and cloned by two independent groups in 1992 (Cerretti et al. 1992, Thornberry et al. 1992). Based on its ability to proteolytically process interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), it was originally named interleukin-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme (ICE). In 1993, it was reported that ICE shared greater than 24% identity with *Ced-3*, an essential gene for programmed cell death during *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) development (Yuan et al. 1993). This finding, predicting for the first time that cysteine protease activity could be linked to apoptosis, prompted the rapid identification and characterization of novel caspases. In 1994, Caspase-3 (Casp3) was discovered to be the corresponding human protein of *Ced-3* (Fernandes-Alnemri et al. 1994). By 1996, ten different caspases had been characterized and the official caspase nomenclature was established (Alnemri et al. 1996). To date, eighteen members of the mammalian caspase family have been identified (Eckhart et al. 2008), eleven of which are found in humans (Casp1-10 and -14).

#### **1.1.2.** Caspase Structure

Caspases are synthesized as inactive zymogens that contain three distinct domains: an Nterminal prodomain, a large central subunit (p20) containing the active site and a small Cterminal subunit (p10) (Fig. 1). A single Asp cleavage site separates the N-terminal prodomain from the large subunit and an intersubunit linker sequence containing two Asp cleavage sites separates the p20 subunit from the p10 subunit. Within the cell, procaspases exist either as monomers or dimers, a crucial property that defines their activation mechanism. To become active, all procaspases must dimerize followed by cleavage within the intersubunit linker to enable intimate interactions between the p20 subunit and the p10 subunit. This cleavage results in the formation of two chains that help form the active site (Walker et al. 1994, Wilson et al. 1994). The p20 subunit contains the



Figure 1 | Schematic representation of procaspase and mature caspase domains.

catalytic dyad residues Cys285 (Casp1 numbering), which is part of a highly conserved QACXG pentapeptide motif (X can be R, Q or D) and His237. Both the p10 and p20 subunits contain residues that help form the substrate-binding pocket. Upon maturation, two additional cleavage events occur to remove the prodomain and intersubunit linker.

Based on the crystal structure of Casp1 (Walker et al. 1994, Wilson et al. 1994), Caspase-2 (Casp2) (Schweizer et al. 2003), Casp3 (Rotonda et al. 1996), Casp6 (Sattar et al. 2003), Caspase-7 (Casp7) (Wei et al. 2000), Caspase-8 (Casp8) (Blanchard et al. 1999) and Caspase-9 (Casp9) (Renatus et al. 2001), active caspases exist as homodimers which consist of two p20 subunits and two p10 subunits (Fig. 2). The secondary structure of each monomer (p20–p10) consists of six parallel and antiparallel  $\beta$ -sheets intertwined with five  $\alpha$ -helices positioned on opposing sides of the plane formed by the  $\beta$ -sheets. The first four  $\beta$  strands and helices 1-3 form the p20 subunit whereas the last two  $\beta$  strands and helices 4-5 form the p10 subunit. The dimer interface consists of the  $\beta$ 6 strands from both monomers contacting each other in an antiparallel manner. The monomers are arranged through a C2 axis of symmetry such that one monomer is inverted relative to the other.

Each caspase has two active sites found on opposite ends. Five loops are important for active site formation. Within each active site, four loops (L1 - L4) come from one monomer. During activation, the intersubunit linker is cleaved and the two halves of the



**Figure 2** | **Crystal structure of procaspase-3 and mature caspase-3.** Active site loop coloring: yellow = L1, red = L2, cyan =  $L2^{\circ}$ , blue = L3, tan = L4. Reprinted from (Cade et al. 2015) with permission from Springer International Publishing.

linker form L2 and L2'. Within the caspase family, the length of L1 and L3 is highly conserved whereas L2 and L4 are more variable which permits for differences in substrate preferences (Shi 2004).

## **1.1.3.** Caspase Classifications

Based on their function, caspases are mainly classified as either inflammatory or apoptotic. The apoptotic caspases can be further subdivided as either initiator or executioner caspases. Caspases can also be classified based on the length of their prodomain, which coincides with their mode of activation. Other less commonly used classification criteria include substrate specificity and phylogenetic clades.

### 1.1.3.1. Classification Based on Function

Caspases have essential roles in both inflammation and apoptosis. Casp1, Caspase-4 (Casp4) and Caspase-5 (Casp5) are involved in cytokine maturation whereas Casp2, Casp3, Casp7, Casp8, Casp9 and Caspase-10 (Casp10) are involved in apoptosis. The apoptotic caspases can be further subdivided into caspases that initiate the apoptotic cascade (Casp2, Casp8, Casp9, and Casp10) and those that are involved in the execution

phases of apoptosis (Casp3 and Casp7). The apoptotic initiator caspases can be further subdivided as being involved in the intrinsic pathway (Casp2 and Casp9) or the extrinsic pathway (Casp8 and Casp10). Casp6 is traditionally classified as an apoptotic effector caspase; however, mounting evidence suggests that it has a role outside of apoptosis since its activation in HEK293T cells does not cause cell death (Klaiman et al. 2009, Gray et al. 2010). An exception to this classification is Casp14, which is involved in keratinocyte differentiation (Lippens et al. 2000).

## 1.1.3.2. Classification Based on Procaspase Structure / Mode of Activation

Caspases can also be classified based on the length and composition of their N-terminal prodomain (Fig. 3). The inflammatory and initiator caspases have long N-terminal prodomains (~100 amino acids) that contain either a caspase activation recruitment domain (CARD) (Casp1, Casp2, Casp4, Casp5, and Casp9) or two tandem death effector domains (DEDs) (Casp8, and Casp10). These caspases exist as stable monomers until they are activated by dimerization through the induced proximity model. In this model, high local concentrations and favorable orientation of procaspases within large multiprotein complexes favors dimerization followed by autoprocessing (Muzio et al. 1998). By contrast, the effector caspases have short N-terminal prodomains (20 - 30 amino acids) that lack adaptor protein binding regions. These caspases exist as inactive dimers that are often dependent on apoptotic initiator caspases for processing and activation. Therefore, caspase activation occurs in a hierarchical manner such that initiator caspase activation precedes and facilitates effector caspase activation.



**Figure 3** | **Domain arrangement of mammalian caspases.** Adapted from (Cade et al. 2015) with permission from Springer International Publishing.

### 1.1.3.3. Classification Based on Substrate Specificity

Substrate specificity is determined by a series of four substrate residues, P4-P3-P2-P1, which bind to the active site in four substrate-binding sites, S4-S3-S2-S1, respectively (Fig. 4). The active site of each caspase contains a positively charged S1 subsite that binds the negatively charged P1 aspartate within the substrate. Traditionally, caspases were thought to cleave strictly after aspartate residues; however, there have



**Figure 4** | **Caspase substrate binding site.** Reprinted from (Cade et al. 2015) with permission from Springer International Publishing.

been many studies demonstrating that caspases can also cleave substrates after glutamate residues (Krippner-Heidenreich et al. 2001, Srinivasula et al. 2001, Moretti et al. 2002, Checinska et al. 2009, Soares et al. 2011). More recently, caspases have been shown to cleave after phosphoserine residues as well (Seaman et al. 2016). Despite an absolute requirement for aspartate, glutamate or phosphorylated serine in the P1 position, the substrate specificity in the P2-P4 positions can widely vary due to structural differences within the S2-S4 substrate-binding sites.

Thornberry et al. developed a positional scanning combinatorial library approach to define the optimal tetrapeptide substrate for ten caspases (Thornberry et al. 1997). The results of this study divide the caspases into three distinct groups based on the identity of the residue in the P4 position of the substrate. Group I, which includes Casp1, Casp4 and Casp5, prefers large aromatic / hydrophobic side chains in the P4 position, with the optimal sequence of WEHD. Group II, which includes Casp2, Casp3 and Casp7, require Asp in the P4 position for efficient catalysis with the optimal sequence of DEXD, where X is V, T or H. Group III, which includes Casp6, Casp8 and Casp9, prefer large aliphatic side chains in the P4 position with the optimal sequence of (L/V) EXD. With the exception of Casp2 and Casp6, this classification is consistent with the above-mentioned functional subdivisions of the caspase family.

### 1.1.3.4. Classification Based on Phylogenetic Clades

Eckhart et al. proposed another classification system of caspases based on phylogenetic clades (Eckhart et al. 2008). In this study, the phylogenetic relationships of mammalian caspases were re-evaluated. Using the positions of introns as stable characters during recent vertebrate evolution, three clades of caspase genes were identified: Clade I (Casp1, Casp2, Casp4, Casp5, Casp9, Casp12, Casp14, Casp15, and Casp16), Clade II (Casp3, Casp6, Casp7, and Casp17) and Clade III (Casp8, Casp10, and Casp18). Previously, this group identified Casp15 (Eckhart et al. 2005), and in this study, three new mammalian caspases (Casp16, Casp17, and Casp18) were identified. Within its prodomain, Casp15 contains a unique pyrin domain, which is similar to Caspy and Casp2 found in zebrafish (Masumoto et al. 2003). Similar to effector caspases, Casp16 and Casp17 have short prodomains. In addition, Casp18 is similar to the apoptotic initiators involved in the extrinsic pathway since it has two DEDs. With the exceptions of Casp14, Casp15, and Casp16, this new classification system is consistent with the prodomain classification system in which Clade I caspases have a CARD domain, Clade II caspases have a short prodomain and Clade III caspases have two DEDs.

#### 1.1.4. Caspase Functions

Caspases are important for signaling during immune responses. In response to viruses, bacteria or cell damage, caspases process cytokines that mediate inflammation. In addition, caspases are involved in apoptotic signaling. In response to death signals, caspases are activated and cleave vital substrates to induce apoptosis. Although caspases are known for having major roles in inflammation and apoptosis, they are not limited to these two functions. Other lesser-known roles of caspases include proliferation, differentiation, neural development and axon guidance.

## 1.1.4.1. Inflammation

## 1.1.4.1.1. Inflammatory Caspase Activation

Inflammatory caspases exist as stable monomers until they are activated by dimerization through the induced proximity model. These caspases contain a long prodomain that contain a CARD that promotes their interaction with an activation complex known as the inflammasome. The inflammasome consists of nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptor (NLR) proteins, which are a family of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), adaptor proteins containing a CARD, and inflammatory procaspases (Martinon et al. 2002). NLR proteins are held in an inactive conformation until a stimulus promotes its interaction with adaptor proteins and subsequent inflammasome formation. In some cases, an adaptor protein is not required but serves to enhance procaspase activation (Faustin et al. 2007).

## 1.1.4.1.2. Inflammatory Signaling Pathways: Caspase-1

The inflammatory caspases consist of Casp1, Casp4, Casp5, Casp11, Casp12, and Casp13. Among these, Casp1 is the most intensively studied member. Pro-IL-1 $\beta$  is processed by Casp1, which subsequently permits its secretion from monocytes and macrophages in response to pathogens and other pro-inflammatory stimuli (Thornberry et al. 1992). Casp1 is also involved in the processing of interleukin-18 (IL-18), a cytokine involved in interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) secretion (Ghayur et al. 1997, Gu et al. 1997), and interleukin-33 (IL-33), a cytokine involved in T helper cell type II polarization (Schmitz et al. 2005). Since Casp1 was identified as the first homologue of C. elegans Cell Death Protein 3 (CED-3), it was initially thought to have a role in cell death; however, Casp1 KO mice did not support this observation (Kuida et al. 1995, Li et al. 1995). These mice were resistant to endotoxic shock and had altered cytokine production and secretion, suggesting an inflammatory role rather than an apoptotic role. Casp1 also mediates the activation of the pro-inflammatory transcription factor NF-KB (Lamkanfi et al. 2004). Interestingly, rather than using its catalytic activity, the CARD domain recruits the kinase receptor-interacting protein 2 (RIP2), which is involved in NF-kB activation (Lamkanfi et al. 2004). Additionally, inflammatory caspases can protect injured cells. Bacterial pore forming toxins can induce  $K^+$  efflux, which subsequently leads to inflammasome assembly and Casp1 activation. Casp1 cleaves and activates sterol regulatory binding elements (SRBPs) that promote cell survival by facilitating membrane repair (Gurcel et al. 2006). Furthermore, unlike apoptosis which aims to avoid an immune response through engulfment of apoptotic bodies, Casp1 activity can lead to cell lysis and release of pro-inflammatory intracellular contents through a programmed cell death process known as pyroptosis (Fink et al. 2006).

## 1.1.4.1.3. Other Inflammatory Caspases: Caspase-4, -5, -11, -12, and -13

Less is known about the other inflammatory caspases. These caspases are grouped as cytokine processors since they demonstrate a higher degree of sequence similarity to Casp1 than to the apoptotic caspases. Casp11 is found only in mice and shares a high degree of homology with human Casp4 and Casp5 (Wang et al. 1996). In mice, Casp11 is essential for Casp1 activation (Wang et al. 1998). Similar to Casp1 null mice, Casp11 null mice do not process pro-IL-1 $\beta$  to IL-1 $\beta$  and are resistant to endotoxic shock induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Wang et al. 1998). Casp1 expression is modulated by IFNy, whereas Casp5 and Casp11 expression is modulated by LPS, which suggests that inflammatory caspases are differentially regulated and have distinct functions (Lin et al. 2000, Schauvliege et al. 2002). In addition, Casp4, Casp5, and Casp11 can bind LPS through their CARD domains to cause oligomerization and cell death (Shi et al. 2014). Casp12 has acquired a frame shift mutation resulting in a truncated protein because of a premature stop codon (Fischer et al. 2002). In some people of African descent, a read through single nucleotide polymorphism encodes full length Casp12, making them more susceptible to sepsis because of an attenuated inflammatory and innate immune response to endotoxins (Saleh et al. 2004). Casp13 was originally reported to be a member of the human caspase family (Humke et al. 1998), however it was later found to be a bovine ortholog of human Casp4 (Koenig et al. 2001).

## 1.1.4.2. Apoptosis

### 1.1.4.2.1. Initiator Caspases

Similar to the inflammatory caspases, apoptotic initiator caspases exist as stable monomers and contain a long prodomain that functions as a signal integrator for apoptotic signals. The prodomain may contain a single CARD (Casp2 and Casp9) or two DEDs (Casp8 and Casp10). These motifs also enable initiator caspases to be recruited to activation complexes to enable their dimerization and subsequent autoprocessing. The initiator caspases can be further subdivided as those involved in the intrinsic pathway

(Casp2 and Casp9) and those involved in the extrinsic pathway (Casp8 and Casp10). The intrinsic pathway, also known as the mitochondrial pathway, involves the release of cytochrome c from the intermembrane space of the mitochondria into the cytoplasm. The extrinsic pathway, also known as the death receptor pathway, involves cell death signals that originate at the plasma membrane where an extracellular ligand binds to its receptor to induce receptor oligomerization.

#### 1.1.4.2.1.1. Caspases in the Intrinsic Pathway: Caspase-2 and -9

The intrinsic apoptotic pathway involves stimuli such as oxidative stress, heat shock and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage. These stimuli alter the intracellular balance of pro- and anti-apoptotic members of the B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) protein family, which controls cytochrome c release from the intermembrane space within mitochondria (Fan et al. 2001, Finkel 2001). In the presence of cytochrome c and the cofactor adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the adaptor protein apoptotic protease activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) oligomerizes to form a heptameric signaling complex known as the apoptosome (Acehan et al. 2002). Zymogen Casp9 is recruited to the complex through its CARD domain, which results in its activation through an apoptosome induced conformational change (Hu et al. 1998, Jiang et al. 2000). Active Casp9 propagates the apoptotic signal by processing Casp3 and Casp7 (Slee et al. 1999).

Casp2 also has a role in the intrinsic pathway. In response to DNA damage, p53 induces the expression of p53-induced protein with a death domain (PIDD) and its adaptor receptor-interacting protein associated ICH-1/CED-3 homologous death protein with a death domain (RAIDD) (Tinel et al. 2004). Together with Casp2, RAIDD and PIDD form another oligomerization platform known as the PIDDosome to promote Casp2 activation (Tinel et al. 2004). Casp2 subsequently causes the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria to induce apoptosis (Guo et al. 2002, Lassus et al. 2002). In addition to PIDDosome formation, alternative mechanisms for Casp2 activation may exist since processing of Casp2 is detected in the absence of the PIDDosome complex (Manzl et al. 2009).

#### 1.1.4.2.1.2. Caspases in the Extrinsic Pathway: Caspase-8 and -10

The extrinsic pathway is triggered by the ligation of transmembrane death receptors to ligands such as first apoptosis signal ligand (FasL). Ligand binding initiates receptor trimerization followed by recruitment of adaptor proteins to initiate the formation of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) by recruiting adaptor proteins such as Fasassociated protein with Death Domain (FADD) and tumor necrosis factor receptor type 1associated death domain protein (TRADD). Through DED interactions on FADD or TRADD, the DISC recruits zymogen Casp8 or Casp10. Similar to the apoptosome, the DISC functions as a caspase activation platform. Activated Casp8 transmits the apoptotic signal by proteolytically processing zymogen Casp3. Two pathways of Fas-mediated apoptosis have been described, leading to the classification of cells as either type-I or -II (Scaffidi et al. 1998). Type I cells have sufficient quantities of active Casp8 to activate Casp3 to execute apoptosis, whereas type II cells induce apoptosis through generating truncated Bid to aid in the release of cytochrome *c* from the mitochondria (Li et al. 1998, Luo et al. 1998). Casp10 is also activated by the DISC and propagates the apoptotic signal by cleaving Bid (Milhas et al. 2005).

### 1.1.4.2.2. Effector Caspases: Caspase-3, -6 and -7

In contrast to initiator caspases, effector caspases (Casp3, Casp6 and Casp7) exist as inactive dimers in the cell that require cleavage within the intersubunit linker to become active. They have short N-terminal prodomains that lack CARD and DED domains and do not require death scaffolds for dimer formation (Pop et al. 2001, Milam et al. 2009). Apoptotic effector caspases are cleaved by apoptotic initiator caspases and the lymphocyte specific serine protease granzyme B. Casp3 and Casp7 are both processed by Casp9 (Pan et al. 1998, Slee et al. 1999). Active Casp3 can subsequently activate Casp2 and Casp6, followed by Casp6-mediated processing of Casp8 and Casp10 (Slee et al. 1999). Since Casp8 can process Casp3 through type I signaling, a positive feedback loop is formed through the extrinsic pathway. Active Casp3 can also process Casp9 to generate an additional feedback loop through the intrinsic pathway (Slee et al. 1999).

Effector caspase activity has been implicated in several apoptotic processes. Apoptosis occurs in two stages: formation of apoptotic bodies followed by phagocytosis and lysosomal degradation. During the first stage, apoptotic cell death is characterized by specific morphology, which includes nuclear fragmentation, chromatin condensation and blebbing of the plasma membrane to form apoptotic bodies (Kerr et al. 1972). The morphology is a consequence of the cleavage of over 400 different cellular substrates by caspases (Luthi et al. 2007). Only a small subset of these substrates has been well characterized and linked to apoptotic cell morphology. Effector caspases cleave and activate caspase-activated deoxyribonuclease (CAD) which allows it to translocate to the nucleus and degrade chromosomal DNA (Enari et al. 1998). Effector caspases also break the inhibitory association of inhibitor of caspase-activated deoxyribonuclease (ICAD) with CAD (Enari et al. 1998). In addition, cleavage of the intermediate filament protein vimentin disrupts the cytoplasmic network and amplifies the cell death signal through a proapoptotic cleavage product (Byun et al. 2001). Furthermore, the serine/threonine kinase rho-associated kinase I (ROCK I), which contributes to the coupling of actinmyosin filaments to the plasma membrane, is activated through caspase cleavage, which subsequently causes plasma membrane blebbing and nuclear fragmentation (Coleman et al. 2001, Croft et al. 2005). Although Casp6 activity alone is not sufficient to induce apoptosis (Klaiman et al. 2009, Gray et al. 2010), Casp6 contributes to the apoptotic phenotype through being the only caspase that cleaves nuclear filament protein lamin A (Orth et al. 1996, Takahashi et al. 1996, Ruchaud et al. 2002). During the second stage of apoptosis, caspases are involved in signaling pathways that cause chemotaxis of phagocytes to apoptotic bodies. For example, Casp3-mediated activation of phospholipase A2 results in the release of a lipid signal that attracts monocytes and macrophages (Lauber et al. 2003). In addition, Casp3 and Casp7 activate the plasma membrane channel Pannexin1 (PANX1), which mediates the release of chemotactic signals (Chekeni et al. 2010). Phagocyte recruitment and engulfment is essential for preventing apoptotic bodies from releasing their contents into the extracellular space and causing inflammation since secondary necrosis may occur when there are too many apoptotic bodies for the phagocytes to engulf.

#### 1.1.4.3. Unclassified Caspases: Caspase-14, -15, -16, -17 and -18

Caspases that are not classified as inflammatory or apoptotic include Casp14, Casp15, Casp16, Casp17 and Casp18. Casp14 expression is restricted to epidermal keratinocytes and is involved in differentiation (Lippens et al. 2000). Similar to the apoptotic effectors, Casp14 has a short prodomain and requires both cleavage and dimerization for *in vitro* activation (Mikolajczyk et al. 2004). A natural activator of Casp14 has not been identified. Casp15 is expressed in various mammalian species including pig, cattle and dog (Eckhart et al. 2005). The prodomain of Casp15 contains a pyrin domain, which is unique among mammalian caspases (Eckhart et al. 2005). Casp15 has a role in initiating apoptosis since its overexpression in mammalian cells induces the activation of Casp3 (Eckhart et al. 2005). Casp16 is most similar to Casp14 and has been conserved in marsupials and placental mammals, including humans (Eckhart et al. 2008). Casp17 is most similar to Casp3 and is conserved among fish, frog, chicken, lizard and platypus but is absent in marsupials and placental mammals (Eckhart et al. 2008). Both Casp16 and Casp17 contain short prodomains lacking adaptor regions. Casp18 is most similar to Casp8 and is found in the platypus, opossums, and chickens but is absent from placental mammals (Eckhart et al. 2008). Similar to Casp8 and Casp10, Casp18 contains two DED regions in its prodomain, indicating that it is likely an initiator caspase.

## 1.1.4.4. Differentiation

As mentioned above, Casp14 has a role in keratinocyte differentiation (Lippens et al. 2000); however, other caspases are involved in the differentiation of other cell types. Casp6 and Casp7 are involved in the enucleation of lens cells, megakaryocytes, erythrocytes, platelets, and keratinocytes (Dahm 1999, De Botton et al. 2002). During enucleation of erythroblasts, Casp2, Casp3, Casp6 and Casp9 are involved in the cleavage of nuclear proteins such as lamin B (Zermati et al. 2001). Rather than inducing apoptosis, Casp3 can also activate protein kinase C-d, (PKC-d) which is positive regulator of keratinocyte differentiation (Fernando et al. 2002). In addition, Casp3 is important for the differentiation of bone marrow stromal stem cells since Casp3 knockout (KO) mice display attenuated osteogenic differentiation leading to decreased bone mineral density (Miura et al. 2004). Furthermore, an increase in Casp1 and Casp3 activity

is observed during neural stem cell differentiation (Fernando et al. 2005). The mechanism of Casp3-mediated differentiation of a wide variety of cell types may involve the activation of caspase-activated DNase (CAD) and subsequent CAD-mediated modifications in chromatin structure (Larsen et al. 2010).

## 1.1.4.5. Proliferation

Many studies have shown an essential role for Casp8 in the proliferation of lymphocytes. Patients with homozygous mutations in Casp8 frequently succumb to microbial infections because of their inability to activate T, B or Natural Killer (NK) cells (Chun et al. 2002). Mice with a conditional Casp8 KO in peripheral T cells show a similar lymphoproliferative phenotype characterized by lymphadenopathy and splenomegaly (Salmena et al. 2005). In proliferating cells, Casp8 is largely unprocessed and becomes weakly activated (Su et al. 2005), whereas during apoptosis Casp8 is mostly processed and strongly activated (Peter et al. 2003). This pathway is regulated by FADD-like IL-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme (FLICE)-like inhibitor protein long (FLIP<sub>L</sub>). Casp8 forms a heterodimer with FLIP<sub>L</sub>, a protein similar to Casp8 that lacks the catalytic site. This complex prevents Casp8 catalytic activity while at the same time, promoting proliferation through NF-kB signaling (Kataoka et al. 2004). In addition, this complex prevents receptor interacting serine/threonine kinase 3 (RIPK3)-dependent necrosis without inducing apoptosis (Oberst et al. 2011). Taken together, these studies demonstrate that Casp8 can also have an anti-apoptotic role in immune cells.

## 1.1.4.6. Neuronal Function

Caspases have several non-apoptotic functions in nerve cells. For instance, caspases are involved in axonal guidance and synaptogenesis. Mice deficient for Casp9 and Apaf-1 exhibit misrouted axons, impaired synaptic formation and defects in the maturation of their olfactory sensory neurons in the absence of cell death (Ohsawa et al. 2010). The underlying mechanism involves Casp9-mediated cleavage of Semaphorin 7A, which is crucial for the proper projection of axons (Ohsawa et al. 2010). In addition, Casp6 has been demonstrated to play an integral role in neuronal degeneration in the absence of apoptosis in mouse and primary human neurons (Nikolaev et al. 2009, Sivananthan et al.

2010). Mouse neurons subjected to nerve growth factor deprivation shed the N-terminal fragment of APP, which subsequently binds to DR6 to induce Casp6 activation and axon degeneration (Nikolaev et al. 2009). Primary human neurons that overexpress wild type APP or express mutant APP undergo amyloid  $\beta$  peptide (A $\beta$ ) independent, but Casp6-dependent neuritic degeneration (Sivananthan et al. 2010). Furthermore, Casp3 and Casp6 have been implicated in axonal degeneration that occurs as a normal part of development (Simon et al. 2012). Mice deficient for Casp3 and Casp6 show delays in developmental pruning of retinocollicular axons (Simon et al. 2012). Furthermore, Casp3 activity is essential for long-term depression (LTD) in the hippocampus region (Li et al. 2010). During LTD, the removal of  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors from the postsynaptic membrane is facilitated by Casp3 activity without causing apoptosis (Li et al. 2010).

## 1.1.5. Regulation of Caspase Activity

## 1.1.5.1. Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins

The inhibitors of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) include eight mammalian family members that function as intrinsic regulators of caspase activity (Deveraux et al. 1999). The overexpression of IAP family proteins is sufficient to inhibit apoptosis induced by proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins (Deveraux et al. 1999). Each IAP contains one to three 70-80-residue  $Zn^{2+}$  binding modules known as a baculoviral IAP repeats (BIRs). Among this family, only X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP), cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 1 (c-IAP1) and cellular inhibitor of apoptosis protein 2 (c-IAP2) directly inhibit the catalytic activity of caspases. These three proteins inhibit both initiator (Casp9) and effector caspases (Casp3 and Casp7) (Deveraux et al. 1997, Roy et al. 1997, Deveraux et al. 1998). The structure of XIAP consists of three consecutive BIR domains followed by a RING zinc finger domain. The BIR2 domain of XIAP inhibits Casp3 and Casp7 with a K<sub>i</sub> of 2-5 nM (Takahashi et al. 1998), whereas the BIR3 domain inhibits Casp9 with a K<sub>i</sub> of 50 nM (Sun et al. 2000). XIAP inhibits Casp3 and Casp7 by making extensive contacts with residues that are essential for catalytic activity (Chai et al. 2001, Huang et al. 2001, Riedl et al. 2001) and inhibits Casp9 by binding to residues that are essential for dimerization (Shiozaki et al. 2003). The structure of c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 consists of three consecutive BIR domains followed by a CARD domain and a RING zinc finger domain. Similar to XIAP, c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 bind directly to Casp3 and Casp7 to inhibit catalytic activity (Roy et al. 1997). The BIR containing region of c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 is sufficient to induce apoptosis while the RING domain has a role in enhancing c-IAP1 and c-IAP2 potency (Roy et al. 1997).

## 1.1.5.2. FLICE-like Inhibitor Proteins

FLICE-like inhibitor proteins (FLIPs) are well known inhibitors of death receptor induced apoptosis (Thome et al. 1997, Scaffidi et al. 1999). FLIPs are catalytically inactive proteins with close sequence homology to Casp8. Two major groups of FLIPs exist: viral FLIPs (v-FLIPs), encoded by the gamma-herpes virus, and cellular FLIPs (c-FLIPs), the mammalian homologue of v-FLIP. Both groups possess two DEDs in their Nterminal domains to facilitate their recruitment to the DISC. Two splice variants of c-FLIP have been shown to inhibit Casp8 activation. FLICE-like inhibitor protein short (FLIPs) is the homologue of the Casp8 prodomain only and directly blocks Casp8 recruitment to the DISC (Kirchhoff et al. 2000). By contrast, FLIP<sub>L</sub> does not prevent recruitment to the DISC; rather, it blocks zymogen Casp8 processing at the DISC (Krueger et al. 2001). A third isoform of c-FLIP, c-FLIP<sub>R</sub>, has also been described and demonstrated to have a similar role to c-FLIP<sub>S</sub> in the regulation of death receptor-induced apoptosis (Golks et al. 2005).

## 1.1.5.3. Virally Encoded Inhibitors

In addition to v-FLIP, other viral inhibitors exist to target caspase activity within their host cells to survive or counter an immune response. CrmA is a suicide inhibitor which is cleaved and then covalently binds to the caspase so that it undergoes a conformational change (Gettins 2002). Although CrmA is typically a serine protease inhibitor, it also potently inhibits Casp1, Casp4, Casp5, Casp8, Casp9 and Casp10 (Komiyama et al. 1994, Zhou et al. 1997, Garcia-Calvo et al. 1998). CrmA can also inhibit Casp3 and Casp6 to some extent (Garcia-Calvo et al. 1998). Similarly, baculoviral protein p35 covalently attaches to the catalytic cysteine upon cleavage but remains covalently bound to the active site because it blocks the hydrolytic water molecule from completing catalysis (Xu

et al. 2001, Xu et al. 2003). Baculoviral p35 is an effective inhibitor of Casp1, Casp3, Casp6, Casp7, Casp8, and Casp10 (Zhou et al. 1998).

#### 1.1.5.4. Post-translational Modifications

Caspase activity can also be regulated through post-translational modification. The RING domain of XIAP is implicated in ubiquitin-regulated degradation. The anti-apoptotic effect of XIAP is enhanced through ubiquitin-protein ligase activity that promotes its proteosomal degradation of Casp3, Casp7 and Casp9 (Suzuki et al. 2001). Murine cells expressing an E3 ligase deficient form of XIAP have increased levels of Casp3 (Schile et al. 2008), demonstrating the importance of XIAP ubiquitin ligase activity for the regulation of apoptosis. By contrast, polyubiquitylation of Casp8 by cullin3-based E3 ligase has been reported to enhance its activity (Jin et al. 2009). In addition, sumoylation of Casp2, Casp7, and Casp8 has been associated with nuclear localization (Besnault-Mascard et al. 2005, Shirakura et al. 2005, Hayashi et al. 2006); however, it is unclear if this post-translational modification has an effect on their activity. Furthermore, phosphorylation has been shown to affect caspase activity. Casp3 activity is inhibited through Ser150 phosphorylation by p38-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Alvarado-Kristensson et al. 2004) and protein phosphatase 2 (PP2) (Alvarado-Kristensson et al. 2005), but is enhanced through phosphorylation by protein kinase C- $\delta$ (PKC-δ) at an unknown site (Voss et al. 2005). Phosphorylation of Casp6 by AMPKrelated kinase 5 (ARK5) kinase at Ser257 leads to its inactivation through disruption of the substrate-binding groove (Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). p21-activated kinase 2 (PAK2) phosphorylates Casp7 at Ser20, Thr173 and Ser239 to decrease its activity (Li et al. 2011). Finally, phosphorylation by MAPK (Allan et al. 2003), cyclin dependent kinase 1 (CDK1) (Allan et al. 2007), and p38α (Seifert et al. 2009) at Thr125, PKCζ at Ser144 (Brady et al. 2005), and Protein Kinase B (Akt) at Ser196 (Cardone et al. 1998) leads to decreased Casp9 activity, whereas phosphorylation by cellular abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog (c-Abl) at Tyr153 enhances activity (Raina et al. 2005).

### 1.1.6. Synthetic Caspase Inhibitors

### 1.1.6.1. Active Site Inhibitors

## 1.1.6.1.1. Peptide Inhibitors

Peptide inhibitors generally have a reactive group replacing the P1' residues. Peptides linked to a fluoromethylketone (fmk) group bind irreversibly whereas peptides linked to aldehydes are reversible. The electrophilic carbonyl of the ketone or aldehyde binds to the catalytic cysteine, thereby inhibiting it. Peptide inhibitors can range from a single *O*-methyl-aspartate residue (e.g. Boc-Asp-fmk), to tripeptides (e.g. z-Val-Ala-Asp-fmk; zVAD-fmk) and tetrapeptides (e.g.z-Val-Glu-Ile-Asp-fmk; zVEID-fmk). Specific caspase inhibitors have been designed based on preferred tetrapeptide motifs.

More complex peptide mimetic inhibitors have also been designed. Several classes of compounds including 1-(2-acylhydrazinocarbonyl)-cycloalkyl carboxamides, 8, 5-fused bicyclic compounds and caprolactam ring containing peptidomimetics have been described to competitively inhibit Casp1 activity (Soper et al. 2006, Soper et al. 2006, Wang et al. 2007). A new class of compounds known as urazolopyrazine-based  $\beta$ -strand peptidomimetics has been shown to inhibit Casp3 and Casp8 (Wang et al. 2010). In addition, hydantoin-based peptidomimetics inhibit Casp3 by occupying the S3 pocket with basic groups (Vazquez et al. 2008). Pan-caspase inhibitors have also been described. For example, dipeptidyl aspartyl fluoromethylketones are broad-spectrum inhibitors that have IC<sub>50</sub> values of 6 – 60 nM for different caspases (Wang et al. 2007).

#### 1.1.6.1.2. Small Molecule Inhibitors

Several classes of non-peptide inhibitors have also been designed. 5diakylaminosulfonylisatins inhibit Casp3 and Casp7 in the 2-6 nM range and exhibit 1000-fold selectivity relative to Casp1, Casp2, Casp4, Casp6, and Casp8 (Lee et al. 2000, Lee et al. 2001). In addition, pyrrolo [3,4, -c] quinolone-1,3-diones have been shown to potently inhibit Casp3 with  $IC_{50}$  values in the range of 3-10 nM (Kravchenko et al. 2006). Furthermore, tetrafluorophenoxymethylktone-based small molecules have been identified and shown to inhibit Casp3 activity with  $IC_{50}$  values ranging from 0.11 to 10  $\mu$ M (Samiulla et al. 2012).

#### 1.1.6.2. Allosteric Inhibitors

Unlike competitive inhibitors, allosteric inhibitors act away from the active site. These inhibitors can block the activation of caspases or downregulate their activity through conformational changes affecting the active site. Several allosteric inhibitors have been synthesized. Two allosteric inhibitors known as FICA and DICA bind at the dimer interface of Casp3 and Casp7 (Hardy et al. 2004). These inhibitors form disulfide bridges within the interface and cause the enzyme to be trapped in a zymogen-like conformation (Hardy et al. 2004). High throughput screening has recently identified another class of allosteric inhibitors for Casp3, Casp7, Casp8, and Casp9 (Feldman et al. 2012). These inhibitors also bind near the dimer interface; however, unlike FICA and DICA, they bind non-covalently (Feldman et al. 2012). Allosteric inhibitors that bind near the dimer interface of Casp1 have also been described (Datta et al. 2008). These inhibitors disrupt and prevent a conserved salt bridge from forming, thereby reducing catalytic efficiency of Casp1 100- to 200-fold (Datta et al. 2008). A Casp2 allosteric inhibitor known as AR F8, a designed ankyrin repeat protein, stabilizes a conformation distinct from the inactive zymogen conformation (Schweizer et al. 2007). A Casp6 allosteric inhibitor has recently been described to downregulate its activity through tetramerization of both the active and zymogen conformations (Stanger et al. 2012).

## 1.2. CASPASE-6

The Casp6 gene was originally identified in human Jurkat T lymphocytes as *MCH-2*, a mammalian *Ced-3* homologue (Fernandes-Alnemri et al. 1995). Casp6 has been classified as an apoptotic effector caspase since it has a short prodomain and shares 41% and 37% sequence identity with Casp3 and Casp7, respectively. Despite this, there are some significant differences in Casp6 compared to the other effector caspases. One major difference is that unlike Casp3 and Casp7, Casp6 activity does not always induce apoptosis. The depletion of Casp6 in human embryonic kidney (HEK293T) cell extracts has minimal impact on chromatin margination, DNA fragmentation and nuclear condensation (Slee et al. 2001). In addition, overexpression of Casp6 in HEK293 cells results in high Casp6 activity in the absence of cell death (Klaiman et al. 2009). Furthermore, in a study that used an optimized orthogonal protease to activate each executioner caspase, it was found that activation of Casp3 or Casp7, but not Casp6, was
sufficient to induce apoptosis in HEK293 cells (Gray et al. 2010). Lastly, primary human neurons microinjected with active recombinant Casp6 do not undergo rapid cell death (Zhang et al. 2000). When compared with other caspases, differences in Casp6 structure, activation, regulation and substrates suggest that Casp6 has a non-redundant role within the cell.

### 1.2.1. Structure

Similar to the other effector caspases, Casp6 is synthesized as a mostly inactive homodimer that must undergo proteolytic processing within the intersubunit linker to become fully activated (Orth et al. 1996, Klaiman et al. 2009). Consistent with all other caspases, the first crystal structure of active Casp6 in an unliganded state showed that the dimeric structure consists of a central 12-stranded  $\beta$  sheet flanked by 10  $\alpha$  helices (Baumgartner et al. 2009). In contrast to the structure of other caspases, the initial Casp6 crystal showed that it adopts a latent conformation with its catalytic machinery misaligned (Baumgartner et al. 2009). The latent conformation has two extended helices that block access to the active site (Baumgartner et al. 2009). It was determined through pre-steady state kinetics that the latent conformation does not lead to latency in substrate turnover, suggesting that this conformation may not have a role in regulating enzymatic activity (Baumgartner et al. 2009). However, a more detailed kinetic analysis of latent Casp6 activity was not performed to confirm this hypothesis. More importantly, in vitro enzymology is an insufficient tool to predict intracellular proteolysis. Follow-up studies showed that the latent conformation is dependent on helical propensity of the two extended helices and not dependent on removal of the prodomain and intersubunit linker (Vaidya et al. 2011a, Vaidya et al. 2011b). Interestingly, the prodomain and intersubunit linker maintain enzyme stability since cleaved Casp6 with the prodomain and intersubunit linker represents the most stable form of the latent conformation (Vaidya et al. 2011b). Although the latent conformation represents an inactive form of the enzyme, binding of an active site ligand induces a conformational change that converts the two extended helices to strands, subsequently causing the enzyme to adopt a canonical conformation that is similar to other caspases (Vaidya et al. 2011a, Vaidya et al. 2011b). The latent conformation represents a pH-inactivated form since it had been crystallized at pH 4.5 and Casp6 activity is almost entirely lost at pH 5 and below (Stennicke et al. 1997). When Casp6 was crystallized at physiological pH in an unliganded active conformation, it was determined that it adopts a canonical caspase structure after all (Muller et al. 2011). The binding of the reversible inhibitor Ac-VEID-CHO to active Casp6 crystallized at pH 6.5 showed that substrate binding induces the formation of the active site loop bundle (Wang et al. 2010). Furthermore, the first zymogen structure of Casp6 crystallized at pH 6.5 showed that it has a relatively long L2 loop compared to Casp3 and Casp7 (Wang et al. 2010). As discussed below, the longer L2 loop allows for intramolecular cleavage and subsequent self-activation, a mechanism not observed in any other caspase (Wang et al. 2010).

#### 1.2.2. Activation

Unlike Casp3 and Casp7, apoptotic initiator activity is not required for Casp6 activation. Casp6 can be activated by the serine protease granzyme B and by effector Casp3 (Orth et al. 1996, Srinivasula et al. 1996) in both death receptor and cytochrome c initiated apoptosis (Hirata et al. 1998, Slee et al. 1999). Casp6 activity can also take place in the absence of Casp3 activity (LeBlanc et al. 1999, Doostzadeh-Cizeron et al. 2000, Cowling et al. 2002) and can even mediate Casp3 activation (Allsopp et al. 2000). In addition, inflammatory Casp1 can mediate Casp6 activation in primary human neurons (Guo et al. 2006). This was confirmed in human central nervous system (CNS) AD neurons where active Casp6 was found to co-localize with Nod-like Receptor Protein 1 (NLRP1), a component of the inflammasome (Kaushal et al. 2015), suggesting that NLRP1 inflammasome activation of Casp1 subsequently causes Casp6 activation. Furthermore, Casp6 has a unique intramolecular self-cleavage mechanism to become active in vivo and in vitro (Klaiman et al. 2009, Wang et al. 2010). Overexpression of Casp6 is sufficient to induce self-activation in cells (Klaiman et al. 2009). To become activated and fully mature, zymogen Casp6 is cleaved at three sites: TETD<sub>23</sub>, DVVD<sub>179</sub> and TEVD<sub>193</sub>. The TETD<sub>23</sub> site demarcates the prodomain from the p20 subunit and the  $DVVD_{179}$  and TEVD<sub>193</sub> sites span the intersubunit linker region. When these three sites are mutated, Casp6 exhibits low activity (Klaiman et al. 2009). This finding indicates that Casp6 has the ability to self-process since Casp6 activity is not dependent on cleavage from upstream caspases. The prodomain of Casp6 plays a role in regulating self-cleavage and activation *in vivo* but not *in vitro* (Klaiman et al. 2009). During self-activation, zymogen Casp6 is first cleaved at TETD<sub>23</sub> to remove the prodomain followed by a second cleavage at TEVD<sub>193</sub> and a final cleavage at DVVD<sub>179</sub> (Wang et al. 2010). Casp1 and Casp8 facilitate Casp6 self-activation through removal of the prodomain without further processing in the linker region (Lee et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2010). By contrast, Casp3-mediated activation of Casp6 is initiated by a cleavage at DVVD<sub>179</sub>, followed by a second cleavage at TEVD<sub>193</sub> site is essential for initiating the autoactivation mechanism (Wang et al. 2010) and further cleavage at DVVD<sub>179</sub> is required for full activity (Klaiman et al. 2009). Self-activation occurs only in Casp6, because its longer intersubunit linker permits Asp193 to be easily attacked by Cys163 of the same catalytic unit (Wang et al. 2010). The linkers of Casp3 and Casp7 are too short to place their intersubunit cleavage sites in their own active site (Wang et al. 2010).

#### 1.2.3. Regulation

Casp6 activity can be regulated through several mechanisms including gene expression, inhibition of activation, post-translational modification, protein binding, metal binding and proteasomal degradation. At the level of gene expression, Casp6 transcription is directly upregulated by p53 through transactivation (MacLachlan et al. 2002). Similarly, cellular muscular aponeurotic fibrosarcoma (c-Maf) increases apoptosis in peripheral CD8 cells by transactivating Casp6 (Peng et al. 2009). Casp6 transcription may also be influenced by c-Myb since three binding sites for c-Myb are present in the upstream region of the Casp6 gene (Lang et al. 2005). At the level of activation, Casp6 can regulate its own activation through a self-cleavage mechanism (Wang et al. 2010). Similar to the induced proximity model, the autoactivation mechanism is driven by high concentrations of enzyme (Muzio et al. 1998, Klaiman et al. 2009). At low protein concentrations, the prodomain of Casp6 prevents both intramolecular and intermolecular cleavage of the intersubunit linker at the TEVD<sub>193</sub> site (Cao et al. 2014). In addition, mammalian ced-3 homologue 2 $\beta$  (Mch2 $\beta$ ), an alternatively spliced isoform of Casp6 that does not possess any catalytic activity, prevents Casp6 activation *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Lee et al. 2010).

Mch2 $\beta$  inhibits the self-processing of Casp6 after removal of the prodomain, but has no effect on activated Casp6 (Lee et al. 2010). Furthermore, Casp6 activation is regulated by the transcription factor Sox11 (Waldron-Roby et al. 2015). When co-expressed with Sox11, Casp6 activity in HEK293FT cells is dramatically reduced due to Sox11 preventing Casp6 self-cleavage and through downregulation of active Casp6 (Waldron-Roby et al. 2015). Furthermore, Casp6 activation is regulated through phosphorylation by ARK5 at Ser257 in vivo and in vitro (Suzuki et al. 2004). This phosphorylation inhibits intramolecular cleavage of the Casp6 zymogen by locking it in a TEVD<sub>193</sub> bound inhibited conformation (Cao et al. 2012). Interestingly, if Casp6 has already been activated, phosphorylation at Ser257 can downregulate its activity (Cao et al. 2012, Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). Phosphorylation inhibits already activated Casp6 through steric hindrance that causes misalignment of the substrate-binding groove (Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). Furthermore,  $Zn^{2+}$  has a role in modulating caspase activity since  $Zn^{2+}$  depletion in cells induces apoptosis through caspase activation (Chai et al. 2000).  $Zn^{2+}$  allosterically inhibits Casp6 through binding to an exosite that locks it into an inactive, naturally occurring, latent conformation (Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). Finally, Casp6 is targeted for degradation by the proteasome (Tounekti et al. 2004). In primary human neurons, proteasomal inhibitors prevent 17B-E2-mediated RCasp6 degradation (Tounekti et al. 2004). In HEK293T cells, the overexpression and subsequent self-activation of Casp6 is not sufficient to induce apoptosis (Klaiman et al. 2009), but in the presence of proteasome inhibitors, Casp6 becomes proapoptotic (Gray et al. 2010). The mechanism of proteasomal-mediated degradation of Casp6 is different from Casp3 and Casp7. XIAP inhibits Casp3 and Casp7 and targets them for ubiquitin dependent proteasomal degradation (Huang et al. 2001, Suzuki et al. 2001). By contrast, XIAP does not interact with Casp6 (Deveraux et al. 1997). 17β-estradiol-mediated inhibition of Casp6 is consistent with the mechanism of p35 inhibition of caspases in which Casp6 is inhibited by a caspase inhibitory factor (Stennicke et al. 2002, Tounekti et al. 2004).

### 1.2.4. Substrates

Casp6 has a substrate specificity that is different from the other apoptotic effectors, yet similar to the apoptotic initiators (Thornberry et al. 1997). The preferred tetrapeptide motif for Casp3 and Casp7 is DEXD, whereas for Casp6, Casp8 and Casp9, the preferred tetrapeptide motif is ((I/L/V)EXD) (Thornberry et al. 1997). More recently, through the analysis of 871 Casp6 substrates in cell lysate, Casp6 showed an initiator-like VEVD $\downarrow$ (G/S/A) consensus motif with only a faint preference for aspartate at P4, dissimilar to Casp3 and Casp7 at the P4 position (Julien et al. 2016). In addition, Casp6 also exhibits a small preference for negatively charged residues at the P5 position (Julien et al. 2016). Consistent with these findings, Casp6 displays initiator-like activity since it can activate other caspases such as Casp2, Casp3, Casp8 and Casp10 (Slee et al. 1999, Allsopp et al. 2000, Cowling et al. 2002, Inoue et al. 2009). It has been demonstrated that differences in substrate specificity between Casp6 and Casp7 are due to four key substrate-contacting residues (Hill et al. 2016). Interestingly, the substitution of these residues from Casp6 into Casp7 yielded an inactive enzyme, whereas saturation mutagenesis of these sites yielded Casp7 variants with similar substrate specificities to Casp6 (Hill et al. 2016). Studies of this nature have yet to be performed between Casp3 and Casp6.

The substrate specificity of Casp6 enables it to be the only caspase that can cleave the nuclear filament protein lamin A during apoptosis (Orth et al. 1996, Takahashi et al. 1996, Ruchaud et al. 2002). The strict specificity of lamin A proteolysis by Casp6 allows for its endogenous catalytic activity to be monitored in cells (Ehrnhoefer et al. 2011, Mintzer et al. 2012). In addition, special AT-rich sequence binding protein (SATB1), a nuclear matrix protein, is also a unique Casp6 substrate (Galande et al. 2001). SATB1 recruits chromatin-remodeling factors to regulate chromatin structure and its cleavage by Casp6 causes it to become detached from chromatin early in T-cell apoptosis (Galande et al. 2001). Furthermore, as discussed in more detail below, Casp6 can uniquely cleave proteins involved in neurodegeneration such as APP, tau, presenilin 1 (PSEN1), presenilin 2 (PSEN2), huntingtin (Htt) and DJ-1 (Pellegrini et al. 1999, van de Craen et al. 1999, Guo et al. 2004, Graham et al. 2006, Giaime et al. 2010).

Although Casp6 activity alone may not be sufficient for apoptosis in certain cell types (Klaiman et al. 2009), it can cleave a variety of substrates shared by other caspases that contribute to the apoptotic phenotype. During apoptosis, Casp6 targets and degrades the intermediate filament cytoskeleton by cleaving desmin, vimentin, and cytokeratin (Caulin et al. 1997, Byun et al. 2001, Chen et al. 2003). In the nucleus, Casp6 targets transcriptional regulators such as cAMP responsive element binding (CREB)-binding protein (CBP), NF-κB and AP-2α (Levkau et al. 1999, Nyormoi et al. 2001, Rouaux et al. 2003). In addition, Casp6 can cleave proteins that are important for mediating and regulating DNA replication such as cyclin B1, DNA topoisomerase and telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), the catalytic subunit of telomerase (Samejima et al. 1999, Chan et al. 2009, Soares et al. 2011). Casp6 can also cleave and activate the endonuclease DFF40 to mediate DNA degradation (Liu et al. 1999). Furthermore, in addition to lamin A, Casp6 can cleave substrates important for maintaining nuclear integrity such as lamin B, nuclear mitotic apparatus protein (NuMA) and emerin (Shimizu et al. 1998, Columbaro et al. 2001). Taken together, these studies suggest the Casp6 activity plays a role in blebbing of the plasma membrane, nuclear condensation and fragmentation.

Casp6 may also have more complex roles in apoptosis. Cho et al. carried out several proteomic analyses to identify thirty-four novel candidate Casp6 substrates (Cho et al. 2013). Of these proteins, herpesvirus-associated ubiquitin-specific protease (HAUSP), Kinesin5B, Par-3 Family Cell Polarity Regulator (PARD3), GEP100 and Serologically Defined Colon Cancer Antigen 3 (SDCCAG3) were validated as Casp6 substrates with an *in vitro* and *in vivo* cleavage assay (Cho et al. 2013). The functions of these substrates are quite diverse: HAUSP is a deubiquitinating enzyme that removes ubiquitin from the tumor suppressor protein p53 in order to stabilize it (Li et al. 2002); kinesin5B is a microtubule associated motor protein that transports vesicles along the microtubule (Brady 1985); and PARD3 is a PDZ-domain containing scaffold protein that regulates initial cell polarity cues (Suzuki et al. 2006). Therefore, during apoptosis, Casp6 may have a role in regulating p53 levels, membrane trafficking and cell polarization.

Casp6 also cleaves substrates important for preventing necroptosis, a form of programmed cell death that occurs in the absence of caspase activity and depends on the sequential activation of receptor interacting protein kinase 1 (RIPK1) and receptor interacting protein kinase 3 (RIPK3) (Vandenabeele et al. 2010). When apoptosis is induced through the intrinsic pathway, Casp6 cleaves RIPK1 (van Raam et al. 2013). In the absence of Casp6 activity, RIPK1 mediates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that contribute to the necroptotic phenotype (van Raam et al. 2013). Similarly, when apoptosis is induced through the requires Casp6 activation (Ye et al. 2013). Casp6 may regulate autophagy by cleaving Autophagy-Related Protein 3 (Atg3) and p62 (Norman et al. 2010).

### **1.3. CASPASE-6 AND NEURODEGENERATION**

Neurodegeneration is a widespread mechanism that involves the regression of axonal branches without causing cell death and naturally occurs during nervous system development to refine connectivity. Under pathological conditions, neurodegeneration can be induced by injury or stress and underlies the pathophysiology of neurodegenerative diseases such as AD, Huntington disease (HD) and Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS). Several studies demonstrate that Casp6 activity is involved in neurodegeneration.

# **1.3.1.** Physiological Neurodegeneration: Axon Pruning

During nervous system development, the generation of neurons and extension of axons is followed by a regressive phase in which some axonal branches are pruned (Luo et al. 2005). Multiple studies have demonstrated a role for Casp6 in axonal pruning. In response to nerve growth factor (NGF) deprivation, a death receptor 6 (DR6) ligand such as APP is shed and binds to DR6 to trigger axon degeneration through Bax signaling and Casp6 activation (Nikolaev et al. 2009). Similarly, rat spinal neurons treated with prion peptide undergo axonal degeneration due to DR6 signaling and subsequent Casp6 activation (Wang et al. 2015). The APP-DR6-Casp6 pathway may also regulate neural connectivity in the adult brain since DR6 is highly expressed in the adult human

hippocampus and temporal cortex (Iyer et al. 2013). Furthermore, to regulate neural connectivity in the adult brain, Casp6 activation is required for p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75NTR)-mediated axonal degeneration (Park et al. 2010).

It is important to note that axon degeneration during axon specific pruning and apoptosis are two distinct pathways (Cusack et al. 2013). Axon specific pruning is Casp6 dependent while neuronal cell body apoptosis is Casp6 independent, and the specific location of NGF deprivation determines which pathway is activated (Cusack et al. 2013). Neuronal cell body apoptosis requires Bax signaling and Casp3 activity (Kuida et al. 1996, White et al. 1998). Although Casp3 is enriched in cell bodies whereas Casp6 is enriched in both cell bodies and axons following NGF deprivation, Casp3 activity may also be important for axonal pruning since it is a direct activator of Casp6 (Srinivasula et al. 1996, Nikolaev et al. 2009, Simon et al. 2012). Indeed, the genetic deletion of Casp3 in sensory axons is fully protective against NGF-withdrawal induced neurodegeneration whereas deletion of Casp6 only provides partial protection suggesting a more integral role for Casp3 (Simon et al. 2012). In addition, Casp6-dependent axonal pruning requires Casp3 and Casp9 (Cusack et al. 2013). However, axon pruning is delayed to an equal degree in Casp3 and Casp6 KO mice, implying that signaling pathways downstream of Casp3 may be different in different contexts and may not lead to Casp6 activation (Simon et al. 2012). Consistent with these findings, in NGF-deprived mouse dorsal root ganglion neurons, Casp3 activity peaks at twenty hours whereas Casp6 activity peaks at ten hours suggesting two parallel pathways (Schoenmann et al. 2010). Although Casp3 is a substrate for Casp6, NGF deprivation induces Casp3 activity by degrading XIAP bound to already active Casp3 (Allsopp et al. 2000, Schoenmann et al. 2010). By contrast, Casp6 is activated through proteolytic processing, presumably by proteases other than Casp3 (Schoenmann et al. 2010).

# 1.3.2. Pathological Neurodegeneration Mechanisms

In addition to NGF deprivation that occurs as a normal part of development, axon degeneration can be induced by pathological mechanisms that are also dependent on Casp6 activity. For instance, the overexpression of APP in primary human neurons co-

transfected with green fluorescent protein (GFP) results in a Casp6-dependent neuritic beading phenotype (Sivananthan et al. 2010). The increased levels of APP may be causing excess Casp3 activation and subsequent Casp6 activation to cause β-tubulin disruption and neurodegeneration (Simon et al. 2012). Moreover, mutations in Dctn1, a gene that facilitates retrograde transport, causes shedding of APP and subsequent Casp6 activation (Vohra et al. 2010). Defective axonal transport may cause degeneration through decreased availability of trophic factors in neuronal cell bodies (Vohra et al. 2010). In transgenic mouse models, mice that overexpress Casp6 exhibit axonal degeneration whereas Casp6 deficient mice are protected from N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-mediated excitotoxicity, NGF deprivation, and myelin-dependent axonal degeneration (Uribe et al. 2012, LeBlanc et al. 2014). Furthermore, following a stroke, Casp9 facilitates Casp6 activation, which subsequently induces axonal degeneration and neuronal cell death (Akpan et al. 2011). Taken together, these studies show that axonal degeneration can occur in a variety of contexts and that this process often involves Casp6 activity. However, there are cases where Casp6 does not seem to have a role in neurodegeneration. For instance, during Wallerian axonal degeneration, there are no differences in Casp6 activation in rat neural cells following spinal cord injury (Chu et al. 2007). Moreover, APP and Casp6 are not involved in axotomy induced axonal degeneration (Vohra et al. 2010). Furthermore, Casp6 has a role in preventing the regeneration of injured axons. Casp6 is upregulated in injured retinal ganglion cells and its inhibition promotes some regeneration whereas combined suppression of Casp2 and Casp6 enhances axon regeneration ten-fold (Monnier et al. 2011, Vigneswara et al. 2014). Interestingly, Casp6 is also involved in the transmission of neuropathic pain in the absence of neurodegeneration (Berta et al. 2014). In mice, Casp6 is expressed in C-fiber axonal terminals in the superficial spinal cord dorsal horn (Berta et al. 2014). In addition, extracellular Casp6 induces murine microglial activation and subsequent tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) secretion (Berta et al. 2014). These results suggest that Casp6 is released from axonal terminals to regulate neuropathic pain.

### **1.3.3.** Neurodegenerative Diseases

With Casp6 having a role in physiological and induced axonal degeneration, it should come as no surprise that Casp6 activity is present in the pathophysiology of several neurodegenerative diseases. Excess Casp6 activity is present in neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), neuropil threads (NPTs) and neuritic plaques (NPs) in AD (LeBlanc et al. 1999, Guo et al. 2004). In addition, Casp6 is at least partly responsible for the processing of the mutant Htt (mHtt) protein in HD (Wong et al. 2015). Casp6 is also involved in other neurodegenerative diseases including ALS, Parkinson disease (PD) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-mediated neurodegeneration.

### 1.3.3.1. Alzheimer Disease

AD is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder characterized by initial mild cognitive impairment followed by deterioration of memory and other cognitive domains. In AD, misfolded proteins accumulate in the aging brain resulting in oxidative inflammatory damage, which subsequently causes energy failure and synaptic dysfunction (Querfurth et al. 2010). With the tau and amyloid hypotheses sparking debates between scientists for more than twenty-five years, the etiology of AD is still controversial. Although amyloid plaques and NFTs indeed contribute to AD pathophysiology, their elimination may not improve neuronal dysfunction and cognitive performance since the degenerating pathways that form these lesions would still be activated (LeBlanc 2013). Thus, identifying the events that occur before the accumulation of these lesions is essential for the development of novel therapeutics. Mounting evidence has implicated Casp6 in the initiation of several parallel pathways of neurodegeneration that are associated with AD.

# **1.3.3.1.1.** Amyloid-β Production

Several experiments have demonstrated a role for Casp6 in the overproduction of A $\beta$ . Serum-deprived primary human neuron cultures exhibit increased levels of A $\beta$  (LeBlanc 1995), which are dependent on Casp6 activity (LeBlanc et al. 1999). Although APP is a substrate for Casp6 (LeBlanc et al. 1999, Pellegrini et al. 1999, Weidemann et al. 1999), its activation increases A $\beta$  generation independently of caspase-mediated APP cleavage (Tesco et al. 2003). In Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells overexpressing APP, etoposide-induced apoptosis enhances A $\beta$  production; however, site-directed mutagenesis of APP at the Casp6 cleavage site did not prevent A $\beta$  production (Tesco et al. 2003). Casp6 increases A $\beta$  production through an indirect mechanism by enhancing beta-site APP cleaving enzyme (BACE) activity (Tesco et al. 2007). Casp6 cleaves golgi associated, gamma adaptin ear containing, ARF binding protein 3 (GGA3), an adaptor protein involved in BACE trafficking to lysosomes (Tesco et al. 2007). Pulse chase analyses revealed that the approximate half-life of BACE in CHO cells was nine hours under normal conditions, but following caspase activation with staurosporine (STS), BACE levels did not significantly decrease (Tesco et al. 2007).

# 1.3.3.1.2. C31-mediated Axonal Degeneration

In AD, Casp6 and mutant APP are involved in axonal degeneration since the expression of mutant APP co-transfected with GFP results in a Casp6-dependent neuritic beading phenotype (Sivananthan et al. 2010). Surprisingly, neuritic beading was still induced when A $\beta$  production was inhibited through site-directed mutagenesis of the BACE cleavage site, suggesting that axonal degeneration is  $A\beta$  independent (Sivananthan et al. 2010). Therefore, an alternative mechanism must exist that may involve the Casp6 APP cleavage product. Cleavage of APP by Casp6 at the VEVD<sub>664</sub> site produces an intracellular thirty-one amino acid peptide (C31) that does not have a role in A $\beta$ production (LeBlanc et al. 1999, Pellegrini et al. 1999, Weidemann et al. 1999, Tesco et al. 2003, Tesco et al. 2007). In comparison with non-AD age-matched controls, AD brains show a significant increase in caspase cleavage of APP at VEVD<sub>664</sub> in the entorhinal cortex ERC and hippocampus (Zhao 2003, Banwait et al. 2008). Interestingly, VEVD<sub>664</sub> cleaved APP was also found to be prominent in non-diseased human brains less than forty-five years of age, suggesting that VEVD<sub>664</sub> processing may be a part of normal proteolytic processing and that this cleavage is down regulated with aging, but aberrantly increased in AD (Banwait et al. 2008). The C31 peptide may contribute to neurodegeneration since it has been demonstrated to be toxic in cell culture models. C31 is a potent inducer of apoptosis in cultured neuroblastoma cells and in primary cultures of neurons (Lu et al. 2000, McPhie et al. 2001). The mechanism of cytotoxicity involves C31 interacting with APP, since C31 toxicity is absent in cells lacking endogenous APP (Park et al. 2009). C31 complexes with APP to recruit binding partners that initiate signals related to cellular toxicity (Park et al. 2009). In addition, C31 can also inhibit XIAP by binding through a second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase/direct IAP binding protein with low pI (Smac/DIABLO)-like motif, thereby promoting amplification of the caspase cascade (Hell et al. 2003). Furthermore, transgenic mouse models have also demonstrated the crucial role of cleavage at VEVD<sub>664</sub> in the development of AD-like pathology. APP transgenic mice with a mutated Casp6 cleavage site have normal synaptic transmission, synaptic plasticity and learning despite the presence of elevated levels of APP,  $A\beta_{42}$  and plaques (Saganich et al. 2006). Moreover, synaptic loss, dentate gyral atrophy, astrogliosis and behavioral abnormalities are also completely prevented in these mice (Galvan et al. 2006). Mutations in Asp664 have also been shown to prevent AD-like behavioral deficits in transgenic APP V717F (PDAPP) mice as old as thirteen months, suggesting that it either completely prevents or markedly delays disease onset (Galvan et al. 2008). Memory deficits in these mice are prevented only with early training suggesting that C31 prevents retention of information more than learning itself (Zhang et al. 2010). Finally, PAK signaling, which is involved in the pathophysiology of AD (Zhao et al. 2006), requires cleavage of APP at Asp664 (Nguyen et al. 2008). PDAPP mice have significant increases in PAK signaling in the hippocampus whereas this effect is completely prevented in PDAPP D664A mice (Nguyen et al. 2008).

By contrast, another study has suggested that the C-terminal Casp6 cleavage product does not have a role in AD pathogenesis (Harris et al. 2010). J20 mice (Mucke et al. 2000) were compared to B254 mice (Galvan et al. 2006), which encode the additional D664A mutation that prevents C31 release (Weidemann et al. 1999). When each of these mouse lines were compared to a non-transgenic control, J20 and B254 mice had a similar degree of abnormalities in spatial and non-spatial learning and memory, elevated maze performance, synaptic transmission and levels of synaptic activity-related proteins (Harris et al. 2010). These findings suggest that these abnormalities do not require caspase cleavage of APP at position D664 and are not caused by C31.

# . 1.3.3.1.3. Tau Cleavage

Active Casp6 and tau cleaved by Casp6 (Tau $\Delta$ Casp6) is present in pre-tangles and mature tangles in AD brains (Guo et al. 2004). Using a neoepitope antibody that specifically recognizes the p20 subunit of active Casp6, Guo et al. showed that sporadic AD brains have two- to three-fold more active Casp6 in the temporal and frontal cortex, whereas Casp6 is absent in the cerebellum (Guo et al. 2004). Using an additional neoepitope antibody that recognizes Tau $\Delta$ Casp6 at Asp402, Guo et al. also showed that both active Casp6 and Tau $\Delta$ Casp6 are present in NTs, NPs and NFTs (Guo et al. 2004). Both antisera did not stain young brains (<45 years of age), and non-AD neurons were also not stained in AD affected areas, thereby confirming their specificity for AD pathological neurons (Guo et al. 2004). Active Casp6 also co-localizes with hyperphosphorylated tau in the brainstem of AD patients (Wai et al. 2009). In AD brains, Casp6 can also cleave tau at Asp13 and this cleavage event temporally correlates with Casp3-mediated cleavage at Asp421 (Horowitz et al. 2004).

Interestingly, active Casp6 and Tau $\Delta$ Casp6 is present in the hippocampus and cortex of aged non-cognitively impaired (NCI), mild cognitively impaired (MCI) individuals and in individuals with mild to severe sporadic AD (SAD) (Albrecht et al. 2007). Moreover, active Casp6 and Tau $\Delta$ Casp6 is abundant in individuals with severe familial AD (FAD) involving mutations in APP, PSEN1 and PSEN2 (Albrecht et al. 2009). The presence of Tau $\Delta$ Casp6 in both SAD and FAD suggests that Casp6 activity plays a fundamental role in the pathophysiology of AD. Recently, it was demonstrated that Casp6 activity and tau cleavage are increased in cells treated with hydrogen peroxide in a dose-dependent manner, suggesting that other stresses such as an age-related insult in SAD or mutant proteins in FAD, could also have a synergistic role in Casp6 activation (Zhao et al. 2014).

# 1.3.3.1.4. Other Caspase-6 Targets in AD

In contrast to apoptotic neurons in which active Casp6 localizes to the nucleus and cytoplasm, active Casp6 in AD neurons localizes to the neurites and NFTs without exhibiting the classical features of apoptosis (Guo et al. 2004). A non-apoptotic role for Casp6 was later confirmed in HEK293T cells. Casp6 overexpression in HEK293T cells results in Casp6 activation in the absence of apoptosis (Klaiman et al. 2009). Similarly,

Casp6 activation induced by an optimized orthogonal protease also did not induce cell death (Gray et al. 2010). In order to elucidate the non-apoptotic role of Casp6 in AD neurons, Klaiman et al. conducted a proteomic analysis of Casp6-mediated cleavage of human neuronal proteins (Klaiman et al. 2008). The Casp6 substrates identified included proteins important for structural integrity, cell signaling, protein synthesis, protein degradation, membrane and lipid binding and metabolism (Klaiman et al. 2008). Among these substrates, 40% were cytoskeleton and cytoskeleton associated proteins. In this study, the cleavage of the cytoskeleton protein  $\alpha$ -tubulin, and cytoskeletal-associated proteins actinin-4, spinophilin, and drebrin were confirmed through *in vitro* translation analyses (Klaiman et al. 2008). Similar to Tau $\Delta$ Casp6, a neoepitope antiserum to  $\alpha$ tubulin cleaved by Casp6 immunostained NTs, NFTs and NPs in AD neurons and colocalized with Casp6 activity (Klaiman et al. 2008). Casp6 cleaves α-tubulin at Asp438, the same site cleaved by granzyme B, a serine protease secreted by cytotoxic T lymphocytes and NK cells to mediate apoptosis (Adrain et al. 2005). Cleavage at this site by granzyme B enhances microtubule polymerization, suggesting that  $\alpha$ -tubulin cleavage by Casp6 in AD could lead to cytoskeleton disruption through aberrant microtubule dynamics (Adrain et al. 2005). Actinin-4, spinophilin, and drebrin, the other three Casp6 substrates identified from this study, each have roles in regulating postsynaptic densities of dendritic spines through interactions with actin (Allen et al. 1997, Shirao et al. 2001, Otey et al. 2004). Therefore, Casp6-mediated cleavage of these substrates may be responsible for synaptic impairment in AD. Consistent with this hypothesis, Casp6 activity (Ramcharitar et al. 2013) and synaptic loss (Scheff et al. 2003) both show a positive correlation with cognitive impairment, suggesting that Casp6 may cause synaptic loss before the onset of AD. In addition, the level of drebrin is known to decrease in AD hippocampal synapses and knockdown of drebrin in rats causes cognitive impairment (Harigaya et al. 1996, Kobayashi et al. 2004). Similarly, spinophilin KO mice exhibit learning problems (Stafstrom-Davis et al. 2001).

In addition to cytoskeleton and cytoskeletal-associated proteins, Klaiman et al. also identified the chaperone proteins heat shock protein 90  $\alpha$  (Hsp90 $\alpha$ ), heat shock protein gp96 and valosin containing protein (VCP) as potential Casp6 substrates (Klaiman et al.

2008). These proteins facilitate protein degradation through the ubiquitin proteasomal system (UPS); therefore, Casp6 activity may result in the accumulation of polyubiquitinated proteins into misfolded aggregates. In AD, increased ubiquitination has been associated with NFTs, senile plaque neurites and paired helical filaments (Mori et al. 1987, Perry et al. 1987). A follow-up study confirmed VCP, a chaperone like ATPase, as a substrate for Casp6 (Halawani et al. 2010). When full-length VCP is incubated with Casp6 it generates cleavage products that are not seen with effectors Casp3 and Casp7, suggesting that the Casp6 cleavage sites are distinct (Halawani et al. 2010). Through characterization of a VCP Casp6 cleavage site, a neoepitope antibody was developed and showed that VCP cleaved by Casp6 was more abundant in the cell soma and neurites of AD hippocampal neurons relative to NCI controls (Halawani et al. 2010). These findings further reinforce a role for Casp6 in AD as being involved in multiple parallel neurodegenerative pathways.

# **1.3.3.1.5.** Cognitive Impairment

In addition to AD related pathologies, Casp6 activity has been implicated in cognitive impairment. In contrast to an overall distribution of Casp6 or TauACasp6 in the hippocampus and cortex of SAD brains, Casp6 activity was confined mostly to the entorhinal cortex of some non-cognitively impaired individuals (Albrecht et al. 2007). Interestingly, the entorhinal cortex is the first region of the brain to be affected by tau pathology (Braak et al. 1997). In NCI individuals, the levels of Tau∆Casp6 in the hippocampus inversely correlated with global cognitive scores, suggesting that Casp6 activity influences cognition in the elderly and precedes the clinical diagnosis of AD (Albrecht et al. 2007). A follow-up study involving a larger cohort of aged NCI individuals showed that higher levels of Casp6 in the CA1 region and the entorhinal cortex were predictive of lower episodic memory ability (Ramcharitar et al. 2013). Furthermore, levels of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) Tau∆Casp6 correlate with AD severity and lower global cognitive scores (Ramcharitar et al. 2013). When global cognitive scores and Tau∆Casp6 scores were averaged for NCI, MCI, mild, moderate and severe AD cases, a strong linear regression was achieved ( $r^2 = 0.94$ ) (Ramcharitar et al. 2013). Lastly, a Casp6 mouse model has recently been developed in which these mice express a self-activated form of human Casp6 in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (LeBlanc et al. 2014). These mice exhibit age-dependent spatial and episodic memory impairment in the absence of amyloid plaques and NFTs, suggesting that Casp6 is responsible for lower cognitive scores in NCI individuals (LeBlanc et al. 2014).

# 1.3.3.1.6. Neuroinflammation

Although Casp6 is an apoptotic effector caspase, a role for Casp6 in neuroinflammation has recently drawn considerable attention. Neuroinflammation is a feature of AD since IL-1 $\beta$  is overexpressed in AD brains and this results in enhanced microglia activation (Griffin et al. 1989). Neuroinflammation is an early signaling event that contributes to the pathophysiology of AD through several signaling pathways. For example, neuroinflammation may contribute to the formation of A $\beta$  plaques since there is a temporal correlation with activated microglia and neuritic plaque distribution (Sheng et al. 1995). In addition, IL-1B promotes expression and phosphorylation of neurofilament and tau proteins (Sheng et al. 2000). More recently, Kaushal et al. demonstrated a role for Casp6 in neuroinflammation (Kaushal et al. 2015). In serum-deprived primary human neurons, Casp6 activation is dependent on NLRP1 and inflammatory Casp1 activity (LeBlanc et al. 1999, Guo et al. 2006, Kaushal et al. 2015). CNS primary human neurons express NLRP1, a component of the NLRP1 inflammasome complex that mediates the activation of Casp1. In AD neurons, the expression of NLRP1 is increased 25- to 30- fold relative to NCI controls (Kaushal et al. 2015). Following its activation by NLRP1, Casp1 mediates Casp6 activation through removal of the prodomain to facilitate Casp6 selfcleavage within the intersubunit linker (Lee et al. 2010, Wang et al. 2010). Support for this mechanism was demonstrated through immunohistochemical staining in which NLRP1 was shown to co-localize with Tau∆Casp6 in AD brains (Kaushal et al. 2015). Interestingly, extracellular Casp6 may also have an important role in neuroinflammation since microglial cultures treated with RCasp6 induced microglia activation and TNF-a secretion (Norman et al. 2010). On the other hand, neuroinflammation may also be a consequence of Casp6 activity since mice that overexpress active Casp6 in the CA1 region have increased glial inflammation (LeBlanc et al. 2014). A positive feedback loop may exist in which Casp1 processes pro-IL-1 $\beta$ , which subsequently induces microglial activation. The activated microglia would then secrete cytokines to induce NLRP1 signaling and subsequently more Casp1 and Casp6 activity. Therefore, in addition to Casp6, NLRP1 and Casp1 may represent potential targets for the development of novel therapeutics against AD.

#### **1.3.3.2.** Huntington Disease

HD is an inherited neurodegenerative disease characterized by progressive motor, cognitive and psychiatric impairment (Novak et al. 2010). It is a single gene disease caused by expanded CAG trinucleotide repeats within the Htt gene (The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group, 1993). The encoded polyglutamine causes progressive neurodegeneration that selectively targets GABAergic medium spiny striatal neurons and glutamatergic cortical neurons that project to the striatum (Albin et al. 1990, Albin et al. 1992). The accumulation of N-terminal Htt fragments in human HD brains suggests either enhanced proteolysis or impaired clearance of Htt underlies the pathophysiology of HD (Gutekunst et al. 1999). Indeed, Casp6 has been confirmed to be involved in both situations. The initial observation of Casp6 being involved in HD was made by Wellington et al. who demonstrated that Htt could be cleaved by Casp6 at Asp586 in vitro and ex vivo (Wellington et al. 2000). Two Casp3 cleavage sites at positions Asp513 and Asp552 were also identified (Wellington et al. 2000). Following treatment with tamoxifen, neuronal and non-neuronal cells with mHtt that had Casp3 and Casp6 resistant cleavage sites exhibited less cytotoxicity and mHtt aggregation than cells with cleavable mHtt (Wellington et al. 2000). Although this study showed a role for caspases being involved in mHtt-mediated toxicity, the toxicity of caspase-specific mHtt fragments was not compared.

Follow-up studies have demonstrated an essential role for Casp6, but not Casp3, in the pathophysiology of HD. In humans, CAG repeat size inversely correlates with age of HD onset and directly correlates with Casp6 levels and its catalytic activity (Graham et al. 2010). To study the effect of the mHtt protein *in vivo*, yeast artificial chromosome (YAC) mouse models of HD with the human HD gene containing 46 (YAC46), 72 (YAC72) or 128 (YAC128) CAG repeats have been developed (Hodgson et al. 1999, Slow et al.

2003). These mice display cognitive impairment followed by motor deficits and agedependent striatal neurodegeneration with the severity of symptoms correlating with levels of mHtt (Slow et al. 2003, Van Raamsdonk et al. 2005, Graham et al. 2006). In addition, YAC128 mice resistant to Casp6 cleavage at Asp586 do not display the behavioral and neuropathological features of HD whereas mice resistant to Casp3 cleavage at Asp513 and Asp552 display striatal degeneration (Graham et al. 2006, Pouladi et al. 2009). Similarly, transgenic mice expressing the Casp6 derived N-terminal fragment of mHtt also develop neurologic abnormalities (Tebbenkamp et al. 2011). YAC mice resistant to Casp6 cleavage of Htt also show low of levels of active Casp6 relative to YAC mice controls with cleavable Htt, suggesting that the cleaved Htt fragment may be part of a positive amplification cycle of Casp6 activation (Graham et al. 2010). Treatment of YAC128 primary striatal neurons with NMDA caused an increase in Casp6 activation, but not in Casp6 cleavage site resistant neurons, suggesting that excitotoxicity may cause initial Casp6 activation (Graham et al. 2010). Enhanced excitotoxicity seen in HD mouse models may be due to impaired glutamate uptake by glial cells (Faideau et al. 2010, Huang et al. 2010). Furthermore, elevated extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling and expression contributes to the HD phenotype and requires Casp6 cleavage of mHtt (Milnerwood et al. 2010). Lastly, primary striatal neurons expressing mHtt treated with synthetic Casp6 inhibitors or co-expressing a catalytically inactive dominant-negative form of Casp6 are protected from neurodegeneration (Hermel et al. 2004, Graham et al. 2010, Aharony et al. 2015).

These studies have indeed shown a role for Casp6 in HD pathogenesis; however, more recent findings involving other mouse models of HD have suggested that other proteases can also cleave mHtt at the Casp6 cleavage site. The genetic ablation of Casp6 in the HdhQ150 knock-in mouse model showed that loss of Casp6 has no effect on the proteolysis of Htt or the levels of full length Htt protein (Landles et al. 2012). Furthermore, in a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) mouse model of HD, Casp6 KO mice also do not show a reduction in the proteolysis of mHtt at Aps586; however, they have reduced levels of both full-length and cleaved htt (Gafni et al. 2012). These findings suggest that Casp6 may have an alternate role in impairing the clearance of the Htt

protein through the UPS (Gafni et al. 2012). In contrast to the BACHD and HdhQ150 mouse models, YAC128 Casp6 KO mice show reduced, but not absent, levels of cleaved mHtt (Wong et al. 2015). Each of these mouse models suggests that Casp6 activity alone cannot account for the accumulation of mHtt fragments. Similar to Casp6, Casp8 and Casp10 can also cleave mHtt at position Asp586; however, full-length Casp8 levels in YAC128 Casp6 KO mice were not significantly different compared to YAC128 control mice, suggesting that other proteases may also be involved in the cleavage of mHtt at position Asp586 (Wong et al. 2015).

The nuclear translocation of Htt and the formation of neuropil aggregates are neuropathological hallmarks of HD, and in YAC128 mice, this occurs earliest and to the greatest extent in the striatum (Davies et al. 1997, Gutekunst et al. 1999, Van Raamsdonk et al. 2005). The specific cleavage of Htt at Asp586 may be responsible for its translocation to the nucleus in striatal neurons. Using neoepitope antibodies specific to Htt cleaved at specific sites, it was demonstrated that Casp6-derived fragments cleaved at Asp586 localized to the nucleus whereas Casp3-derived fragments cleaved at Asp552 localized to the perinuclear region (Warby et al. 2008). In addition, endogenous Casp6 zymogen is localized to both the cytoplasm and nucleus whereas active Casp6 is localized in only the nuclear region suggesting that in response to an apoptotic stress, zymogen Casp6 and full-length Htt are trafficked to the nucleus where Casp6 activation occurs and subsequently cleaves Htt (Warby et al. 2008). The mechanism of how Htt is transported into and out of the nucleus is poorly understood. Phosphorylation of Htt at Ser421 by the pro-survival kinases Akt and serine/threonine protein kinase (SGK) may reduce Htt nuclear accumulation by preventing Casp6-mediated Htt cleavage, by reducing the levels of full-length Htt, and by preventing its nuclear localization (Warby et al. 2009). Under physiological conditions, the lowest levels of phosphorylation occur in the striatum and are further reduced in the presence of the polyglutamine tract (Warby et al. 2005). In addition to phosphorylation, the polyglutamine tract may interact with other proteins that mediate the localization of mHtt to the nuclear region (Preisinger et al. 1999).

#### **1.3.3.3.** Parkinson Disease

PD is a movement disorder characterized by a massive loss of dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra and the accumulation of intra-cytoplasmic inclusions known as Lewy bodies. Oxidative stress is the primary pathogenic mechanism of substantia nigra dopaminergic cell death and is associated with Casp6 activation (Yoo et al. 2003). Most PD cases are of sporadic origin but about five percent of them are of genetic origin and are linked to mutations in parkin, phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)-induced putative kinase (PINK-1) and DJ-1 (Gasser 2005). Of these genes products, DJ-1 has been demonstrated to be a Casp6 substrate (Giaime et al. 2010). DJ-1 is a highly conserved homodimeric protein expressed in the brain that harbors a protective role against oxidative stress (Bandopadhyay et al. 2004, Martinat et al. 2004, Taira et al. 2004). The Casp6 cleavage resistant D149A mutation seen in some recessive forms of PD abolishes its protective phenotype (Giaime et al. 2010). When Casp6 cleaves DJ-1 in TSM1 neurons and neuroblastoma cell lines after STS treatment, the C-terminal fragment exerts an anti-apoptotic function by inhibiting the p53 pathway (Giaime et al. 2010). By contrast, many studies have implicated Casp6 as having a neurodegenerative role in dopaminergic neurons. For instance, the N-terminal fragment of DJ-1 has a pro-apoptotic function by increasing reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and sensitizing neurons to 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP<sup>+</sup>)-mediated apoptosis (Robert et al. 2012). Similar to Htt cleaved by Casp6, the N-terminal of DJ-1 localizes to the nucleus and its exclusion from the nucleus abrogates its apoptotic effect (Robert et al. 2012). Furthermore, in dopaminergic neurons treated with the neurotoxin paraquat, Casp6 cleaves p55PIK, a subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases that have roles in cell proliferation, anti-apoptotic pathways and cell cycle progression (Zhou et al. 2014). Taken together, these studies suggest in response to ROS under physiological conditions, Casp6 has a neuroprotective effect through cleavage of DJ-1, whereas excess ROS under pathological conditions induces multiple parallel degenerative pathways.

### 1.3.3.4. Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

In contrast to other neurodegenerative diseases, Casp6 may have a protective role in ALS, a motor neuron disease characterized by the selective degeneration of motor

neurons of the spinal cord resulting in muscular atrophy, paralysis and eventually death. Mutations in the copper/zinc superoxide dismutase (SOD1) gene are associated with the onset of familial ALS and mice overexpressing the human mutant SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> gene develop the pathological hallmarks of ALS (Rosen et al. 1993, Gurney et al. 1994). Surprisingly, SOD1<sup>G93A</sup> mice with a Casp6 deletion have a significantly exacerbated motor phenotype (Hogg et al. 2016). In addition, the onset of disease occurred much earlier in these mice and they had shorter lifespans relative to SOD1 mice without a Casp6 deletion (Hogg et al. 2016). Therefore, Casp6 may have a protective role in ALS, however its mechanism of action has not been determined.

# 1.3.3.5. HIV-mediated Neurodegeneration

HIV infection of the brain leads to a neurodegenerative condition known as HIVassociated neurocognitive disorder (Cysique et al. 2009). The most severe form of this disorder is often termed HIV encephalitis (HIVE) due to the presence of reactive astrocytosis, microglial nodules and multinucleated giant cells (Gray et al. 2001). The first high-throughput microribononucleic acid (miRNA) profiling study of HIVE brains showed that Casp6 was differentially regulated (Noorbakhsh et al. 2010). Immunohistochemical analysis of HIVE brain sections revealed that active Casp6 was upregulated in astrocytes but not in neurons (Noorbakhsh et al. 2010). In addition, primary astrocytes exposed to the HIV viral protein have increased levels of p53, loss of mitochondrial permeabilization and increased Casp6 activity (Noorbakhsh et al. 2010).

# 1.3.3.6. Ischemic Neurodegeneration

Ischemic strokes are most often caused by thromboembolism, which is the physical blockage of blood flow to the brain. Due to a lack of oxygen and neuronal energy depletion, the affected area undergoes apoptosis that may be mediated through Casp6 activation. Active Casp6 is present in apoptotic neurons of fetal and adult ischemic brains (Guo et al. 2004). In addition, active Casp6 is present in the cell soma and neuronal processes after a stroke and is activated by initiator Casp9 (Akpan et al. 2011). Inhibition of Casp6 through intranasal Casp9 inhibitors was neuroprotective against cerebral ischemia (Akpan et al. 2011). Furthermore, in a thromboembolic cerebral stroke mouse

model, Casp6 and Casp8 inhibitors reduced infarct volume, reduced edema, reduced neurological deficits, increased the number of proliferating cells, and increased neurofilament levels after middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) (Shabanzadeh et al. 2015). Lastly, Casp6 KO mice demonstrate improved neuronal retention and neurological function relative to wild type (WT) controls following transient MCAO (Akpan et al. 2011). These findings show that Casp6 plays a role in ischemic neuronal degeneration since its inhibition following an ischemic injury attenuates the neuropathological consequences of cerebral infarct.

# **1.4. CASPASE-6 OUTSIDE THE BRAIN**

During fetal development, Casp6 is ubiquitously expressed in most tissues with the lowest levels in the brain and the highest levels in the gastrointestinal system (Godefroy et al. 2013). Cells expressing active Casp6 in these tissues had morphological features of apoptosis, indicating that Casp6 may be important in developmental cell death (Godefroy et al. 2013). In adult tissues, Casp6 expression is lower relative to fetal tissues, but is still present in the colon, stomach, kidney, lung, liver and skin (Godefroy et al. 2013). Consistent with these findings, numerous reports have demonstrated roles for Casp6 in tissues outside the brain. Interestingly, the low levels of Casp6 in both fetal and adult brain tissues indicates that the increased levels of Casp6 in AD are indeed pathogenic (Godefroy et al. 2013).

# **1.4.1. Apoptotic Targets**

Casp6 has the capacity to induce apoptosis in certain cell types. During development, Casp6 but not Casp3, is involved in the regulation of hypoxia-induced apoptosis in tubeforming endothelial cells (Eguchi et al. 2009). In colon epithelial cells, Casp6 cleaves guanylate cyclase alpha 1 during deoxycholate induced apoptosis (Payne et al. 2003). This cleavage event is absent in deoxycholate resistant cancer cells; therefore, Casp6 has a tumor-suppressing role in the colon (Payne et al. 2003). In intestinal epithelial cells undergoing anoikis, a form of apoptosis that occurs when anchorage-dependent cells detach from the extracellular matrix, Casp6 is activated following detachment suggesting that is may be involved in intestinal epithelium homeostasis (Grossmann et al. 1998). In

human hepatoma cell lines, Casp6 has a regulatory role in the promotion of bile acid induced apoptosis (Rust et al. 2009). Eosinophils undergoing spontaneous or nitric oxide induced apoptosis also require Casp6 activity (Ilmarinen-Salo et al. 2010). In addition, Casp6 is activated under pathological conditions. Human and rat islet cells exposed to glucotoxic conditions results in Casp6 activation and lamin A degradation and subsequent metabolic dysregulation (Khadija et al. 2014). Also, Streptococcus pneumonia-induced apoptosis of lung epithelial cells is Casp6 dependent (Schmeck et al. 2004). Furthermore, Casp6 activity is involved in some cancer treatments. Lymphoma cell lines treated with various anticancer drugs induce Casp6 cleavage of the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) component raptor (mTOR) and mutagenesis of the Casp6 cleavage sites confers resistance to cell death (Martin et al. 2016). Photodynamic therapy (PDT) with hexaminolevulinate (HAL) in human B cell lymphoma Ramos and Daudi cell lines requires Casp6 activation and Casp6-mediated cleavage of lamin A (Shahzidi et al. 2013). Treatment of these cell lines with a Casp6 inhibitor abrogated HAL-PDT-mediated cleavage of both Casp6 and lamin A and subsequent apoptosis in both cell lines (Shahzidi et al. 2013). Aloe emodin induces cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human colon cancer cells through Casp6 and Casp9 activation, rather than Casp3 and Casp7 activation (Suboj et al. 2012). ZBP-89 also induces cell cycle arrest in human colon cancer cells through Casp6 activation (Chen et al. 2009). Taken together, these results suggest that Casp6 in certain cell types is sufficient to induce apoptosis, especially when induced with chemotherapeutics.

# 1.4.2. Immune System

Casp6 has a role in the adaptive immune system by regulating lymphocyte activation. Following activation with a proliferative stimulus, human B cells have increased Casp6 activity and proliferation of B cells is blocked with Casp6 inhibitors, suggesting that Casp6 has a regulatory role in selectively allowing entry of quiescent  $G_0$  B cells to enter the  $G_1$  cell cycle phase (Olson et al. 2003). Indeed, this was demonstrated in Casp6 null mice in which Casp6 null B cells have more cells in  $G_1$  cell cycle phase than in WT B cells (Watanabe et al. 2008). In addition, Casp6 null mice have enhanced plasma cell formation and antigen specific antibody production (Watanabe et al. 2008). Furthermore, cleavage of 5-lipoxygenase by Casp6 in the Burkitt lymphoma line BL41 correlates with proliferation, again suggesting that Casp6 activity has a role in B cell activation (Werz et al. 2005). More recently, it has been demonstrated that Casp6 also has a role in the innate immune system through its ability to activate macrophages. Interleukin-1 associated kinase-M (IRAK-M), an inhibitor of the innate immune response expressed in alveolar macrophages, is a Casp6 substrate (Kobayashi et al. 2011). During inflammation, neutrophils are recruited to alveolar macrophages and their interaction promotes Casp6 activation and subsequent IRAK-M cleavage (Kobayashi et al. 2011). Casp6 also promotes the activation of alternatively activated macrophages (AAM) while Casp6 disruption suppresses levels of AAM biomarkers (Yao et al. 2016). Interestingly, Casp6 activity in 4T1-tumor associated macrophages modulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) expression, suggesting that Casp6 activity can promote tumor cell invasion (Yao et al. 2016).

### 1.4.3. Differentiation

Casp6 may have a role in lens fiber cell differentiation, which involves the degradation and elimination of all membrane-bound organelles through a process similar to apoptosis (Foley et al. 2004). Lens extracts from rat embryos showed high VEIDase activity during the period organelles were eliminated while zymogen Casp6 levels decreased suggesting a differentiation role for Casp6 (Foley et al. 2004). However, this suggestion has been disputed because Casp6 null mice have properly formed lenses (Zandy et al. 2005). VEIDase activity observed in the lysates from Casp6 KO lenses was indistinguishable from that measured in WT samples since the proteasome also demonstrates VEIDase activity (Zandy et al. 2005). By contrast, excessive Casp6 activity leads to morphological abnormalities in mouse lens secondary fiber cells suggesting that it may have a redundant regulatory role during lens cell differentiation (Morozov et al. 2006). In addition, Casp6 mediates myeloid progenitor cell differentiation (Leong et al. 2010). Mutant nucleophosmin seen in acute myeloid leukemia inhibits Casp6 and Casp8 and subsequently hinders myeloid differentiation (Leong et al. 2010). Deguelin, a selective silencer of mutant nucleophosmin, induces differentiation and apoptosis of mutant AML cells by relieving the inhibition on Casp6 and Casp8 (Yi et al. 2015).

### **1.5. CASPASE-6 INHIBITORS**

Casp6 is an attractive therapeutic target because it has roles in the pathogenesis of AD. Physiologically, Casp6 signaling may be dispensable since Casp6 null mice develop normally without any noticeable apoptotic defects (Zheng et al. 1999). In fact, B cell differentiation into plasma cells is accelerated in Casp6 KO mice and thus, they have more antigen-stimulated production of antibodies, suggesting that Casp6 inhibition in AD patients may increase their immunity (Watanabe et al. 2008). However, another Casp6 KO mouse model showed that these mice have age-dependent increases in cortical and striatal volume, hypokinetic behavior and learning deficits (Uribe et al. 2012). Therefore, it may be important to downregulate its activity rather than completely inhibit it. In addition, since Casp6 is closely related to apoptotic effector caspases, this suggests that its inhibition may potentially lead to cancer. However, no studies have shown a role for Casp6 in preventing cancer. Casp6 is expressed in peripheral tissues with the highest being in the colon (Godefroy et al. 2013). Inflammation-induced tumorigenesis in the mouse colon is Casp6 independent since there are no noticeable differences in tumor formation between WT and Casp6 KO mice (Foveau et al. 2014). Although Casp6 may not initiate tumor formation, its inhibition has been shown to promote chemoresistance in cancer cells. Survivin-3B increases the resistance of neoplastic cells to chemotherapeutics by inhibiting Casp6 activation (Vegran et al. 2013). Furthermore, some cancer treatments rely on Casp6 activity for apoptosis (Suboj et al. 2012, Shahzidi et al. 2013, Yang et al. 2014, Martin et al. 2016). Taken together, these studies suggest that Casp6 downregulation would not initiate tumor formation, but may promote resistance to apoptosis in tumor cells.

### **1.5.1.** Competitive Peptide Inhibitors

Competitive inhibitors have properties that enable them to interact with the enzyme at the active site. For instance, the competitive inhibitor z-VEID-fmk is derived from the Casp6 cleavage site in lamin A. Since only Casp6 cleaves lamin A, this peptide is selective for Casp6 and is often used as a positive control to inhibit Casp6 in cells. However, this compound is not a viable Casp6 inhibitor to use in humans since it induces hepatotoxicity. Recently, a competitive peptide-based Casp6 inhibitor was designed

based on the Htt Casp6 cleavage site (Aharony et al. 2015). This peptide protects cells from mHtt-induced toxicity, protects pre-symptomatic BAC mice from motor deficit and behavioral abnormalities and partially restores post-symptomatic BAC behavioral and cognitive deficits (Aharony et al. 2015). However, this inhibitor may not be selective for Casp6 since the Htt cleavage site can be cleaved by other proteases (Wong et al. 2015). Similarly, a competitive Casp6 peptide-based inhibitor has also been designed based on the AP-2 $\alpha$  Casp6 cleavage site, but this inhibitor is less potent than z-VEID-fmk (Nyormoi et al. 2003). Other peptide-based competitive Casp6 inhibitors include azapeptide epoxides and Michael acceptors; however, due to the similarity of the active site amongst all caspases, these compounds also inhibit Casp1, Casp2, Casp3, Casp7, Casp8, Casp9 and Casp10 (James et al. 2004, Ekici et al. 2006).

### **1.5.2.** Competitive Small Molecule Inhibitors

Non-peptide small molecule competitive Casp6 inhibitors have also been reported; however, since caspases have overlapping substrate specificities, these inhibitors are nonselective for Casp6 (McStay et al. 2008). Recently, methylene blue, which is in phase three clinical trials for AD, has been reported to inhibit Casp6 (Pakavathkumar et al. 2015). Within the active site containing the Cys/His catalytic dyad, histidine abstracts the proton on the reduced sulfur atom of cysteine leaving it negatively charged. The lone pair of electrons initiates catalysis through a nucleophilic attack on the carbonyl carbon of the substrate. Methylene blue prevents this process through oxidation of the catalytic cysteine residue (Pakavathkumar et al. 2015). However, methylene blue is non-selective since it inhibits Casp1 and Casp3 to the same degree as Casp6 (Pakavathkumar et al. 2015). Using a substrate-based fragment approach with Casp3 and Casp6, Levya et. al. developed three pan-caspase inhibitors that blocked proteolysis of Htt at the Casp3 and Casp6 cleavage sites, suppressed Hdh<sup>111Q/111Q-</sup>mediated toxicity, and rescued rat striatal and cortical neurons from cell death (Leyva et al. 2010). Sulfonamide Isatin Michael acceptors inhibit Casp6 in the nanomolar range and are more selective for Casp6 than Casp3 and Casp7 (Chu et al. 2009).

### **1.5.3.** Allosteric Peptide Inhibitors

An alternative approach to bypass the problem of selectivity is to target allosteric sites. Stanger et al. developed a non-competitive peptide inhibitor that was identified through phage display on the zymogen form of Casp6 (Stanger et al. 2012). Binding of this peptide mediates the tetramerization of two dimers and locks them in a more rigid conformation that exhibits less activity. This peptide was shown to be selective for Casp6 in neuronal cells. Upon treatment with STS, the peptide inhibited lamin A cleavage in a dose-dependent manner, but had no effect on levels of Casp3 substrates spectrin and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP). However, this peptide had poor cell penetration properties and was administered to neurons through electroporation. Therefore, it may not have much use in a therapeutic setting.

#### **1.5.4.** Allosteric Small Molecule Inhibitors

Small molecule inhibitors that bind zymogen Casp6 at an allosteric site at the dimer interface have been reported (Murray et al. 2014). To identify the compounds, biophysical methods and X-ray crystallography was used to probe the zymogen form of Casp6 for potential allosteric sites followed by a fragment screen using surface plasmon resonance. The compounds identified stabilize the inactive conformation by contacting key residues in the L2 loop. Since rearrangement of the L2 loop is required for formation of the active site, these compounds prevent Casp6 activation. The compounds identified represent the first nanomolar affinity small molecules that bind to the dimer interface site in any caspase family member. However, these compounds prevent activation by stabilizing the zymogen conformation and have a minimal effect on active Casp6. Inhibiting active Casp6 would be more effective for the treatment of AD because active Casp6 accumulates before the onset of AD symptoms (Albrecht et al. 2007).

# **1.5.5. Uncompetitive Small Molecule Inhibitors**

Recently, an uncompetitive inhibitor for Casp6 was reported (Heise et al. 2012). Uncompetitive inhibitors bind only to the enzyme-substrate complex. This compound preferentially binds to the Casp6-VEID complex, therefore making it selective for Casp6. In addition, the compound inhibits Casp6 with a potency of 11 nM. This compound was the first to show uncompetitive inhibition amongst the caspase family. This mode of

inhibition may be of significant importance for drug discovery since these inhibitors recognize a specific enzyme-substrate complex and therefore, do not inhibit the cleavage of other substrates. However, this inhibitor would not be viable for the treatment of AD since Casp6 cleaves a variety of substrates that initiate multiple parallel pathways leading to neurodegeneration. This compound only inhibits cleavage of the fluorophore conjugated VEID peptide used in this study. With the exception of lamin A, Casp6 generally does not cleave its naturally occurring substrates through a VEID motif (Takahashi et al. 1996, Julien et al. 2016).

### **II. PREFACE**

The following chapter contains part of a manuscript being prepared for submission to the Journal of Biological Chemistry. It details the work I conducted on the Sigma-Aldrich commercial library of compounds identified through the *in silico* screen against the postulated Casp6 allosteric pocket.

# Title:

# Identification of Allosteric Inhibitors against Caspase-6 Activity for the Treatment of Age-dependent Cognitive Decline and Alzheimer's Disease

Jeffrey Lynham<sup>a,b</sup>, Agne Tubeleviciute-Aydin<sup>a,c</sup>, Gyanesh Sharma<sup>a,c</sup>, Alexandre

Beautrait<sup>d</sup>, Anne Marinier<sup>d</sup>, Andrea LeBlanc<sup>a,b,c</sup>

 <sup>a</sup> Bloomfield Center for Research In Aging, Lady Davis Institute for Medical Research, Jewish General Hospital, 3755 Ch. Cote Ste-Catherine, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3T 1E2
<sup>b</sup> Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, McGill University, 3640 University St., Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 0C7
<sup>c</sup> Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University, 3775 University St., Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 2B4
<sup>d</sup> Institute for Research In Immunology and Cancer, Université de Montréal, 2590, chemin de Polytechnique, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3T 1J4

### **Contribution of Authors and Acknowledgements**

I conducted the work presented here, however it would not have been possible without the contributions of the other authors listed. *Dr. Andrea LeBlanc* (Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University) and *Maria Putorti* (Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology, McGill University) identified the rare variants of human Casp6 which enabled *Alex Beautrait* and *Anne Marinier* (Institute for Research in Immunology and Cancer, University of Montreal) to identify the allosteric pocket and subsequently run the *in silico* screen. *Agne Tubeleviciute-Aydin* and *Gyanesh Sharma* (Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery, McGill University) analyzed the Chembridge Corporation commercial library of compounds as well as those identified through IRIC's medicinal chemistry platform (data not shown). I would also like to acknowledge *Guy Salvesen* for the Casp6 DNA construct used for purification.

# **2.1 INTRODUCTION**

Caspases belong to a highly conserved family of cysteine proteases that have essential roles in apoptosis, inflammation, differentiation, neuronal development and axon pruning (Shalini et al. 2015). All caspases are synthesized as zymogens that must undergo proteolytic processing to become fully activated. During apoptosis, caspase activation occurs in a hierarchical manner such that initiator caspase activation precedes and facilitates effector caspase activation. Although apoptotic caspases are traditionally classified as initiators (Casp2, Casp8, Casp9 and Casp10) and effectors (Casp3, Casp6, Casp7), Casp6 has challenged this classification system since it behaves much differently from the other apoptotic effectors. Rather than being activated by initiator caspases, Casp6 exhibits a unique intramolecular cleavage mechanism that is driven by high enzyme concentrations (Wang et al. 2010). In addition, the substrate specificity of Casp6 is distinct from Casp3 and Casp7 (Talanian et al. 1997). Casp6 has the proteome-wide sequence specificity of VEVD and Casp7 has the proteome-wide sequence specificity of DEVD (Hill et al. 2016). Furthermore, IAPs that interact with apoptotic effectors Casp3 and Casp7 do not interact with Casp6 (Deveraux et al. 1997, Roy et al. 1997). Finally, Casp6 overexpression in HEK293 cells results in excess Casp6 activity in the absence of cell death (Klaiman et al. 2009). These findings were confirmed in another study that used an optimized orthogonal protease to activate each effector caspase in HEK293 cells (Gray et al. 2010). Unlike Casp3 and Casp7 activation, Casp6 activation alone was not sufficient to induce apoptosis. Taken together, these findings suggest that Casp6 has more complex roles outside of apoptosis.

A role for Casp6 in neurodegeneration in the absence of apoptosis has been well established. Nerve growth factor deprivation in mouse spinal neurons induces axonal pruning through the APP-DR6-Casp6 pathway (Nikolaev et al. 2009). DR6 is highly expressed in the adult human hippocampus and temporal cortex; therefore, the APP-DR6-Casp6 pathway may regulate neural connectivity in the adult brain (Iyer et al. 2013). Furthermore, Casp6 activation may also regulate neural connectivity through p75 neurotrophin receptor-mediated axonal degeneration (Park et al. 2010). In primary human neurons, overexpression of WT APP or mutant APP induces Aβ independent, but Casp6

dependent, axonal degeneration (Sivananthan et al. 2010). Although it has been suggested that Casp6-dependent axonal pruning is mediated through upstream Casp9 and Casp3 activity (Cusack et al. 2013), axon pruning is delayed in both Casp6 KO mice and Casp3 KO mice, suggesting that Casp6 may be activated under different contexts (Simon et al. 2012).

Excess neuronal Casp6 activation has been associated with several features of AD neuropathology. Post-mortem studies have shown that AD brains contain significantly higher levels of active Casp6 and Tau∆Casp6 localized to NFTs, NTs and NPs in all stages of SAD and in severe cases of FAD (Guo et al. 2004, Albrecht et al. 2007, Albrecht et al. 2009). In addition, Casp6 cleaves numerous substrates that may lead to neuronal dysfunction such as APP (Gervais et al. 1999, LeBlanc et al. 1999, Pellegrini et al. 1999, Weidemann et al. 1999), tau (Guo et al. 2004),  $\alpha$ -tubulin (Klaiman et al. 2008), VCP (Halawani et al. 2010); a facilitator of ubiquitinated protein degradation, and actinregulating postsynaptic density proteins spinophilin,  $\alpha$ -actinin and drebrin (Klaiman et al. 2008). Furthermore, Casp6 has also been implicated in age-dependent cognitive impairment since levels of active Casp6 in the entorhinal cortex, the first region to be affected by AD, inversely correlates with global cognitive scores in individuals within normal cognitive range (Braak et al. 1997, Ramcharitar et al. 2013). Knock-in mice that express a self-activated form of human Casp6 in the CA1 region of the hippocampus have also supported a role for Casp6 in age-dependent cognitive impairment (LeBlanc et al. 2014). These mice develop age-dependent spatial and episodic impairment in the absence of NFTs and amyloid plaques. Together these studies suggest that Casp6 represents a potential early therapeutic target in age-dependent cognitive impairment and AD.

Several studies indicate Casp6 to be a viable drug target. The first Casp6 null mice developed normally without any noticeable apoptotic defects (Zheng et al. 1999). Interestingly, B cell differentiation into plasma cells and antigen-stimulated production of antibody is accelerated in these mice; thus, Casp6 inhibition in AD patients may increase their immunity (Watanabe et al. 2008). Another Casp6 KO mouse model exhibited

hypokinetic behavior and learning deficits (Uribe et al. 2012). However, these mice expressed Casp6 without the catalytic domain; therefore, it is unclear if the changes in behavior were due to the absence of Casp6 activity or if the encoded protein had a toxic effect. In humans, pro-Casp6 is not significantly expressed in the brain, suggesting that it does not have an essential role in the brain under physiological conditions (Godefroy et al. 2013). These findings also demonstrate that the high levels of Casp6 seen in AD brains are indeed pathogenic (Godefroy et al. 2013). Moreover, Casp6 is expressed in peripheral tissues and declines with age, but Casp6 expression remains relatively high in the colon (Godefroy et al. 2013). These findings suggest that inhibiting Casp6 could potentially cause colon cancer; however, mice overexpressing human Casp6 and mice null for Casp6 do not show a role for Casp6 in an inflammation-mediated model of colon carcinogenesis (Foveau et al. 2014). Although there are multiple studies indicating an essential role for Casp6 in cancer treatments (Lee et al. 2006, Chen et al. 2009, Suboj et al. 2012, Shahzidi et al. 2013, Martin et al. 2016), no studies have demonstrated a role for Casp6 in preventing cancer. Casp6 may have a dispensable physiological role; therefore, Casp6 inhibition is likely a feasible treatment for AD.

Casp6 is endogenously regulated through several binding partners and post-translational modification. Natural Casp6 inhibitors include  $Zn^{2+}$ , which inhibits through an allosteric mechanism, and baculoviral p35, which inhibits through a covalent mechanism (Zhou et al. 1998, Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). Sox11 is the only known intrinsic regulator of Casp6, as it reduces Casp6 processing and activity (Waldron-Roby et al. 2015). However, these regulators cannot be used therapeutically since they also target other caspases (Perry et al. 1997, Zhou et al. 1998, Huber et al. 2012, Waldron-Roby et al. 2015). The only selective endogenous Casp6 inhibitor is Mch2 $\beta$ , which is an alternatively spliced isoform of Casp6 that does not possess any catalytic activity (Lee et al. 2010). Mch2 $\beta$  prevents Casp6 activation but has no effect on active Casp6 (Lee et al. 2010). Targeting active Casp6 rather than preventing its activation would be a more effective approach for treating AD since active Casp6 accumulates before the onset of AD symptoms (Albrecht et al. 2007). Moreover, ARK5 regulates Casp6 activity through Ser257 phosphorylation (Suzuki et al. 2004). Casp6 phosphorylation prevents self-cleavage and downregulates

activated Casp6 (Cao et al. 2012, Velazquez-Delgado et al. 2012). However, enhancing ARK5 activity would also not be viable since its expression is associated with tumor formation and invasion (Suzuki et al. 2004).

A number of synthetic competitive Casp6 inhibitors have been developed. Recently, a competitive peptide-based Casp6 inhibitor was designed based on the Htt Casp6 cleavage site (Aharony et al. 2015). This peptide protects cells from mHtt-induced toxicity, and partially restores post-symptomatic behavioral and cognitive deficits in a Huntington mouse model (Aharony et al. 2015). However, this inhibitor may not be selective for Casp6 since the Htt cleavage site can be cleaved by other proteases (Wong et al. 2015). Recently, methylene blue was demonstrated to inhibit Casp6 through oxidation of the catalytic cysteine; however, it also inhibited Casp1 and Casp3 (Pakavathkumar et al. 2015). Additional competitive small molecule Casp6 inhibitors have also been developed, yet these are also non-selective since the active site is structurally similar amongst all caspases and Casp6 has overlapping substrate specificities with other caspases (James et al. 2004, Ekici et al. 2006, McStay et al. 2008).

An approach to develop selective inhibitors is to target allosteric sites unique to Casp6. A synthetic non-competitive peptide inhibitor identified through phage display on the zymogen form of Casp6 selectively inhibited Casp6 activity in neuronal cells (Stanger et al. 2012). But like most peptide inhibitors, this peptide had poor cell penetration properties. In addition, small molecule allosteric Casp6 inhibitors that bind at the dimer interface have also been reported to stabilize the inactive conformation to prevent activation (Murray et al. 2014). However, most of these molecules had poor binding affinity for active Casp6. Furthermore, uncompetitive Casp6 inhibitors have been developed and were demonstrated to be selective, but the ability of these compounds to bind to the enzyme is dependent upon certain substrate sequences (Heise et al. 2012). To our knowledge, no small molecule non-competitive allosteric inhibitors that downregulate activated Casp6 have been reported.

Here, we describe a novel human genetic approach used to identify a putative allosteric site on Casp6. An *in silico* screen of 77,000 diverse small molecules against this pocket identified fifty-four potential Casp6 inhibitors. Among these, compound **10** and its analogues were the most potent and selective Casp6 inhibitors. Kinetic analyses show that compound **10** acts through a non-competitive allosteric mechanism. In human colon carcinoma (HCT116) cells, these compounds are non-toxic and inhibit Casp6 activity. However, in HEK293T cells, they induce cytotoxicity. Extensive compound **10** analogue screens have shown compound **10P** to be our most potent inhibitor to date. Our data serves as a starting point for the development of a small molecule allosteric Casp6 inhibitor and also illustrates that screening of rare variants holds promise as a novel method for the identification of allosteric sites on other therapeutic targets in drug discovery.

# **2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

**Caspase Expression Constructs** – pET23b-Casp3-His (Addgene plasmid 11821), pET23b-Casp6-His (Addgene plasmid 11823), pET23b-Casp7-His (Addgene plasmid 11825), pET15b-Casp8 $\Delta$ DED (Addgene plasmid 11827) and pET23b-Casp9 (Addgene plasmid 11829) were a kind gift from Dr. Guy Salvesen (The Burnham Institute, La Jolla, CA, USA). Our lab cloned human Casp6p20p10 in the mammalian pCep4 $\beta$  vector (Klaiman et al. 2009).

**Recombinant Protein Purification** - Casp6 was expressed in the BL21(DE3)pLysS *E. coli* strain (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA). Overnight starter cultures were diluted 50x in 1 liter of 2X TY media with 100 µg ampicillin, and grown at 37°C until reaching an OD of 600 nm. Cultures were subsequently induced with 50 µM isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-1thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) (Bioshop Canada Inc., Burlington, Ontario, CA) and further grown overnight (~18 hours) at 30°C. Cells were pelleted by centrifugation 3,900 x g for 10 minutes and lysed in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 100 mM NaCl supplemented with 1 mg/ml lysozyme. Following sonication, cellular debris was removed through centrifugation at 18,000 x g and 4°C for 30 minutes. The supernatant was loaded onto a 5-mL Ni<sup>2+</sup> affinity column (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Baie D'Urfe, QC, CA). The column was washed with a buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0 and 500 mM NaCl. Casp6 was eluted in a buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl and 200 mM imidazole. The eluted fraction was diluted 10-fold in buffer A (20 mM Tris, pH 8.5, 2 mM dithiothreitol (DTT)) to reduce salt concentration. The protein sample was loaded onto a 5 mL Macro-Prep High Q column (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, CA) pre-washed with 1 X column volume of buffer B (20 mM Tris pH 8.5, 2mM DTT, 1 M NaCl) and subsequently with 4 X column volume of buffer A. The column was eluted with a linear NaCl gradient ranging between 80 - 260 nM. The eluted Casp6 fractions were analyzed by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Peak fractions containing Casp6 were pooled and concentrated by dialysis against polyethylene glycol (PEG) (SnakeSkin 7K MWCO Dialysis Tubing) at 4°C for several hours. The concentrated protein was stored at -80°C.

Measures of Recombinant Caspase-6 Activity - A fluorescence-based activity assay (Fig. 5) was used to measure *in vitro* Casp6 activity in a clear bottom black 96-well plate at 50 µL/well in triplicate at 37°C. RCasp6 (25 nM active site) was mixed with VEID-AFC (10 µM) in Stennicke's Buffer (SB) (20 mM piperazine-N, N-bis 2-ethanesulfonic acid (PIPES) (Bioshop) pH 7.2, 30 mM NaCl, 1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid 10 0.1% (EDTA), mМ DTT, 3-[(3-cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1propanesulfonate (CHAPS), 10% sucrose). The cleavage rate of VEID-AFC was measured in a Synergy H4 plate reader at an excitation wavelength of 380 nm and emission wavelength of 505 nm every sixty seconds for 80 minutes. Cleavage rates were calculated from the linear phase of the assay. Fluorescence units were converted to the amount of moles of AFC released based on a standard curve of  $0 - 25.0 \mu$ M free AFC. A two-step luminescence-based activity assay (Fig. 6) (Caspase-Glo ® 6, Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was used to confirm the potency of the initial hits and was performed according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Activity was quantified

**Titration of Active Sites in Purified Recombinant Caspase-6** – A 2/3 serial dilution of Q-VD-OPh (Millipore Canada, Etobicoke, ON, CA), an irreversible active site pan

through peak relative luminescence units after a thirty-minute incubation period at 37°C.

caspase inhibitor (Caserta et al. 2003), was prepared in Stennicke's Buffer (SB) within a bottom black 96-well plate. Casp6 concentration was estimated by clear spectrophotometry (NanoDrop 2000) and diluted in SB. Casp6 was mixed with Q-VD-OPh dilutions for a final concentration of 200 nM Casp6 with 100 µL/well in triplicate. The plate was incubated for 15 minutes at 37 °C. After the incubation period, 80 µL of each Casp6 / Q-VD-OPh solution was transferred into another clear bottom black 96-well plate containing 20 μL of 500 μM Ac-Val-Glu-Ile-Asp-7-Amino-4trifluoromethylcoumarin (Ac-VEID-AFC: Enzo Life Sciences, NY, USA) diluted in SB in each well. Enzyme activity was measured in a Synergy H4 plate reader at an excitation wavelength of 380 nm and emission wavelength 505 nm every thirty seconds for 30 minutes at 37°C. Cleavage rates were calculated as described above. Rate of activity was plotted against Q-VD-OPh concentration (Fig. 7A) and active site concentration was estimated by the x-intercept of the line extrapolating the tangent of the curve at low Q-VD-OPh concentration (Fig. 7B). Since the x-value (Q-VD-OPh concentration) when y=0 (100% inhibition) was averaged to be 187 nM (n=3), and the protein concentration in the well was 200 nM, the enzyme preparation was 93% active. Enzyme concentrations were adjusted accordingly for subsequent activity assays

**Measurement of Caspase-6 Inhibition -** The potency of hit compounds and analogues was quantified through single dose response screening. Compounds were added to RCasp6 (25 nM active site) in the above reaction conditions at a final concentration of 50  $\mu$ M or 100  $\mu$ M in 1% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The potency of inhibitors was measured by normalizing the rate of activity to a DMSO control condition. IC<sub>50</sub> values of the most potent compounds were determined by plotting relative activity (% DMSO control) to inhibitor concentrations ranging from 1 nM to 1 mM. The data was fitted to a dose response curve equation containing a -1 slope with top and bottom constraints of 1 and 0 respectively, using Prism 6.0 software.

**Selectivity Against Other Caspases -** Recombinant Casp3, Casp7, Casp8 and Casp9 were purified using standard purification techniques as described in (Garcia-Calvo et al. 1998) and active site titrated (data not shown). Casp1, Casp2, Casp4, Casp5, and Casp10
were obtained commercially (Biovision, Milpitas, CA, USA; Enzo Life Sciences) and concentrations were quantified using spectrophotometry (NanoDrop 2000). Fluorogenic assays were performed using preferred substrates (10  $\mu$ M) and the following enzyme concentrations: Ac-YVAD with 100 nM Casp1, Ac-VDVAD with 100 nM Casp2, Ac-DEVD-AFC with 5nM Casp3 and 25 nM Casp7, Ac-WEHD-AFC with 100 nM of Casp4 and Casp5, Ac-LETD-AFC with 100 nM Casp10. Caspase activity and inhibition were calculated as described above.

**Kinetic Analyses** - Compounds were added to 25 nM (active site) of RCasp6 and enzyme activity was measured with eight different Ac-VEID-AFC substrate concentrations (1.0  $\mu$ M – 200  $\mu$ M). The apparent  $K_m$  and  $V_{max}$  values for the substrate in the absence or presence of compounds were determined through non-linear regression analysis of Michaelis Menten plots (v vs. [S]). A double reciprocal plot (Lineweaver Burk plot) was also used to estimate  $K_m$  and  $V_{max}$  values through x-axis and y-axis intercepts, respectively. Additionally, IC<sub>50</sub> curves were generated (as described above) using varying concentrations of Ac-VEID-AFC substrate.

**Measures of Casp6 Cytotoxicity** - HCT116 and HEK293T cells were cultured in McCoy's 5A (Gibco) and Opti-Minimal essential media (MEM) (Gibco) respectively, supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). Cells were plated in 96-well plates at 10,000 cells per well in 100  $\mu$ L volume 24 hours before addition of DMSO or inhibitor. Cells were treated with DMSO or inhibitor for two hours and subsequently with 3-(4,5-dimethythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) (0.5  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ L) for four hours at 37°C. Absorbance was measured at 560 nm and 670 nm. Cell viability was measured relative to a 1% DMSO control condition.

**Transfection of Cell Lines** - HCT116 cells were plated in 6 well plates at 250,000 cells per well in 2 mL volumes 24 hours before transfection. Cells were transfected with 8µg polyethylenimine (PEI) and 1 µg pCep4 $\beta$ Casp6p20p10. HEK293T cells were plated in 12 well plates at 150,000 cells per well in 1 mL volumes 24 hours before transfection. Cells were transfected with 4  $\mu$ L of Lipofectamine<sup>2000</sup> (Invitrogen, CA, USA) reagent and 1.6  $\mu$ g pCep4 $\beta$ Casp6p20p10. Both cell lines were grown for an additional 24 hours before drug treatment.

Measures of Casp6 Activity in Cell Lysate - After DMSO or drug treatment, proteins were harvested in cell lysis buffer (50 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), 0.1% CHAPS, 100  $\mu$ M EDTA). Protein concentration was quantified with the Bradford method. Specific VEIDase activity was quantified by cleavage rate of Ac-VEID-AFC (measured as described above) in SB per  $\mu$ g of protein.

## 2.3. RESULTS

Compound 10 potently and selectively inhibits recombinant Casp6: Structural analysis of the identified Casp6 variants showed that the position of some of these amino acids line a pocket of low sequence conservation. Through the use of molecular docking calculations, an *in silico* screen of 77,000 diverse compounds was performed on the putative allosteric site. These compounds originated from curated commercial libraries (Chembridge Corporation and Sigma-Aldrich) as well as from the IRIC's medicinal chemistry platform in-house collection. To assess the potency of the hits identified by the in silico screen, a fluorescence-based activity assay was used to measure enzyme reaction rate. Amongst the Sigma-Aldrich commercial chemical library compounds (Table 1), 100  $\mu$ M of compound 10 inhibited Casp6 by ~95% (Fig. 8A). Data for compound 3 was not determined due to intrinsic fluorescence. The rate of activity could not be determined due to interference of the fluorescent signal. Data for compound 14 is also not shown because it was not available. With the other compounds only showing moderate inhibition, compound 10 was further pursued as our hit compound. Casp6 inhibition by compound 10 was confirmed through a two-step luminescence-based activity assay (Fig. 8B). Interestingly, compound 5 inhibits luciferase in this assay whereas compound 10 had no effect on luciferase (Fig. 9). Compound 10 exhibited an IC<sub>50</sub> of 23.1 µM (Fig. 8C). Compared to the other nine mammalian caspases, compound 10 shows a trend towards selective Casp6 inhibition (Fig. 8D). Compound 10 showed about two-fold selectivity at 20  $\mu$ M concentrations. The IC<sub>50</sub> values for compound **10** against Casp3, Casp7 and Casp8 also show a trend for selective Casp6 inhibition (Fig. 10; Table 2).

**Compound 10G is more potent than compound 10, but less selective:** To potentially identify a more potent Casp6 inhibitor, thirteen direct analogues of compound **10** were ordered from Chembridge Corporation (Table 3) and screened at a single dose of 50  $\mu$ M. All of the analogues tested were more potent than compound **10** with compound **10G** being the most potent, which inhibited Casp6 by ~93% (Fig. 11A). Data for compound **10A** and compound **10J** are absent due to intrinsic fluorescence. Compound **10G** exhibited an IC<sub>50</sub> of 2.75  $\mu$ M (Fig. 11B). Compound **10G** was also tested against the other nine caspases and showed potent inhibition of Casp2, Casp4 and Casp6 (Fig. 11C). Compound **10G** was confirmed to be the most potent compound since compound **10E** exhibited an IC<sub>50</sub> of 5.64  $\mu$ M (Fig. 10; Table 2). In addition, the IC<sub>50</sub> values for compound **10G** against Casp3, Casp6, Casp7 and Casp8 suggest that they are more selective for Casp6 (Fig. 10; Table 2).

**Compound 10P was identified as a non-PAIN Casp6 Inhibitor:** Structural analysis of compound **10** and compound **10G** revealed that they were pan assay interference compounds (PAINS) (Baell et al. 2010). These are compounds that appear as frequent hitters in many biochemical high throughput screens. The alkylidene barbiturate component of compound **10** (Fig 12A, panel i) and compound **10G** (Fig. 12A, panel ii) was reported to be highly reactive. Therefore, these compounds may not be inhibiting Casp6 in a drug-like way. To identify a non-PAIN Casp6 inhibitor, five compound **10** / **10G** analogues without the akylidene barbiturate component were identified (Table 3). Amongst these analogues, compound **10P** (Fig. 12A, panel iii) showed the most potent inhibition of Casp6 (Fig. 12B). Compound **10P** has a similar potency to compound **10** with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 31.4  $\mu$ M (Fig. 12C).

Compound 10G and compound 10P inhibit Casp6 through a non-competitive mechanism: Kinetic analyses were performed to assess the mechanism of inhibition of

these compounds. A Michaelis-Menten analysis of compound **10G** and compound **10P** showed decreases in  $V_{max}$  in a dose-dependent manner with minimal changes in  $K_m$  (Fig. 13A). This pattern of kinetic parameters was also observed in the double reciprocal plot (Fig. 13B). In addition, increasing VEID-AFC substrate concentration does not significantly affect the IC<sub>50</sub> of compound **10G** and compound **10P** (Fig. 13C), suggesting that inhibitor binding is unaffected by substrate binding and therefore acts through a non-competitive allosteric mechanism.

**Compound 10 and its analogues inhibit Casp6 in HCT116 Cells:** To assess the toxicity of these compounds on HCT116 cells, an MTT assay was performed after two-hour treatment with 100  $\mu$ M of inhibitor. Compound **10** and its analogues compound **10E** and compound **10G**, do not exhibit significant changes in cell viability relative to a DMSO control, whereas STS treatment induces cytotoxicity (Fig. 14A). The ability of these compounds to inhibit Casp6 within cells was tested by treating HCT116 cells overexpressing Casp6 for two hours with 100  $\mu$ M of each compound. Compound **10**, **10E** and **10G** did not significantly inhibit VEIDase activity but showed a trend towards some inhibition of Casp6 (Fig. 14B).

Compound 10 and its analogues do not inhibit Casp6 in HEK293T cells at sub-toxic doses: These compounds were also tested on HEK293T cells, a cell line known to have high transfection efficiency with Casp6. The toxicity of these compounds was initially tested at a single dose of 100  $\mu$ M compound using the MTT assay (Fig. 15A). Compound 10 and its analogues induced cytotoxicity in HEK293T cells after two hours of treatment. To find the sub-toxic doses of compound 10, 10G and 10P, cells were treated with doses of each inhibitor ranging from 1  $\mu$ M to 100  $\mu$ M (Fig. 15B). The sub-toxic doses were 5  $\mu$ M for compound 10, 1  $\mu$ M for compound 10G and 10  $\mu$ M for compound 10P. To determine if treatment time had an effect on cell viability, cells were treated at sub-toxic doses for times ranging from thirty minutes to twenty-four hours (Fig. 15C). Treatment for as long as twenty-four hours did not induce cytotoxicity. To test Casp6 inhibition *in cellulo*, HEK293T cells were treated with these compounds at sub-toxic doses for two,

four or eight hours (Fig. 15D). The compounds did not have any effect on VEIDase activity under these conditions.



**Figure 5** | **Schematic of the** *In Vitro* **Fluorescence-Based Activity Assay.** Purified Casp6 (25 nM) was incubated with Ac-VEID-AFC and inhibitor at 37°C in a Synergy H4 plate reader. The rate of activity was measured by the amount of cleaved AFC every minute for eighty minutes. See materials and methods for details.



Figure 6 | Schematic of the Two-Step *In Vitro* Luminescence-Based Activity Assay. Purified Casp6 (25 nM) was incubated with Z-VEID-aminoluciferin and inhibitor at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a Synergy H4 plate reader. Readout is dependent on the amount of cleaved aminoluciferin reacting with luciferase together with the co-factors ATP, Mg<sup>2+</sup> and O<sub>2</sub>.



Figure 7 | Casp6 was titrated with Q-VD-OPh to estimate its active site concentration. (A) Reaction rate of 200 nM Casp6 incubated with different concentrations of Q-VD-OPh  $(0 - 1 \mu M)$  using Ac-VEID-AFC (100  $\mu M$ ) as a substrate. The bracket indicates the values used to obtain the active Casp6 concentration. (B) Linear regression of the values used to estimate active site titration. Graphs represent one of three independent experiments.



Figure 8 | Compound 10 inhibits active Casp6 potently and selectively. Relative activity of RCasp6 treated with DMSO (1%), Q-VD-OPh (5  $\mu$ M) and small molecule inhibitors (100  $\mu$ M) originating from the Sigma-Aldrich Library using a (A) fluorescence- and (B) luminescence-based activity assay. (C) Dose response curve of RCasp6 activity with varying concentrations of compound 10. Activity is shown relative to a DMSO control. (D) Relative activity of recombinant Casp-1 to -10 treated with compound 10 (50  $\mu$ M). For each caspase, activity is shown relative to a DMSO control. Data represent the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation.



Figure 9 | Luciferase is inhibited by compound 5 but not by compound 10. Bars show peak relative luminescence units after D-luciferin (10 nM) addition to luciferase after incubation with 1% DMSO (black bar), 100  $\mu$ M compound 5 (light grey bar) and 100  $\mu$ M compound 10 (dark grey bar). Readings were done in triplicate. Data represents one trial (n=1).



Figure 10 | The selectivity of compounds 10, 10E and 10G were confirmed through their  $IC_{50}$  values against other recombinant caspases. Dose response curves of Casp3, Casp6, Casp7, and Casp8 activity with varying concentrations of compound 10, 10E and 10G. Activity is shown relative to a 1 % DMSO control. Each curve represents the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation.



Figure 11 | An analogue of compound 10, compound 10G, inhibits active Casp6 more potently but less selectively. (A) Relative activity of RCasp6 treated with DMSO (1%), Q-VD-OPh (5  $\mu$ M) and compound 10 analogues (50  $\mu$ M) using the fluorescence-based activity assay. (B) Dose response curve of Casp6 activity with varying concentrations of compound 10G. Activity is shown relative to a 1% DMSO control. (C) Relative activity of recombinant Casp-1 to -10 treated with compound 10G (50  $\mu$ M). For each caspase, activity is shown relative to a 1% DMSO control. Data represent the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation.



Figure 12 | A non-PAIN compound 10G analogue, compound 10P, inhibits active Casp6. (A) Structures of i) compound 10, ii) compound 10G and iii) compound 10P (B) Relative activity of RCasp6 treated with DMSO (1%), Q-VD-OPh (5  $\mu$ M) and small molecule inhibitors (50  $\mu$ M) using the fluorescence-based activity assay. (C) Dose response curve of Casp6 activity with varying concentrations of compound 10P. Activity is shown relative to a 1 % DMSO control. Data represent the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation. Statistical difference between DMSO and addition of compounds was determined by one-way ANOVA p < 0.0001.



Figure 13 | Compounds 10G and 10P inhibit active Casp6 through a noncompetitive allosteric mechanism. (A) Michaelis-Menten kinetics plots of Casp6 enzymatic activity in the presence of compound 10G ( $2.5 \mu$ M, filled squares;  $5.0 \mu$ M, filled triangles) and compound 10P ( $50 \mu$ M, filled squares;  $100 \mu$ M, filled triangles). Filled circles represent a 1% DMSO control. Data represents the average of three independent experiments, and error bars represent standard deviation. (B) Lineweaver-Burk double reciprocal transformation of the concentration response curves in A. (C) IC<sub>50</sub> of compounds 10G and 10P with increasing concentrations of Ac-VEID-AFC substrate. Data represents three independent experiments for each concentration. There was no statistical significance between each concentration when using a one-way ANOVA p < 0.0001.



Compound (100 µM)

Figure 14 | Compound 10 and its analogues show a trend towards Casp6 inhibition in HCT116 cells without inducing cytotoxicity. (A) Viability of HCT116 cells after two hour treatment with STS (1  $\mu$ M) or inhibitor (100  $\mu$ M). Cell viability is expressed relative to a 1% DMSO control. (B) VEIDase activity of non-transfected (NT) or Casp6 transfected HCT116 cells after two hour treatment with VEID-fmk (5  $\mu$ M) or inhibitors (100  $\mu$ M). VEIDase activity is expressed relative to a 1% DMSO control. Data represents the average of three independent experiments and error bars represent standard deviation. Statistical difference between DMSO and addition of compounds was determined by oneway ANOVA p < 0.0001.



Figure 15 | Compound 10 and its analogues do not inhibit Casp6 activity in HEK293T cells at sub-toxic doses. (A) Cell viability after two-hour treatment with DMSO or inhibitor (100  $\mu$ M) as determined by the MTT assay. Cell viability is expressed relative to a 1% DMSO control. (B) Cell viability after two-treatment with compound 10, 10G and 10P (1 – 100  $\mu$ M) (compound 10, black bars; compound 10G, light grey bars; compound 10P, dark grey bars) (C) Viability of cells treated for varying times (0.5 – 24 hours) with compound 10 (5  $\mu$ M), compound 10G (1  $\mu$ M) and compound 10P (10  $\mu$ M) (compound 10, black bars; compound 10P, dark grey bars). (D) VEIDase activity of lysate from non-transfected (NT) and Casp6 transfected cells treated with compound 10 (5  $\mu$ M), compound 10G (1  $\mu$ M) and compound 10P (10  $\mu$ M) for 2 – 8 hours. Data for each panel represents three independent experiments. Statistical difference between DMSO and addition of compounds was determined by one-way ANOVA p < 0.0001.

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
1		376.45	3.19	4	2	5	35.12
2		443.52	5.09	4	1	7	54.09
3		426.47	6.86	5	0	4	N.D.
4		467.61	6.66	3	1	5	71.57
5		412.89	5.8	5	1	5	7.21
6		461.04	5.53	5	1	4	46.55
7		463.98	5.93	5	1	5	32.35

Table 1. Structures and inhibition data of hit compounds from Sigma Library

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
8		395.46	4.36	4	0	7	55.86
9		394.41	2.32	5	1	9	41.92
10		476.48	2	7	2	10	93.93
11	H <sub>2</sub> N-U S-U p	369.41	3.14	4	3	5	44.51
12		489.93	3.45	3	1	6	46.33
13		434.49	5.46	5	2	6	42.38
14		496.58	4.16	6	1	7	N.D.

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
15		420.85	4.48	4	2	7	7.93

A – Rotatable Bonds

B – Hydrogen Bond Donors C – Hydrogen Bond Acceptors D – Mean Inhibition (%) of 25 nM (active site) RCasp6 treated with 100  $\mu$ M of inhibitor relative to a DMSO control (n =3)

N.D. – Not determined due to intrinsic fluorescence

Duotooso	IC <sub>50</sub> (μM)						
rrotease	10	10E	10G				
Caspase-3	1043	308	136				
Caspase-6	23.1	4.66	2.75				
Caspase-7	188	154	68.0				
Caspase-8	570	1603	62.6				

Table 2.  $IC_{50}$  values of compound 10, 10E and 10G against recombinant caspases

(n = 3 for each value)

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
10A		482.46	3.88	5	2	8	N.D.
10B		392.36	0.86	4	3	9	86.42
10C		460.48	2.29	5	1	9	85.91
10D		446.46	1.93	5	1	9	90.83
10E		462.45	1.07	5	1	10	93.07
10F		464.47	1.47	9	2	10	89.12
10G		472.45	1.86	7	2	10	94.30

Table 3. Structures and Inhibition data of compound 10 analogues

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
10H		450.44	1.12	8	2	10	76.98
101	$ \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 0 \\ s \\ H \\ H \\ c \\ 0 \\ - \\ 0 \\ - \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$	466.51	1.72	8	2	9	67.76
10J		498.55	3.37	7	2	8	N.D.
10K		478.52	1.67	5	1	9	84.16
10L		492.55	2.27	7	2	9	89.30
10M		474.51	2.72	5	1	9	87.67

A – Rotatable Bonds

B – Hydrogen Bond Donors
C – Hydrogen Bond Acceptors
D – Mean Inhibition (%) of 25 nM (active site) RCasp6 treated with 50 μM of inhibitor relative to a DMSO control (n =3)

N.D. – Not determined due to intrinsic fluorescence

Compound	Structure	MW	logP	RB <sup>a</sup>	HBD <sup>b</sup>	HBA <sup>c</sup>	% Inhibition <sup>d</sup>
10N		316.35	1.71	6	1	6	6.20
100		362.42	3.2	6	1	5	9.96
10P		388.42	3.42	8	1	6	77.81
10Q		326.39	1.99	6	1	5	2.68
10R		368.47	3.62	6	1	5	29.47

Table 4. Structures and Inhibition Data of Non-PAIN compound 10 analogues

A – Rotatable Bonds

B – Hydrogen Bond Donors

C – Hydrogen Bond Acceptors D – Mean Inhibition (%) of 25 nM (active site) RCasp6 treated with 50  $\mu$ M of inhibitor relative to a DMSO control (n = 3)

## **2.4. DISCUSSION**

Caspases are therapeutic targets of keen interest because of their critical roles in apoptosis, inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. Targeting the active site of caspases has proven to be an arduous approach as no active site inhibitors have yet succeeded in navigating human clinical trials. The development of selective active site inhibitors is challenging because of the high sequence conservation of the active site amongst the caspase family (Stennicke et al. 1999). In addition, peptide substrate inhibitors have been developed based on the substrate preferences of each caspase; however, the fluoromethylketone moiety often attached to these inhibitors to irreversibly inhibit caspase activity are toxic in vivo (Eichhold et al. 1997). To identify selective Casp6 inhibitors, we ran an *in silico* screen against an allosteric site that exhibits low sequence conservation. In this study, we demonstrated that (i) Casp6 activity is modulated by the small molecules identified through an *in silico* screen, (ii) the most potent inhibitors show selectivity for Casp6, (iii) the inhibitors act through a noncompetitive mode of inhibition and (iv) these inhibitors show a trend toward Casp6 inhibition in HCT116 cells, whereas they induce cytotoxicity in HEK293T cells. Collectively, these observations validate our novel genetic approach for the identification of allosteric inhibitors that act at a previously uncharacterized site.

In regard to the method used to identify these inhibitors, to our knowledge, no previous studies have taken advantage of rare Casp6 variants to identify an allosteric pocket. Rare variant forms of enzymes often have different binding properties than their WT counterparts. A well-known example of this phenomenon occurs in sickle cell disease in which a single amino acid substitution causes a conformational change within hemoglobin that impairs its ability to carry oxygen (Rees et al. 2010). Previous work done in our lab showed that variants of human Casp6 have reduced catalytic activity due to decreased binding affinity for the substrate. These were used in molecular modeling to identify a non-conserved allosteric pocket formed by these amino acids, and an *in silico* screen was subsequently run against this pocket to identify potential inhibitors (collaboration with Anne Marinier, Alex Beautrait, IRIC). *In silico* screening has previously been used as a tool for the identification of an active site Casp3 inhibitor

(Ganesan et al. 2011) and for the identification of an allosteric Casp8 activator that mediates its dimerization (Bucur et al. 2015). Herein, we are the first to report the use of *in silico* screening to identify allosteric inhibitors against the active conformation of Casp6. By contrast, previously reported allosteric Casp6 inhibitors have been identified through the zymogen conformation of Casp6. An allosteric peptide that inhibits Casp6 activity through the tetramerization of two Casp6 dimers was identified using phage display against the zymogen form of Casp6 (Stanger et al. 2012). Interestingly, the peptide could not be identified from phage panning the active conformation of Casp6 (Stanger et al. 2012). In addition, a fragment merging strategy was employed against zymogen Casp6 to identify nanomolar affinity small molecules that stabilize the zymogen conformation but did not yield as many hits (Murray et al. 2014). Therefore, *in silico* screening against zymogen Casp6 could be of interest for the potential identification of additional hits that regulate Casp6 activation.

Most of the compounds identified through the *in silico* screen showed inhibition of Casp6 through the fluorescence-based activity assay. However, only one compound could be validated with the luminescence-based activity assay. This difference could be explained by the readout of each assay. The fluorescence assay measures the rate activity whereas the luminescence assay is an endpoint assay that measures the amount of substrate cleaved. The inhibitors that were hits in the fluorescence assay but not in the luminescence assay may have slowed down the rate of reaction, but may not have had an effect on the total amount of substrate cleaved by the end of the assay. Since compound 10 was our only hit in both assays, we pursued it further and identified a direct analogue that was ten times more potent, compound 10G. From this novel approach, we identified an inhibitor within the single-digit micromolar range. However, a major limitation of this study is that the *in silico* screen did not filter out PAINS. Compound 10 and compound 10G are classified as a PAINS because their alkylidene barbiturate functional group comes up as a hit for inhibiting multiple drug targets such as glycosyl transferase MurG (Hu et al. 2004), glycogen synthase kinase 3ß (Kim et al. 2008), HIV-1 integrase (Rajamaki et al. 2009), tyrosine kinase p56 (Huang et al. 2004) and retinoid x receptor  $\alpha$  (Park et al. 2008). The alkylidene barbiturate group is highly reactive and acts as a redox cycler since it is easily reduced and oxidized by thiol (Tanaka et al. 1987, Tanaka et al. 1988, Meissner et al. 1994). In addition, compounds containing an alkylidene barbiturate group can act as TNF $\alpha$  antagonists when exposed to light (Voss et al. 2003). Furthermore, the alkylidene barbiturate containing dye mercocyanine 540 causes protein damage when exposed to light (Pervaiz et al. 1992). Therefore, compound **10** and compound **10G** are not stable and may be inhibiting Casp6 in a non-drug like manner.

Despite being PAINS, compound 10 and compound 10G shows some selectivity for Casp6 thereby supporting our hypothesis that the inhibitors are acting at the postulated allosteric pocket. Relative to the other caspases, compound 10 inhibited Casp6 two- to three-fold more potently than all the other caspases tested. In addition, compound 10 and compound **10G** showed minimal inhibition of the other apoptotic effector caspases. Similarly, the allosteric peptide developed by Stanger et al. showed inhibition of intracellular Casp6 activity but not Casp3 activity; however, the effect of this peptide on other mammalian caspases was not investigated (Stanger et al. 2012). Interestingly, compound 10G potently inhibited Casp4 (Fig. 11). An alignment of Casp4 with Casp6 showed that the amino acids that line the allosteric pocket in Casp6 are similar to the amino acids in Casp4, suggesting that Casp4 could have a pocket of similar tertiary architecture. Casp4 may have a dispensable physiological role but its function is poorly defined. Casp4 is the human paralogue of mouse Casp11. In mice, Casp11 is essential for Casp1 activation (Wang et al. 1998); therefore, in humans, Casp4 inhibition could potentially inhibit Casp1 activation. Interestingly, Casp1 has recently been implicated in the activation of Casp6 in AD CNS neurons through the NLRP1-Casp1-Casp6 pathway (Kaushal et al. 2015). In addition, Casp4 may also have a role in AD neuropathology. In AD brains, Casp4 expression is increased two-fold in the early stages of neuritic pathology and this elevation remains throughout AD progression (Buxbaum et al. 2009). Moreover, Casp4 expression also correlates with progressive cognitive decline (Buxbaum et al. 2009). Casp4 also has a role in A $\beta$ -induced apoptosis and ER-stress induced cell death (Hitomi et al. 2004). In response to ER stress, Casp4 expression and activation is increased (Hitomi et al. 2004), and in both sporadic and familial AD, ER stress can induce neuronal cell death (Katayama et al. 2004). These findings suggest that neuronal stress induces Casp4 activation to mediate neuronal cell death in AD. Therefore, inhibition of both Casp4 and Casp6 may be more advantageous for the treatment of AD. A limitation for the selectivity assays is that some of the caspases, such as Casp4, were not titrated since they were purchased from companies. The concentrations of enzymes were measured using spectrophotometry. It is possible that the non-titrated commercially available enzymes lost some of their activity over time and that compound **10G** may not be a potent inhibitor of these caspases.

The kinetic analyses indicate that these inhibitors act through a non-competitive allosteric mechanism, thereby lending further support for their action at the allosteric site. Our conclusion derived from the simplified Michaelis Menten kinetics analysis was supported by the observation that increasing the concentration of the substrate VEID-AFC had no effect on the  $IC_{50}$  of compound **10G** and compound **10P** (Fig. 13). In addition, our docking models show that binding of compound **10P** to the allosteric site is feasible. However, a limitation to this study is the absence of a crystal structure. The molecular details of compound **10G**- and compound **10P**-mediated Casp6 inhibition are not known at this time. We speculate that the inhibitors are inducing and stabilizing a conformation that is similar to at least one of the variant conformations.

The compounds were tested in immortal cell lines to determine their toxicity and to determine their capacity to cross the lipid membrane and inhibit Casp6 activity. In the HCT116 cell line, these compounds were non-toxic and there was a trend toward Casp6 inhibition; however this was non-significant. The apparent loss in potency of these compounds could be due to their reactivity. Compound **10** and its direct analogues all contain an unstable PAIN structure (Baell et al. 2010). These compounds could possibly be reacting with components in the cellular media to make it less lipid soluble. In addition, the compound to bind to or inhibit Casp6. These compounds were later tested in the HEK293T cell line due to their increased transfection efficiency. Surprisingly, these compounds induced cytotoxicity within these cells with the same dose

tested in the HCT116 cells. The difference in toxicity between the HCT116 and HEK293T cell lines is puzzling. It is possible that these compounds may be reacting with a component present in MEM used to culture HEK293T cells but not with anything in McCoys 5A media used to culture HCT116 cells. Alternatively, the compounds may be reacting with an intracellular component within HEK293T cells that is essential for their viability while the same component in HCT116 cells is not expressed or plays a less essential role for cell viability. When tested at sub-toxic doses, these compounds had no effect on Casp6 activity. These results are not surprising since the sub-toxic doses are well below their IC<sub>50</sub> values and also because it is likely that not all of the compound is passing through the lipid bilayer. Although the *in cellulo* analyses did not yield positive results, the data suggests that these compounds induce cytotoxicity in certain cell types; therefore, these compounds may not induce cytotoxicity within neurons. The use of primary mouse or human neurons would have been a better model for this project. Ideally, our hit compound would be able to reverse APP-induced neurodegeneration in primary human neurons without inducing cytotoxicity. Surprisingly, most of the previously identified allosteric Casp6 inhibitors have not been tested in cells. The allosteric peptide identified by Stanger et al. showed selective Casp6 inhibition in neuronal cells, but they neglected to show the toxicity profile of the peptide (Stanger et al. 2012). In addition, the peptide has poor cell penetration properties and was administered through electroporation. Therefore, it is unlikely that this peptide could be used in a therapeutic setting.

To date, compound **10P** is our most potent non-PAIN compound; however, the potency of compound **10P** is not considered ideal as a drug candidate. A considerable amount of work remains to be done, as medicinal chemistry will be needed to optimize the compound in several ways. First, the binding affinity and inhibitory properties of the compound will need to be modified to achieve an  $IC_{50}$  in the nanomolar range. Second, the binding affinity of the compound will need to be modified to be modified to be modified to make it more selective for Casp6 and less selective for other caspases. Third, the toxicity of the compound will need to be reduced. Fourth, the lipid solubility will need to be increased so that it can easily surpass the blood brain barrier.

Casp6 inhibition is a relatively novel approach to prevent AD progression and agedependent cognitive impairment. In regard to selectivity, allosteric inhibitors represent a more favorable avenue than active site inhibitors. We have demonstrated that small molecule allosteric inhibitors can indeed be used to selectivity inhibit Casp6. Our findings serve as a starting point for the development of a Casp6 inhibitor that could potentially be used for preclinical evaluation someday. More importantly, our study provides a template for a novel approach to identify potential regulatory sites on other drug targets. We conclude that taking advantage of mutagenesis data together with structural analyses may hold promise as an approach for the development of novel therapeutics.

## **III. CONCLUSION**

The results from this thesis serve as preliminary data for the development of an allosteric small molecule Casp6 inhibitor. The compounds are far from the stage of preclinical evaluation and future experiments will need to take advantage of medicinal chemistry to make them more specific for Casp6, increase their potencies to nanomolar concentrations, ensure that they are non-toxic and that they cross the blood brain barrier.

More importantly, the results from this thesis also validate a novel approach for the identification of allosteric sites on drug targets. The work described herein provides a framework for the identification of allosteric inhibitors against other potential drug targets and also cautions investigators about the PAINs of drug discovery.

## REFERENCES

(1993). "A novel gene containing a trinucleotide repeat that is expanded and unstable on Huntington's disease chromosomes. The Huntington's Disease Collaborative Research Group." Cell 72(6): 971-983.

Acehan, D., X. Jiang, D. G. Morgan, J. E. Heuser, X. Wang and C. W. Akey (2002). "Three-dimensional structure of the apoptosome: implications for assembly, procaspase-9 binding, and activation." Mol Cell 9(2): 423-432.

Adrain, C., B. M. Murphy and S. J. Martin (2005). "Molecular ordering of the caspase activation cascade initiated by the cytotoxic T lymphocyte/natural killer (CTL/NK) protease granzyme B." J Biol Chem 280(6): 4663-4673.

Aharony, I., D. E. Ehrnhoefer, A. Shruster, X. Qiu, S. Franciosi, M. R. Hayden and D. Offen (2015). "A Huntingtin-based peptide inhibitor of caspase-6 provides protection from mutant Huntingtin-induced motor and behavioral deficits." Hum Mol Genet 24(9): 2604-2614.

Akpan, N., E. Serrano-Saiz, B. E. Zacharia, M. L. Otten, A. F. Ducruet, S. J. Snipas, W. Liu, J. Velloza, G. Cohen, S. A. Sosunov, W. H. Frey, 2nd, G. S. Salvesen, E. S. Connolly, Jr. and C. M. Troy (2011). "Intranasal delivery of caspase-9 inhibitor reduces caspase-6-dependent axon/neuron loss and improves neurological function after stroke." J Neurosci 31(24): 8894-8904.

Albin, R. L., A. Reiner, K. D. Anderson, L. S. t. Dure, B. Handelin, R. Balfour, W. O. Whetsell, Jr., J. B. Penney and A. B. Young (1992). "Preferential loss of striato-external pallidal projection neurons in presymptomatic Huntington's disease." Ann Neurol 31(4): 425-430.

Albin, R. L., A. B. Young, J. B. Penney, B. Handelin, R. Balfour, K. D. Anderson, D. S. Markel, W. W. Tourtellotte and A. Reiner (1990). "Abnormalities of Striatal Projection Neurons and N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptors in Presymptomatic Huntington's Disease." N Engl J Med 322(18): 1293-1298.

Albrecht, S., N. Bogdanovic, B. Ghetti, B. Winblad and A. C. LeBlanc (2009). "Caspase-6 activation in familial alzheimer disease brains carrying amyloid precursor protein or presenilin i or presenilin II mutations." J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 68(12): 1282-1293.

Albrecht, S., M. Bourdeau, D. Bennett, E. J. Mufson, M. Bhattacharjee and A. C. LeBlanc (2007). "Activation of caspase-6 in aging and mild cognitive impairment." Am J Pathol 170(4): 1200-1209.

Allan, L. A. and P. R. Clarke (2007). "Phosphorylation of caspase-9 by CDK1/cyclin B1 protects mitotic cells against apoptosis." Mol Cell 26(2): 301-310.

Allan, L. A., N. Morrice, S. Brady, G. Magee, S. Pathak and P. R. Clarke (2003). "Inhibition of caspase-9 through phosphorylation at Thr 125 by ERK MAPK." Nat Cell Biol 5(7): 647-654.

Allen, P. B., C. C. Ouimet and P. Greengard (1997). "Spinophilin, a novel protein phosphatase 1 binding protein localized to dendritic spines." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(18): 9956-9961.

Allsopp, T. E., J. McLuckie, L. E. Kerr, M. Macleod, J. Sharkey and J. S. Kelly (2000). "Caspase 6 activity initiates caspase 3 activation in cerebellar granule cell apoptosis." Cell Death Differ 7(10): 984-993.

Alnemri, E. S., D. J. Livingston, D. W. Nicholson, G. Salvesen, N. A. Thornberry, W. W. Wong and J. Yuan (1996). "Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature." Cell 87(2): 171.

Alvarado-Kristensson, M. and T. Andersson (2005). "Protein phosphatase 2A regulates apoptosis in neutrophils by dephosphorylating both p38 MAPK and its substrate caspase 3." J Biol Chem 280(7): 6238-6244.

Alvarado-Kristensson, M., F. Melander, K. Leandersson, L. R<sup>nnstrand</sup>, C. Wernstedt and T. Andersson (2004). "p38-MAPK signals survival by phosphorylation of caspase-8 and caspase-3 in human neutrophils." J Exp Med 199(4): 449-458.

Association, A. (2016). "2016 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures." Alzheimers Dement 12(4): 459-509.

Baell, J. B. and G. A. Holloway (2010). "New substructure filters for removal of pan assay interference compounds (PAINS) from screening libraries and for their exclusion in bioassays." J Med Chem 53(7): 2719-2740.

Bandopadhyay, R., A. E. Kingsbury, M. R. Cookson, A. R. Reid, I. M. Evans, A. D. Hope, A. M. Pittman, T. Lashley, R. Canet-Aviles, D. W. Miller, C. McLendon, C. Strand, A. J. Leonard, P. M. Abou-Sleiman, D. G. Healy, H. Ariga, N. W. Wood, R. de Silva, T. Revesz, J. A. Hardy and A. J. Lees (2004). "The expression of DJ-1 (PARK7) in normal human CNS and idiopathic Parkinson's disease." Brain 127(Pt 2): 420-430.

Banwait, S., V. Galvan, J. Zhang, O. F. Gorostiza, M. Ataie, W. Huang, D. Crippen, E. H. Koo and D. E. Bredesen (2008). "C-terminal cleavage of the amyloid-beta protein precursor at Asp664: a switch associated with Alzheimer's disease." J Alzheimers Dis 13(1): 1-16.

Baumgartner, R., G. Meder, C. Briand, A. Decock, A. D'Arcy, U. Hassiepen, R. Morse and M. Renatus (2009). "The crystal structure of caspase-6, a selective effector of axonal degeneration." Biochem J 423(3): 429-439.

Berta, T., C. K. Park, Z. Z. Xu, R. G. Xie, T. Liu, N. Lu, Y. C. Liu and R. R. Ji (2014). "Extracellular caspase-6 drives murine inflammatory pain via microglial TNF-alpha secretion." J Clin Invest 124(3): 1173-1186. Besnault-Mascard, L., C. Leprince, M. T. Auffredou, B. Meunier, M. F. Bourgeade, J. Camonis, H. K. Lorenzo and A. Vazquez (2005). "Caspase-8 sumoylation is associated with nuclear localization." Oncogene 24(20): 3268-3273.

Black, R. A., S. R. Kronheim and P. R. Sleath (1989). "Activation of interleukin-1 beta by a co-induced protease." FEBS Lett 247(2): 386-390.

Blanchard, H., L. Kodandapani, P. R. E. Mittl, S. D. Marco, J. F. Krebs, J. C. Wu, K. J. Tomaselli and M. G. Gr,tter (1999). "The three-dimensional structure of caspase-8: an initiator enzyme in apoptosis." Structure 7(9): 1125-1133.

Braak, H. and E. Braak (1997). "Frequency of stages of Alzheimer-related lesions in different age categories." Neurobiol Aging 18(4): 351-357.

Brady, S. C., L. A. Allan and P. R. Clarke (2005). "Regulation of caspase 9 through phosphorylation by protein kinase C zeta in response to hyperosmotic stress." Mol Cell Biol 25(23): 10543-10555.

Brady, S. T. (1985). "A novel brain ATPase with properties expected for the fast axonal transport motor." Nature 317(6032): 73-75.

Bucur, O., G. Gaidos, A. Yatawara, B. Pennarun, C. Rupasinghe, J. Roux, S. Andrei, B. Guo, A. Panaitiu, M. Pellegrini, D. F. Mierke and R. Khosravi-Far (2015). "A novel caspase 8 selective small molecule potentiates TRAIL-induced cell death." Sci Rep 5: 9893.

Buxbaum, J. D., Y. Kajiwara, T. Sakurai, V. Haroutunian, G. Elder, M. G. Sosa, A. Akram and P. Katsel (2009). "Caspase-4 as a key factor in Alzheimer pathology." Alzheimers Dement 5(4, Supplement): P483.

Byun, Y., F. Chen, R. Chang, M. Trivedi, K. J. Green and V. L. Cryns (2001). "Caspase cleavage of vimentin disrupts intermediate filaments and promotes apoptosis." Cell Death Differ 8(5): 443-450.

Cade, C. E. and A. C. Clark (2015). Caspases – Key Players in Apoptosis. Proteases in Apoptosis: Pathways, Protocols and Translational Advances. K. Bose. Cham, Springer International Publishing: 31-51.

Cao, Q., X. J. Wang, L. F. Li and X. D. Su (2014). "The regulatory mechanism of the caspase 6 pro-domain revealed by crystal structure and biochemical assays." Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 70: 58-67.

Cao, Q., X. J. Wang, C. W. Liu, D. F. Liu, L. F. Li, Y. Q. Gao and X. D. Su (2012). "Inhibitory mechanism of caspase-6 phosphorylation revealed by crystal structures, molecular dynamics simulations, and biochemical assays." J Biol Chem 287(19): 15371-15379. Cardone, M. H., N. Roy, H. R. Stennicke, G. S. Salvesen, T. F. Franke, E. Stanbridge, S. Frisch and J. C. Reed (1998). "Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation." Science 282(5392): 1318-1321.

Caserta, T. M., A. N. Smith, A. D. Gultice, M. A. Reedy and T. L. Brown (2003). "Q-VD-OPh, a broad spectrum caspase inhibitor with potent antiapoptotic properties." Apoptosis 8(4): 345-352.

Caulin, C., G. S. Salvesen and R. G. Oshima (1997). "Caspase cleavage of keratin 18 and reorganization of intermediate filaments during epithelial cell apoptosis." J Cell Biol 138(6): 1379-1394.

Cerretti, D. P., C. J. Kozlosky, B. Mosley, N. Nelson, K. Van Ness, T. A. Greenstreet, C. J. March, S. R. Kronheim, T. Druck and L. A. Cannizzaro (1992). "Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme." Science 256(5053): 97-100.

Chai, F., A. Q. Truong-Tran, A. Evdokiou, G. P. Young and P. D. Zalewski (2000). "Intracellular zinc depletion induces caspase activation and p21 Waf1/Cip1 cleavage in human epithelial cell lines." J Infect Dis 182 Suppl 1: S85-92.

Chai, J., E. Shiozaki, S. M. Srinivasula, Q. Wu, P. Datta, E. S. Alnemri and Y. Shi (2001). "Structural basis of caspase-7 inhibition by XIAP." Cell 104(5): 769-780.

Chan, Y. W., Y. Chen and R. Y. Poon (2009). "Generation of an indestructible cyclin B1 by caspase-6-dependent cleavage during mitotic catastrophe." Oncogene 28(2): 170-183.

Checinska, A., G. Giaccone, J. A. Rodriguez, F. A. Kruyt and C. R. Jimenez (2009). "Comparative proteomics analysis of caspase-9-protein complexes in untreated and cytochrome c/dATP stimulated lysates of NSCLC cells." J Proteomics 72(4): 575-585.

Chekeni, F. B., M. R. Elliott, J. K. Sandilos, S. F. Walk, J. M. Kinchen, E. R. Lazarowski, A. J. Armstrong, S. Penuela, D. W. Laird, G. S. Salvesen, B. E. Isakson, D. A. Bayliss and K. S. Ravichandran (2010). "Pannexin 1 channels mediate 'find-me' signal release and membrane permeability during apoptosis." Nature 467(7317): 863-867.

Chen, F., R. Chang, M. Trivedi, Y. Capetanaki and V. L. Cryns (2003). "Caspase proteolysis of desmin produces a dominant-negative inhibitor of intermediate filaments and promotes apoptosis." J Biol Chem 278(9): 6848-6853.

Chen, G. G., U. P. Chan, L. C. Bai, K. Y. Fung, A. Tessier, A. K. To, J. L. Merchant and P. B. Lai (2009). "ZBP-89 reduces the cell death threshold in hepatocellular carcinoma cells by increasing caspase-6 and S phase cell cycle arrest." Cancer Lett 283(1): 52-58.

Cho, J. H., P. Y. Lee, W. C. Son, S. W. Chi, B. C. Park, J. H. Kim and S. G. Park (2013). "Identification of the novel substrates for caspase-6 in apoptosis using proteomic approaches." BMB Rep 46(12): 588-593.

Chu, G. K., W. Yu and M. G. Fehlings (2007). "The p75 neurotrophin receptor is essential for neuronal cell survival and improvement of functional recovery after spinal cord injury." Neuroscience 148(3): 668-682.

Chu, W., J. Rothfuss, Y. Chu, D. Zhou and R. H. Mach (2009). "Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of sulfonamide isatin Michael acceptors as small molecule inhibitors of caspase-6." J Med Chem 52(8): 2188-2191.

Chun, H. J., L. Zheng, M. Ahmad, J. Wang, C. K. Speirs, R. M. Siegel, J. K. Dale, J. Puck, J. Davis, C. G. Hall, S. Skoda-Smith, T. P. Atkinson, S. E. Straus and M. J. Lenardo (2002). "Pleiotropic defects in lymphocyte activation caused by caspase-8 mutations lead to human immunodeficiency." Nature 419(6905): 395-399.

Coleman, M. L., E. A. Sahai, M. Yeo, M. Bosch, A. Dewar and M. F. Olson (2001). "Membrane blebbing during apoptosis results from caspase-mediated activation of ROCK I." Nat Cell Biol 3(4): 339-345.

Columbaro, M., E. Mattioli, G. Lattanzi, C. Rutigliano, A. Ognibene, N. M. Maraldi and S. Squarzoni (2001). "Staurosporine treatment and serum starvation promote the cleavage of emerin in cultured mouse myoblasts: involvement of a caspase-dependent mechanism." FEBS Lett 509(3): 423-429.

Cowling, V. and J. Downward (2002). "Caspase-6 is the direct activator of caspase-8 in the cytochrome c-induced apoptosis pathway: absolute requirement for removal of caspase-6 prodomain." Cell Death Differ 9(10): 1046-1056.

Croft, D. R., M. L. Coleman, S. Li, D. Robertson, T. Sullivan, C. L. Stewart and M. F. Olson (2005). "Actin-myosin-based contraction is responsible for apoptotic nuclear disintegration." J Cell Biol 168(2): 245-255.

Cusack, C. L., V. Swahari, W. Hampton Henley, J. Michael Ramsey and M. Deshmukh (2013). "Distinct pathways mediate axon degeneration during apoptosis and axon-specific pruning." Nat Commun 4: 1876.

Cysique, L. A. and B. J. Brew (2009). "Neuropsychological Functioning and Antiretroviral Treatment in HIV/AIDS: A Review." Neuropsychol Rev 19(2): 169-185.

Dahm, R. (1999). "Lens fibre cell differentiation - A link with apoptosis?" Ophthalmic Res 31(3): 163-183.

Datta, D., J. M. Scheer, M. J. Romanowski and J. A. Wells (2008). "An Allosteric Circuit in Caspase-1." J Mol Biol 381(5): 1157-1167.

Davies, S. W., M. Turmaine, B. A. Cozens, M. DiFiglia, A. H. Sharp, C. A. Ross, E. Scherzinger, E. E. Wanker, L. Mangiarini and G. P. Bates (1997). "Formation of neuronal intranuclear inclusions underlies the neurological dysfunction in mice transgenic for the HD mutation." Cell 90(3): 537-548.

De Botton, S., S. Sabri, E. Daugas, Y. Zermati, J. E. Guidotti, O. Hermine, G. Kroemer, W. Vainchenker and N. Debili (2002). "Platelet formation is the consequence of caspase activation within megakaryocytes." Blood 100(4): 1310-1317.

Deveraux, Q. L. and J. C. Reed (1999). "IAP family proteins--suppressors of apoptosis." Genes Dev 13(3): 239-252.

Deveraux, Q. L., N. Roy, H. R. Stennicke and T. Van Arsdale (1998). "IAPs block apoptotic events induced by caspase-8 and cytochrome c by direct inhibition of distinct caspases." EMBO J 17(8): 2215.

Deveraux, Q. L., R. Takahashi, G. S. Salvesen and J. C. Reed (1997). "X-linked IAP is a direct inhibitor of cell-death proteases." Nature 388(6639): 300-304.

Doostzadeh-Cizeron, J., S. Yin and D. W. Goodrich (2000). "Apoptosis induced by the nuclear death domain protein p84N5 is associated with caspase-6 and NF-kappa B activation." J Biol Chem 275(33): 25336-25341.

Eckhart, L., C. Ballaun, M. Hermann, J. L. VandeBerg, W. Sipos, A. Uthman, H. Fischer and E. Tschachler (2008). "Identification of novel mammalian caspases reveals an important role of gene loss in shaping the human caspase repertoire." Mol Biol Evol 25(5): 831-841.

Eckhart, L., C. Ballaun, A. Uthman, C. Kittel, M. Stichenwirth, M. Buchberger, H. Fischer, W. Sipos and E. Tschachler (2005). "Identification and characterization of a novel mammalian caspase with proapoptotic activity." J Biol Chem 280(42): 35077-35080.

Eguchi, R., S. Tone, A. Suzuki, Y. Fujimori, T. Nakano, K. Kaji and T. Ohta (2009). "Possible involvement of caspase-6 and -7 but not caspase-3 in the regulation of hypoxiainduced apoptosis in tube-forming endothelial cells." Exp Cell Res 315(2): 327-335.

Ehrnhoefer, D. E., N. H. Skotte, J. Savill, Y. T. N. Nguyen, S. Ladha, L.-P. Cao, E. Dullaghan and M. R. Hayden (2011). "A Quantitative Method for the Specific Assessment of Caspase-6 Activity in Cell Culture." PLoS ONE 6(11): e27680.

Eichhold, T. H., E. B. Hookfin, Y. O. Taiwo, B. De and K. R. Wehmeyer (1997). "Isolation and quantification of fluoroacetate in rat tissues, following dosing of Z-Phe-Ala-CH2-F, a peptidyl fluoromethyl ketone protease inhibitor." J Pharm Biomed Anal 16(3): 459-467.

Ekici, O. D., Z. Z. Li, A. J. Campbell, K. E. James, J. L. Asgian, J. Mikolajczyk, G. S. Salvesen, R. Ganesan, S. Jelakovic, M. G. Grutter and J. C. Powers (2006). "Design, synthesis, and evaluation of aza-peptide Michael acceptors as selective and potent inhibitors of caspases-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, -9, and -10." J Med Chem 49(19): 5728-5749.
Enari, M., H. Sakahira, H. Yokoyama, K. Okawa, A. Iwamatsu and S. Nagata (1998). "A caspase-activated DNase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD." Nature 391(6662): 43-50.

Faideau, M., J. Kim, K. Cormier, R. Gilmore, M. Welch, G. Auregan, N. Dufour, M. Guillermier, E. Brouillet, P. Hantraye, N. Deglon, R. J. Ferrante and G. Bonvento (2010). "In vivo expression of polyglutamine-expanded huntingtin by mouse striatal astrocytes impairs glutamate transport: a correlation with Huntington's disease subjects." Hum Mol Genet 19(15): 3053-3067.

Fan, T.-J., L. Xia and Y.-R. Han (2001). "Mitochondrion and Apoptosis." Sheng Wu Hua Xue Yu Sheng Wu Wu Li Xue Bao 33(1): 7-12.

Faustin, B., L. Lartigue, J.-M. Bruey, F. Luciano, E. Sergienko, B. Bailly-Maitre, N. Volkmann, D. Hanein, I. Rouiller and J. C. Reed (2007). "Reconstituted NALP1 Inflammasome Reveals Two-Step Mechanism of Caspase-1 Activation." Mol Cell 25(5): 713-724.

Feldman, T., V. Kabaleeswaran, S. B. Jang, C. Antczak, H. Djaballah, H. Wu and X. Jiang (2012). "A class of allosteric caspase inhibitors identified by high-throughput screening." Mol Cell 47(4): 585-595.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., G. Litwack and E. S. Alnemri (1994). "CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to Caenorhabditis elegans cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme." J Biol Chem 269(49): 30761-30764.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., G. Litwack and E. S. Alnemri (1995). "Mch2, a new member of the apoptotic Ced-3/Ice cysteine protease gene family." Cancer Res 55(13): 2737-2742.

Fernando, P., S. Brunette and L. A. Megeney (2005). "Neural stem cell differentiation is dependent upon endogenous caspase 3 activity." FASEB J 19(12): 1671-1673.

Fernando, P., J. F. Kelly, K. Balazsi, R. S. Slack and L. A. Megeney (2002). "Caspase 3 activity is required for skeletal muscle differentiation." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(17): 11025-11030.

Fink, S. L. and B. T. Cookson (2006). "Caspase-1-dependent pore formation during pyroptosis leads to osmotic lysis of infected host macrophages." Cell Microbiol 8(11): 1812-1825.

Finkel, E. (2001). "The mitochondrion: is it central to apoptosis?" Science 292(5517): 624-626.

Fischer, H., U. Koenig, L. Eckhart and E. Tschachler (2002). "Human caspase 12 has acquired deleterious mutations." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 293(2): 722-726.

Foley, J. D., H. Rosenbaum and A. E. Griep (2004). "Temporal regulation of VEID-7amino-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin cleavage activity and caspase-6 correlates with organelle loss during lens development." J Biol Chem 279(31): 32142-32150.

Foveau, B., L. Van Der Kraak, N. Beauchemin, S. Albrecht and A. C. LeBlanc (2014). "Inflammation-induced tumorigenesis in mouse colon is caspase-6 independent." PLoS One 9(12): e114270.

Gafni, J., T. Papanikolaou, F. Degiacomo, J. Holcomb, S. Chen, L. Menalled, A. Kudwa, J. Fitzpatrick, S. Miller, S. Ramboz, P. I. Tuunanen, K. K. Lehtimaki, X. W. Yang, L. Park, S. Kwak, D. Howland, H. Park and L. M. Ellerby (2012). "Caspase-6 activity in a BACHD mouse modulates steady-state levels of mutant huntingtin protein but is not necessary for production of a 586 amino acid proteolytic fragment." J Neurosci 32(22): 7454-7465.

Galande, S., L. A. Dickinson, I. S. Mian, M. Sikorska and T. Kohwi-Shigematsu (2001). "SATB1 cleavage by caspase 6 disrupts PDZ domain-mediated dimerization, causing detachment from chromatin early in T-cell apoptosis." Mol Cell Biol 21(16): 5591-5604.

Galvan, V., O. F. Gorostiza, S. Banwait, M. Ataie, A. V. Logvinova, S. Sitaraman, E. Carlson, S. A. Sagi, N. Chevallier, K. Jin, D. A. Greenberg and D. E. Bredesen (2006). "Reversal of Alzheimer's-like pathology and behavior in human APP transgenic mice by mutation of Asp664." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(18): 7130-7135.

Galvan, V., J. Zhang, O. F. Gorostiza, S. Banwait, W. Huang, M. Ataie, H. Tang and D. E. Bredesen (2008). "Long-term prevention of Alzheimer's disease-like behavioral deficits in PDAPP mice carrying a mutation in Asp664." Behav Brain Res 191(2): 246-255.

Ganesan, R., S. Jelakovic, P. R. E. Mittl, A. Caflisch and M. G. Grütter (2011). "In silico identification and crystal structure validation of caspase-3 inhibitors without a P1 aspartic acid moiety." Acta Crystallogr Sect F Struct Biol Cryst Commun 67(Pt 8): 842-850.

Garcia-Calvo, M., E. P. Peterson, B. Leiting, R. Ruel, D. W. Nicholson and N. A. Thornberry (1998). "Inhibition of human caspases by peptide-based and macromolecular inhibitors." J Biol Chem 273(49): 32608-32613.

Gasser, T. (2005). "Genetics of Parkinson's disease." Curr Opin Neurol 18(4): 363-369.

Gervais, F. G., D. Xu, G. S. Robertson, J. P. Vaillancourt, Y. Zhu, J. Huang, A. LeBlanc, D. Smith, M. Rigby, M. S. Shearman, E. E. Clarke, H. Zheng, L. H. Van Der Ploeg, S. C. Ruffolo, N. A. Thornberry, S. Xanthoudakis, R. J. Zamboni, S. Roy and D. W. Nicholson (1999). "Involvement of caspases in proteolytic cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid-beta precursor protein and amyloidogenic A beta peptide formation." Cell 97(3): 395-406.

Gettins, P. G. (2002). "Serpin structure, mechanism, and function." Chem Rev 102(12): 4751-4804.

Ghayur, T., S. Banerjee, M. Hugunin, D. Butler, L. Herzog, A. Carter, L. Quintal, L. Sekut, R. Talanian, M. Paskind, W. Wong, R. Kamen, D. Tracey and H. Alien (1997). "Caspase-1 processes IFN-g-inducing factor and regulates LPS-induced IFN- g production." Nature 386(6625): 619-623.

Giaime, E., C. Sunyach, C. Druon, S. Scarzello, G. Robert, S. Grosso, P. Auberger, M. S. Goldberg, J. Shen, P. Heutink, J. Pouyssegur, G. Pages, F. Checler and C. Alves da Costa (2010). "Loss of function of DJ-1 triggered by Parkinson's disease-associated mutation is due to proteolytic resistance to caspase-6." Cell Death Differ 17(1): 158-169.

Godefroy, N., B. Foveau, S. Albrecht, C. G. Goodyer and A. C. LeBlanc (2013). "Expression and Activation of Caspase-6 in Human Fetal and Adult Tissues." PLoS ONE 8(11): e79313.

Golks, A., D. Brenner, C. Fritsch, P. H. Krammer and I. N. Lavrik (2005). "c-FLIPR, a new regulator of death receptor-induced apoptosis." J Biol Chem 280(15): 14507-14513.

Graham, R. K., Y. Deng, J. Carroll, K. Vaid, C. Cowan, M. A. Pouladi, M. Metzler, N. Bissada, L. Wang, R. L. Faull, M. Gray, X. W. Yang, L. A. Raymond and M. R. Hayden (2010). "Cleavage at the 586 amino acid caspase-6 site in mutant huntingtin influences caspase-6 activation in vivo." J Neurosci 30(45): 15019-15029.

Graham, R. K., Y. Deng, E. J. Slow, B. Haigh, N. Bissada, G. Lu, J. Pearson, J. Shehadeh, L. Bertram, Z. Murphy, S. C. Warby, C. N. Doty, S. Roy, C. L. Wellington, B. R. Leavitt, L. A. Raymond, D. W. Nicholson and M. R. Hayden (2006). "Cleavage at the caspase-6 site is required for neuronal dysfunction and degeneration due to mutant huntingtin." Cell 125(6): 1179-1191.

Graham, R. K., E. J. Slow, Y. Deng, N. Bissada, G. Lu, J. Pearson, J. Shehadeh, B. R. Leavitt, L. A. Raymond and M. R. Hayden (2006). "Levels of mutant huntingtin influence the phenotypic severity of Huntington disease in YAC128 mouse models." Neurobiol Dis 21(2): 444-455.

Gray, D. C., S. Mahrus and J. A. Wells (2010). "Activation of specific apoptotic caspases with an engineered small-molecule-activated protease." Cell 142(4): 637-646.

Gray, F., H. Adle-Biassette, F. Chretien, G. Lorin de la Grandmaison, G. Force and C. Keohane (2001). "Neuropathology and neurodegeneration in human immunodeficiency virus infection. Pathogenesis of HIV-induced lesions of the brain, correlations with HIV-associated disorders and modifications according to treatments." Clin Neuropathol 20(4): 146-155.

Griffin, W. S., L. C. Stanley, C. Ling, L. White, V. MacLeod, L. J. Perrot, C. L. White, 3rd and C. Araoz (1989). "Brain interleukin 1 and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(19): 7611-7615.

Grossmann, J., S. Mohr, E. G. Lapentina, C. Fiocchi and A. D. Levine (1998). "Sequential and rapid activation of select caspases during apoptosis of normal intestinal epithelial cells." Am J Physiol 274(6 Pt 1): G1117-1124.

Gu, Y., K. Kuida, H. Tsutsui, G. Ku, K. Hsiao, M. A. Fleming, N. Hayashi, K. Higashino, H. Okamura, K. Nakanishi, M. Kurimoto, T. Tanimoto, R. A. Flavell, V. Sato, M. W. Harding, D. J. Livingston and M. S. Su (1997). "Activation of interferon-gamma inducing factor mediated by interleukin-1beta converting enzyme." Science 275(5297): 206-209.

Guo, H., S. Albrecht, M. Bourdeau, T. Petzke, C. Bergeron and A. C. LeBlanc (2004). "Active caspase-6 and caspase-6-cleaved tau in neuropil threads, neuritic plaques, and neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease." Am J Pathol 165(2): 523-531.

Guo, H., D. Petrin, Y. Zhang, C. Bergeron, C. G. Goodyer and A. C. LeBlanc (2006). "Caspase-1 activation of caspase-6 in human apoptotic neurons." Cell Death Differ 13(2): 285-292.

Guo, Y., S. M. Srinivasula, A. Druilhe, T. Fernandes-Alnemri and E. S. Alnemri (2002). "Caspase-2 induces apoptosis by releasing proapoptotic proteins from mitochondria." J Biol Chem 277(16): 13430-13437.

Gurcel, L., L. Abrami, S. Girardin, J. Tschopp and F. G. van der Goot (2006). "Caspase-1 activation of lipid metabolic pathways in response to bacterial pore-forming toxins promotes cell survival." Cell 126(6): 1135-1145.

Gurney, M. E., H. Pu, A. Y. Chiu, M. C. Dal Canto, C. Y. Polchow, D. D. Alexander, J. Caliendo, A. Hentati, Y. W. Kwon, H. X. Deng and et al. (1994). "Motor neuron degeneration in mice that express a human Cu,Zn superoxide dismutase mutation." Science 264(5166): 1772-1775.

Gutekunst, C. A., S. H. Li, H. Yi, J. S. Mulroy, S. Kuemmerle, R. Jones, D. Rye, R. J. Ferrante, S. M. Hersch and X. J. Li (1999). "Nuclear and neuropil aggregates in Huntington's disease: relationship to neuropathology." J Neurosci 19(7): 2522-2534.

Halawani, D., S. Tessier, D. Anzellotti, D. A. Bennett, M. Latterich and A. C. LeBlanc (2010). "Identification of Caspase-6-mediated processing of the valosin containing protein (p97) in Alzheimer's disease: a novel link to dysfunction in ubiquitin proteasome system-mediated protein degradation." J Neurosci 30(17): 6132-6142.

Hardy, J. A., J. Lam, J. T. Nguyen, T. O'Brien and J. A. Wells (2004). "Discovery of an allosteric site in the caspases." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(34): 12461-12466.

Harigaya, Y., M. Shoji, T. Shirao and S. Hirai (1996). "Disappearance of actin-binding protein, drebrin, from hippocampal synapses in Alzheimer's disease." J Neurosci Res 43(1): 87-92.

Harris, J. A., N. Devidze, B. Halabisky, I. Lo, M. T. Thwin, G. Q. Yu, D. E. Bredesen, E. Masliah and L. Mucke (2010). "Many neuronal and behavioral impairments in transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease are independent of caspase cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein." J Neurosci 30(1): 372-381.

Hayashi, N., H. Shirakura, T. Uehara and Y. Nomura (2006). "Relationship between SUMO-1 modification of caspase-7 and its nuclear localization in human neuronal cells." Neurosci Lett 397(1-2): 5-9.

Heise, C. E., J. Murray, K. E. Augustyn, B. Bravo, P. Chugha, F. Cohen, A. M. Giannetti,
P. Gibbons, R. N. Hannoush, B. R. Hearn, P. Jaishankar, C. Q. Ly, K. Shah, K. Stanger,
M. Steffek, Y. Tang, X. Zhao, J. W. Lewcock, A. R. Renslo, J. Flygare and M. R. Arkin
(2012). "Mechanistic and structural understanding of uncompetitive inhibitors of caspase-6." PLoS One 7(12): e50864.

Hell, K., M. Saleh, G. D. Crescenzo, M. D. O'Connor-McCourt and D. W. Nicholson (2003). "Substrate cleavage by caspases generates protein fragments with Smac/Diablo-like activities." Cell Death Differ 10(11): 1234-1239.

Hermel, E., J. Gafni, S. S. Propp, B. R. Leavitt, C. L. Wellington, J. E. Young, A. S.
Hackam, A. V. Logvinova, A. L. Peel, S. F. Chen, V. Hook, R. Singaraja, S. Krajewski,
P. C. Goldsmith, H. M. Ellerby, M. R. Hayden, D. E. Bredesen and L. M. Ellerby (2004).
"Specific caspase interactions and amplification are involved in selective neuronal vulnerability in Huntington's disease." Cell Death Differ 11(4): 424-438.

Hill, M. E., D. J. MacPherson, P. Wu, O. Julien, J. A. Wells and J. A. Hardy (2016). "Reprogramming Caspase-7 Specificity by Regio-Specific Mutations and Selection Provides Alternate Solutions for Substrate Recognition." ACS Chem Biol 11(6): 1603-1612.

Hirata, H., A. Takahashi, S. Kobayashi, S. Yonehara, H. Sawai, T. Okazaki, K. Yamamoto and M. Sasada (1998). "Caspases are activated in a branched protease cascade and control distinct downstream processes in Fas-induced apoptosis." J Exp Med 187(4): 587-600.

Hitomi, J., T. Katayama, Y. Eguchi, T. Kudo, M. Taniguchi, Y. Koyama, T. Manabe, S. Yamagishi, Y. Bando, K. Imaizumi, Y. Tsujimoto and M. Tohyama (2004). "Involvement of caspase-4 in endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis and Abetainduced cell death." J Cell Biol 165(3): 347-356.

Hodgson, J. G., N. Agopyan, C. A. Gutekunst, B. R. Leavitt, F. LePiane, R. Singaraja, D. J. Smith, N. Bissada, K. McCutcheon, J. Nasir, L. Jamot, X. J. Li, M. E. Stevens, E. Rosemond, J. C. Roder, A. G. Phillips, E. M. Rubin, S. M. Hersch and M. R. Hayden (1999). "A YAC mouse model for Huntington's disease with full-length mutant huntingtin, cytoplasmic toxicity, and selective striatal neurodegeneration." Neuron 23(1): 181-192.

Hogg, M. C., M. R. Mitchem, H. G. Konig and J. H. Prehn (2016). "Caspase 6 has a protective role in SOD1(G93A) transgenic mice." Biochim Biophys Acta 1862(6): 1063-1073.

Horowitz, P. M., K. R. Patterson, A. L. Guillozet-Bongaarts, M. R. Reynolds, C. A. Carroll, S. T. Weintraub, D. A. Bennett, V. L. Cryns, R. W. Berry and L. I. Binder (2004). "Early N-terminal changes and caspase-6 cleavage of tau in Alzheimer's disease." J Neurosci 24(36): 7895-7902.

Hu, Y., L. Ding, D. M. Spencer and G. Nunez (1998). "WD-40 repeat region regulates Apaf-1 self-association and procaspase-9 activation." J Biol Chem 273(50): 33489-33494.

Hu, Y., J. S. Helm, L. Chen, C. Ginsberg, B. Gross, B. Kraybill, K. Tiyanont, X. Fang, T. Wu and S. Walker (2004). "Identification of selective inhibitors for the glycosyltransferase MurG via high-throughput screening." Chem Biol 11(5): 703-711.

Huang, K., M. H. Kang, C. Askew, R. Kang, S. S. Sanders, J. Wan, N. G. Davis and M. R. Hayden (2010). "Palmitoylation and function of glial glutamate transporter-1 is reduced in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease." Neurobiol Dis 40(1): 207-215.

Huang, N., A. Nagarsekar, G. Xia, J. Hayashi and A. D. MacKerell, Jr. (2004). "Identification of non-phosphate-containing small molecular weight inhibitors of the tyrosine kinase p56 Lck SH2 domain via in silico screening against the pY + 3 binding site." J Med Chem 47(14): 3502-3511.

Huang, Y., Y. C. Park, R. L. Rich, D. Segal, D. G. Myszka and H. Wu (2001). "Structural basis of caspase inhibition by XIAP: differential roles of the linker versus the BIR domain." Cell 104(5): 781-790.

Huber, K. L. and J. A. Hardy (2012). "Mechanism of zinc-mediated inhibition of caspase-9." Protein Sci 21(7): 1056-1065.

Humke, E. W., J. Ni and V. M. Dixit (1998). "ERICE, a novel FLICE-activatable caspase." J Biol Chem 273(25): 15702-15707.

Ilmarinen-Salo, P., E. Moilanen and H. Kankaanranta (2010). "Nitric oxide induces apoptosis in GM-CSF-treated eosinophils via caspase-6-dependent lamin and DNA fragmentation." Pulm Pharmacol Ther 23(4): 365-371.

Inoue, S., G. Browne, G. Melino and G. M. Cohen (2009). "Ordering of caspases in cells undergoing apoptosis by the intrinsic pathway." Cell Death Differ 16(7): 1053-1061.

Iyer, A., J. van Scheppingen, J. Anink, I. Milenkovic, G. G. Kovacs and E. Aronica (2013). "Developmental patterns of DR6 in normal human hippocampus and in Down syndrome." J Neurodev Disord 5(1): 10.

James, K. E., J. L. Asgian, Z. Z. Li, O. D. Ekici, J. R. Rubin, J. Mikolajczyk, G. S. Salvesen and J. C. Powers (2004). "Design, synthesis, and evaluation of aza-peptide epoxides as selective and potent inhibitors of caspases-1, -3, -6, and -8." J Med Chem 47(6): 1553-1574.

Jiang, X. and X. Wang (2000). "Cytochrome c promotes caspase-9 activation by inducing nucleotide binding to Apaf-1." J Biol Chem 275(40): 31199-31203.

Jin, Z., Y. Li, R. Pitti, D. Lawrence, V. C. Pham, J. R. Lill and A. Ashkenazi (2009). "Cullin3-based polyubiquitination and p62-dependent aggregation of caspase-8 mediate extrinsic apoptosis signaling." Cell 137(4): 721-735.

Julien, O., M. Zhuang, A. P. Wiita, A. J. O'Donoghue, G. M. Knudsen, C. S. Craik and J. A. Wells (2016). "Quantitative MS-based enzymology of caspases reveals distinct protein substrate specificities, hierarchies, and cellular roles." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113(14): E2001-2010.

Kataoka, T. and J. Tschopp (2004). "N-terminal fragment of c-FLIP(L) processed by caspase 8 specifically interacts with TRAF2 and induces activation of the NF-kappaB signaling pathway." Mol Cell Biol 24(7): 2627-2636.

Katayama, T., K. Imaizumi, T. Manabe, J. Hitomi, T. Kudo and M. Tohyama (2004). "Induction of neuronal death by ER stress in Alzheimer's disease." J Chem Neuroanat 28(1-2): 67-78.

Kaushal, V., R. Dye, P. Pakavathkumar, B. Foveau, J. Flores, B. Hyman, B. Ghetti, B. H. Koller and A. C. LeBlanc (2015). "Neuronal NLRP1 inflammasome activation of Caspase-1 coordinately regulates inflammatory interleukin-1-beta production and axonal degeneration-associated Caspase-6 activation." Cell Death Differ 22(10): 1676-1686.

Kerr, J. F., A. H. Wyllie and A. R. Currie (1972). "Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics." Br J Cancer 26(4): 239-257.

Khadija, S., R. Veluthakal, V. Sidarala and A. Kowluru (2014). "Glucotoxic and diabetic conditions induce caspase 6-mediated degradation of nuclear lamin A in human islets, rodent islets and INS-1 832/13 cells." Apoptosis 19(12): 1691-1701.

Kim, H.-J., H. Choo, Y. S. Cho, K. T. No and A. N. Pae (2008). "Novel GSK-3β inhibitors from sequential virtual screening." Bioorg Med Chem 16(2): 636-643.

Kirchhoff, S., W. W. M,ller, M. Li-Weber and P. H. Krammer (2000). "Up-regulation of c-FLIPshort and reduction of activation-induced cell death in CD28-costimulated human T cells." Eur J Immunol 30(10): 2765-2774.

Klaiman, G., N. Champagne and A. C. LeBlanc (2009). "Self-activation of Caspase-6 in vitro and in vivo: Caspase-6 activation does not induce cell death in HEK293T cells." Biochim Biophys Acta 1793(3): 592-601.

Klaiman, G., T. L. Petzke, J. Hammond and A. C. Leblanc (2008). "Targets of caspase-6 activity in human neurons and Alzheimer disease." Mol Cell Proteomics 7(8): 1541-1555.

Kobayashi, H., A. Nolan, B. Naveed, Y. Hoshino, L. N. Segal, Y. Fujita, W. N. Rom and M. D. Weiden (2011). "Neutrophils activate alveolar macrophages by producing caspase-6-mediated cleavage of IL-1 receptor-associated kinase-M." J Immunol 186(1): 403-410.

Kobayashi, R., Y. Sekino, T. Shirao, S. Tanaka, T. Ogura, K. Inada and M. Saji (2004). "Antisense knockdown of drebrin A, a dendritic spine protein, causes stronger preference, impaired pre-pulse inhibition, and an increased sensitivity to psychostimulant." Neurosci Res 49(2): 205-217.

Koenig, U., L. Eckhart and E. Tschachler (2001). "Evidence that caspase-13 is not a human but a bovine gene." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 285(5): 1150-1154.

Komiyama, T., C. A. Ray, D. J. Pickup, A. D. Howard, N. A. Thornberry, E. P. Peterson and G. Salvesen (1994). "Inhibition of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme by the cowpox virus serpin CrmA. An example of cross-class inhibition." J Biol Chem 269(30): 19331-19337.

Kostura, M. J., M. J. Tocci, G. Limjuco, J. Chin, P. Cameron, A. G. Hillman, N. A. Chartrain and J. A. Schmidt (1989). "Identification of a monocyte specific pre-interleukin 1 beta convertase activity." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(14): 5227-5231.

Kravchenko, D. V., V. M. Kysil, S. E. Tkachenko, S. Maliarchouk, I. M. Okun and A. V. Ivachtchenko (2006). "Pyrrolo[3,4-c]quinoline-1,3-diones as Potent Caspase-3 Inhibitors. Synthesis and SAR of 2-Substituted 4-Methyl-8-(morpholine-4-sulfonyl)-pyrrolo[3,4-c]quinoline-1,3-diones." Eur J Med Chem 37(17): 1377-1383.

Krippner-Heidenreich, A., R. V. Talanian, R. Sekul, R. Kraft, H. Thole, H. Ottleben and B. Luscher (2001). "Targeting of the transcription factor Max during apoptosis: phosphorylation-regulated cleavage by caspase-5 at an unusual glutamic acid residue in position P1." Biochem J 358(Pt 3): 705-715.

Krueger, A., I. Schmitz, S. Baumann, P. H. Krammer and S. Kirchhoff (2001). "Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein splice variants inhibit different steps of caspase-8 activation at the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex." J Biol Chem 276(23): 20633-20640.

Kuida, K., J. A. Lippke, G. Ku, M. W. Harding, D. J. Livingston, M. S. Su and R. A. Flavell (1995). "Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme." Science 267(5206): 2000-2003.

Kuida, K., T. S. Zheng, S. Na, C. Kuan, D. Yang, H. Karasuyama, P. Rakic and R. A. Flavell (1996). "Decreased apoptosis in the brain and premature lethality in CPP32-deficient mice." Nature 384(6607): 368-372.

Lamkanfi, M., M. Kalai, X. Saelens, W. Declercq and P. Vandenabeele (2004). "Caspase-1 activates nuclear factor of the kappa-enhancer in B cells independently of its enzymatic activity." J Biol Chem 279(23): 24785-24793.

Landles, C., A. Weiss, S. Franklin, D. Howland and G. Bates (2012). "Caspase-6 does not contribute to the proteolysis of mutant huntingtin in the HdhQ150 knock-in mouse model of Huntington's disease." PLoS Curr 4: e4fd085bfc9973.

Lang, G., J. R. White, M. J. Argent-Katwala, C. G. Allinson and K. Weston (2005). "Myb proteins regulate the expression of diverse target genes." Oncogene 24(8): 1375-1384.

Larsen, B. D., S. Rampalli, L. E. Burns, S. Brunette, F. J. Dilworth and L. A. Megeney (2010). "Caspase 3/caspase-activated DNase promote cell differentiation by inducing DNA strand breaks." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(9): 4230-4235.

Lassus, P., X. Opitz-Araya and Y. Lazebnik (2002). "Requirement for caspase-2 in stress-induced apoptosis before mitochondrial permeabilization." Science 297(5585): 1352-1354.

Lauber, K., E. Bohn, S. M. Krober, Y. J. Xiao, S. G. Blumenthal, R. K. Lindemann, P. Marini, C. Wiedig, A. Zobywalski, S. Baksh, Y. Xu, I. B. Autenrieth, K. Schulze-Osthoff, C. Belka, G. Stuhler and S. Wesselborg (2003). "Apoptotic cells induce migration of phagocytes via caspase-3-mediated release of a lipid attraction signal." Cell 113(6): 717-730.

LeBlanc, A. (1995). "Increased production of 4 kDa amyloid beta peptide in serum deprived human primary neuron cultures: possible involvement of apoptosis." J Neurosci 15(12): 7837-7846.

LeBlanc, A., H. Liu, C. Goodyer, C. Bergeron and J. Hammond (1999). "Caspase-6 role in apoptosis of human neurons, amyloidogenesis, and Alzheimer's disease." J Biol Chem 274(33): 23426-23436.

LeBlanc, A. C. (2013). "Caspase-6 as a novel early target in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease." Eur J Neurosci 37(12): 2005-2018.

LeBlanc, A. C., J. Ramcharitar, V. Afonso, E. Hamel, D. A. Bennett, P. Pakavathkumar and S. Albrecht (2014). "Caspase-6 activity in the CA1 region of the hippocampus induces age-dependent memory impairment." Cell Death Differ 21(5): 696-706.

Lee, A. W., N. Champagne, X. Wang, X. D. Su, C. Goodyer and A. C. Leblanc (2010). "Alternatively spliced caspase-6B isoform inhibits the activation of caspase-6A." J Biol Chem 285(42): 31974-31984.

Lee, D., S. A. Long, J. L. Adams, G. Chan, K. S. Vaidya, T. A. Francis, K. Kikly, J. D. Winkler, C. M. Sung, C. Debouck, S. Richardson, M. A. Levy, W. E. DeWolf, Jr., P. M. Keller, T. Tomaszek, M. S. Head, M. D. Ryan, R. C. Haltiwanger, P. H. Liang, C. A.

Janson, P. J. McDevitt, K. Johanson, N. O. Concha, W. Chan, S. S. Abdel-Meguid, A. M. Badger, M. W. Lark, D. P. Nadeau, L. J. Suva, M. Gowen and M. E. Nuttall (2000). "Potent and selective nonpeptide inhibitors of caspases 3 and 7 inhibit apoptosis and maintain cell functionality." J Biol Chem 275(21): 16007-16014.

Lee, D., S. A. Long, J. H. Murray, J. L. Adams, M. E. Nuttall, D. P. Nadeau, K. Kikly, J. D. Winkler, C. M. Sung, M. D. Ryan, M. A. Levy, P. M. Keller and W. E. DeWolf, Jr. (2001). "Potent and selective nonpeptide inhibitors of caspases 3 and 7." J Med Chem 44(12): 2015-2026.

Lee, S. C., J. Chan, M. V. Clement and S. Pervaiz (2006). "Functional proteomics of resveratrol-induced colon cancer cell apoptosis: caspase-6-mediated cleavage of lamin A is a major signaling loop." Proteomics 6(8): 2386-2394.

Leong, S. M., B. X. Tan, B. Bte Ahmad, T. Yan, L. Y. Chee, S. T. Ang, K. G. Tay, L. P. Koh, A. E. J. Yeoh, E. S.-C. Koay, Y.-K. Mok and T. M. Lim (2010). "Mutant nucleophosmin deregulates cell death and myeloid differentiation through excessive caspase-6 and -8 inhibition." Blood 116(17): 3286-3296.

Levkau, B., M. Scatena, C. M. Giachelli, R. Ross and E. W. Raines (1999). "Apoptosis overrides survival signals through a caspase-mediated dominant-negative NF-[kgr]B loop." Nat Cell Biol 1(4): 227-233.

Leyva, M. J., F. Degiacomo, L. S. Kaltenbach, J. Holcomb, N. Zhang, J. Gafni, H. Park, D. C. Lo, G. S. Salvesen, L. M. Ellerby and J. A. Ellman (2010). "Identification and evaluation of small molecule pan-caspase inhibitors in Huntington's disease models." Chem Biol 17(11): 1189-1200.

Li, H., H. Zhu, C. J. Xu and J. Yuan (1998). "Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the Fas pathway of apoptosis." Cell 94(4): 491-501.

Li, M., D. Chen, A. Shiloh, J. Luo, A. Y. Nikolaev, J. Qin and W. Gu (2002). "Deubiquitination of p53 by HAUSP is an important pathway for p53 stabilization." Nature 416(6881): 648-653.

Li, P., H. Allen, S. Banerjee, S. Franklin, L. Herzog, C. Johnston, J. McDowell, M. Paskind, L. Rodman, J. Salfeld and et al. (1995). "Mice deficient in IL-1 beta-converting enzyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 beta and resistant to endotoxic shock." Cell 80(3): 401-411.

Li, X., W. Wen, K. Liu, F. Zhu, M. Malakhova, C. Peng, T. Li, H. G. Kim, W. Ma, Y. Y. Cho, A. M. Bode, Z. Dong and Z. Dong (2011). "Phosphorylation of caspase-7 by p21-activated protein kinase (PAK) 2 inhibits chemotherapeutic drug-induced apoptosis of breast cancer cell lines." J Biol Chem 286(25): 22291-22299.

Li, Z., J. Jo, J. M. Jia, S. C. Lo, D. J. Whitcomb, S. Jiao, K. Cho and M. Sheng (2010). "Caspase-3 activation via mitochondria is required for long-term depression and AMPA receptor internalization." Cell 141(5): 859-871. Lin, X. Y., M. S. Choi and A. G. Porter (2000). "Expression analysis of the human caspase-1 subfamily reveals specific regulation of the CASP5 gene by lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma." J Biol Chem 275(51): 39920-39926.

Lippens, S., M. Kockx, M. Knaapen, L. Mortier, R. Polakowska, A. Verheyen, M. Garmyn, A. Zwijsen, P. Formstecher, D. Huylebroeck, P. Vandenabeele and W. Declercq (2000). "Epidermal differentiation does not involve the pro-apoptotic executioner caspases, but is associated with caspase-14 induction and processing." Cell Death Differ 7(12): 1218-1224.

Liu, X., H. Zou, P. Widlak, W. Garrard and X. Wang (1999). "Activation of the Apoptotic Endonuclease DFF40 (Caspase-activated DNase or Nuclease). Oligomerization and direct interation with histone H1." J Biol Chem 274(20): 13836-13840.

Lu, D. C., S. Rabizadeh, S. Chandra, R. F. Shayya, L. M. Ellerby, X. Ye, G. S. Salvesen, E. H. Koo and D. E. Bredesen (2000). "A second cytotoxic proteolytic peptide derived from amyloid beta-protein precursor." Nat Med 6(4): 397-404.

Luo, L. and D. D. O'Leary (2005). "Axon retraction and degeneration in development and disease." Annu Rev Neurosci 28: 127-156.

Luo, X., I. Budihardjo, H. Zou, C. Slaughter and X. Wang (1998). "Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors." Cell 94(4): 481-490.

Luthi, A. U. and S. J. Martin (2007). "The CASBAH: a searchable database of caspase substrates." Cell Death Differ 14(4): 641-650.

MacLachlan, T. K. and W. S. El-Deiry (2002). "Apoptotic threshold is lowered by p53 transactivation of caspase-6." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(14): 9492-9497.

Manzl, C., G. Krumschnabel, F. Bock, B. Sohm, V. Labi, F. Baumgartner, E. Logette, J. Tschopp and A. Villunger (2009). "Caspase-2 activation in the absence of PIDDosome formation." J Biol Chem 185(2): 291-303.

Martin, R., C. Desponds, R. O. Eren, M. Quadroni, M. Thome and N. Fasel (2016). "Caspase-mediated cleavage of raptor participates in the inactivation of mTORC1 during cell death." Cell Death Discov 2: 16024.

Martinat, C., S. Shendelman, A. Jonason, T. Leete, M. F. Beal, L. Yang, T. Floss and A. Abeliovich (2004). "Sensitivity to oxidative stress in DJ-1-deficient dopamine neurons: an ES- derived cell model of primary Parkinsonism." PLoS Biol 2(11): e327.

Martinon, F., K. Burns and J. Tschopp (2002). "The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta." Mol Cell 10(2): 417-426.

Masumoto, J., W. Zhou, F. F. Chen, F. Su, J. Y. Kuwada, E. Hidaka, T. Katsuyama, J. Sagara, S. Taniguchi, P. Ngo-Hazelett, J. H. Postlethwait, G. Nunez and N. Inohara (2003). "Caspy, a zebrafish caspase, activated by ASC oligomerization is required for pharyngeal arch development." J Biol Chem 278(6): 4268-4276.

McPhie, D. L., T. Golde, C. B. Eckman, D. Yager, J. B. Brant and R. L. Neve (2001). "beta-Secretase cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein mediates neuronal apoptosis caused by familial Alzheimer's disease mutations." Brain Res Mol Brain Res 97(1): 103-113.

McStay, G. P., G. S. Salvesen and D. R. Green (2008). "Overlapping cleavage motif selectivity of caspases: implications for analysis of apoptotic pathways." Cell Death Differ 15(2): 322-331.

Meissner, J. W. G., A. C. van der Laan and U. K. Pandit (1994). "Reduction of 5arylidenebarbiturate derivatives by thiols." Tetrahedron Lett 35(17): 2757-2760.

Mikolajczyk, J., F. L. Scott, S. Krajewski, D. P. Sutherlin and G. S. Salvesen (2004). "Activation and substrate specificity of caspase-14." Biochemistry 43(32): 10560-10569.

Milam, S. L. and A. C. Clark (2009). "Folding and assembly kinetics of procaspase-3." Protein Sci 18(12): 2500-2517.

Milhas, D., O. Cuvillier, N. Therville, P. Clave, M. Thomsen, T. Levade, H. Benoist and B. Segui (2005). "Caspase-10 triggers Bid cleavage and caspase cascade activation in FasL-induced apoptosis." J Biol Chem 280(20): 19836-19842.

Milnerwood, A. J., C. M. Gladding, M. A. Pouladi, A. M. Kaufman, R. M. Hines, J. D. Boyd, R. W. Ko, O. C. Vasuta, R. K. Graham, M. R. Hayden, T. H. Murphy and L. A. Raymond (2010). "Early increase in extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling and expression contributes to phenotype onset in Huntington's disease mice." Neuron 65(2): 178-190.

Mintzer, R., S. Ramaswamy, K. Shah, R. N. Hannoush, C. D. Pozniak, F. Cohen, X. Zhao, E. Plise, J. W. Lewcock and C. E. Heise (2012). "A Whole Cell Assay to Measure Caspase-6 Activity by Detecting Cleavage of Lamin A/C." PLoS ONE 7(1): e30376.

Miura, M., X. D. Chen, M. R. Allen, Y. Bi, S. Gronthos, B. M. Seo, S. Lakhani, R. A. Flavell, X. H. Feng, P. G. Robey, M. Young and S. Shi (2004). "A crucial role of caspase-3 in osteogenic differentiation of bone marrow stromal stem cells." J Clin Invest 114(12): 1704-1713.

Monnier, P. P., P. M. D'Onofrio, M. Magharious, A. C. Hollander, N. Tassew, K. Szydlowska, M. Tymianski and P. D. Koeberle (2011). "Involvement of caspase-6 and caspase-8 in neuronal apoptosis and the regenerative failure of injured retinal ganglion cells." J Neurosci 31(29): 10494-10505.

Moretti, A., H. J. Weig, T. Ott, M. Seyfarth, H. P. Holthoff, D. Grewe, A. Gillitzer, L. Bott-Fl,gel, A. Sch<sup>mig</sup>, M. Ungerer and K. L. Laugwitz (2002). "Essential myosin light chain as a target for caspase-3 in failing myocardium." Pro Natl Acad Sci U S A 99(18): 11860-11865.

Mori, H., J. Kondo and Y. Ihara (1987). "Ubiquitin is a component of paired helical filaments in Alzheimer's disease." Science 235(4796): 1641-1644.

Morozov, V. and E. F. Wawrousek (2006). "Caspase-dependent secondary lens fiber cell disintegration in alphaA-/alphaB-crystallin double-knockout mice." Development 133(5): 813-821.

Mucke, L., E. Masliah, G. Q. Yu, M. Mallory, E. M. Rockenstein, G. Tatsuno, K. Hu, D. Kholodenko, K. Johnson-Wood and L. McConlogue (2000). "High-level neuronal expression of abeta 1-42 in wild-type human amyloid protein precursor transgenic mice: synaptotoxicity without plaque formation." J Neurosci 20(11): 4050-4058.

Muller, I., M. B. Lamers, A. J. Ritchie, H. Park, C. Dominguez, I. Munoz-Sanjuan, M. Maillard and A. Kiselyov (2011). "A new apo-caspase-6 crystal form reveals the active conformation of the apoenzyme." J Mol Biol 410(2): 307-315.

Murray, J., A. M. Giannetti, M. Steffek, P. Gibbons, B. R. Hearn, F. Cohen, C. Tam, C. Pozniak, B. Bravo, J. Lewcock, P. Jaishankar, C. Q. Ly, X. Zhao, Y. Tang, P. Chugha, M. R. Arkin, J. Flygare and A. R. Renslo (2014). "Tailoring small molecules for an allosteric site on procaspase-6." ChemMedChem 9(1): 73-77, 72.

Muzio, M., B. R. Stockwell, H. R. Stennicke, G. S. Salvesen and V. M. Dixit (1998). "An induced proximity model for caspase-8 activation." J Biol Chem 273(5): 2926-2930.

Nguyen, T. V., V. Galvan, W. Huang, S. Banwait, H. Tang, J. Zhang and D. E. Bredesen (2008). "Signal transduction in Alzheimer disease: p21-activated kinase signaling requires C-terminal cleavage of APP at Asp664." J Neurochem 104(4): 1065-1080.

Nikolaev, A., T. McLaughlin, D. D. O'Leary and M. Tessier-Lavigne (2009). "APP binds DR6 to trigger axon pruning and neuron death via distinct caspases." Nature 457(7232): 981-989.

Noorbakhsh, F., R. Ramachandran, N. Barsby, K. K. Ellestad, A. LeBlanc, P. Dickie, G. Baker, M. D. Hollenberg, E. A. Cohen and C. Power (2010). "MicroRNA profiling reveals new aspects of HIV neurodegeneration: caspase-6 regulates astrocyte survival." FASEB J 24(6): 1799-1812.

Norman, J. M., G. M. Cohen and E. T. Bampton (2010). "The in vitro cleavage of the hAtg proteins by cell death proteases." Autophagy 6(8): 1042-1056.

Novak, M. J. and S. J. Tabrizi (2010). "Huntington's disease." BMJ 340.

Nyormoi, O., Z. Wang and M. Bar-Eli (2003). "Sequence-based discovery of a synthetic peptide inhibitor of caspase 6." Apoptosis 8(4): 371-376.

Nyormoi, O., Z. Wang, D. Doan, M. Ruiz, D. McConkey and M. Bar-Eli (2001). "Transcription Factor AP-2α Is Preferentially Cleaved by Caspase 6 and Degraded by Proteasome during Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha-Induced Apoptosis in Breast Cancer Cells." Mol Cell Biol 21(15): 4856-4867.

Oberst, A., C. P. Dillon, R. Weinlich, L. L. McCormick, P. Fitzgerald, D. R. Green, C. Pop, G. S. Salvesen and R. Hakem (2011). "Catalytic activity of the caspase-8-FLIP L complex inhibits RIPK3-dependent necrosis." Nature 471(7338): 363-368.

Ohsawa, S., S. Hamada, K. Kuida, H. Yoshida, T. Igaki and M. Miura (2010). "Maturation of the olfactory sensory neurons by Apaf-1/caspase-9-mediated caspase activity." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(30): 13366-13371.

Olson, N. E., J. D. Graves, G. L. Shu, E. J. Ryan and E. A. Clark (2003). "Caspase activity is required for stimulated B lymphocytes to enter the cell cycle." J Immunol 170(12): 6065-6072.

Orth, K., A. M. Chinnaiyan, M. Garg, C. J. Froelich and V. M. Dixit (1996). "The CED-3/ICE-like protease Mch2 is activated during apoptosis and cleaves the death substrate lamin A." J Biol Chem 271(28): 16443-16446.

Otey, C. A. and O. Carpen (2004). "Alpha-actinin revisited: a fresh look at an old player." Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 58(2): 104-111.

Pakavathkumar, P., G. Sharma, V. Kaushal, B. Foveau and A. C. LeBlanc (2015). "Methylene Blue Inhibits Caspases by Oxidation of the Catalytic Cysteine." Sci Rep 5: 13730.

Pan, G., E. W. Humke and V. M. Dixit (1998). "Activation of caspases triggered by cytochrome c in vitro." FEBS Lett 426(1): 151-154.

Park, H., S. K. Jung, D. G. Jeong, S. E. Ryu and S. J. Kim (2008). "Discovery of VHR phosphatase inhibitors with micromolar activity based on structure-based virtual screening." ChemMedChem 3(6): 877-880.

Park, K. J., C. A. Grosso, I. Aubert, D. R. Kaplan and F. D. Miller (2010). "p75NTR-dependent, myelin-mediated axonal degeneration regulates neural connectivity in the adult brain." Nat Neurosci 13(5): 559-566.

Park, S. A., G. M. Shaked, D. E. Bredesen and E. H. Koo (2009). "Mechanism of cytotoxicity mediated by the C31 fragment of the amyloid precursor protein." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 388(2): 450-455.

Payne, C. M., C. N. Waltmire, C. Crowley, C. L. Crowley-Weber, K. Dvorakova, H. Bernstein, C. Bernstein, H. Holubec and H. Garewal (2003). "Caspase-6 mediated

cleavage of guanylate cyclase alpha 1 during deoxycholate-induced apoptosis: protective role of the nitric oxide signaling module." Cell Biol Toxicol 19(6): 373-392.

Pellegrini, L., B. J. Passer, M. Tabaton, J. K. Ganjei and L. D'Adamio (1999). "Alternative, non-secretase processing of Alzheimer's beta-amyloid precursor protein during apoptosis by caspase-6 and -8." J Biol Chem 274(30): 21011-21016.

Peng, S., H. Wu, Y. Y. Mo, K. Watabe and M. E. Pauza (2009). "c-Maf increases apoptosis in peripheral CD8 cells by transactivating Caspase 6." Immunology 127(2): 267-278.

Perry, D. K., M. J. Smyth, H. R. Stennicke, G. S. Salvesen, P. Duriez, G. G. Poirier and Y. A. Hannun (1997). "Zinc is a potent inhibitor of the apoptotic protease, caspase-3. A novel target for zinc in the inhibition of apoptosis." J Biol Chem 272(30): 18530-18533.

Perry, G., R. Friedman, G. Shaw and V. Chau (1987). "Ubiquitin is detected in neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaque neurites of Alzheimer disease brains." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84(9): 3033-3036.

Pervaiz, S., A. Harriman and K. S. Gulliya (1992). "Protein damage by photoproducts of merocyanine 540." Free Radic Biol Med 12(5): 389-396.

Peter, M. E. and P. H. Krammer (2003). "The CD95(APO-1/Fas) DISC and beyond." Cell Death Differ 10(1): 26-35.

Pop, C., Y. R. Chen, B. Smith, K. Bose, B. Bobay, A. Tripathy, S. Franzen and A. C. Clark (2001). "Removal of the pro-domain does not affect the conformation of the procaspase-3 dimer." Biochemistry 40(47): 14224-14235.

Pouladi, M. A., R. K. Graham, J. M. Karasinska, Y. Xie, R. D. Santos, A. Petersen and M. R. Hayden (2009). "Prevention of depressive behaviour in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease by mutation at residue 586 of huntingtin." Brain 132(Pt 4): 919-932.

Preisinger, E., B. M. Jordan, A. Kazantsev and D. Housman (1999). "Evidence for a recruitment and sequestration mechanism in Huntington's disease." Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 354(1386): 1029-1034.

Querfurth, H. W. and F. M. LaFerla (2010). "Alzheimer's disease." N Engl J Med 362(4): 329-344.

Raina, D., P. Pandey, R. Ahmad, A. Bharti, J. Ren, S. Kharbanda, R. Weichselbaum and D. Kufe (2005). "c-Abl tyrosine kinase regulates caspase-9 autocleavage in the apoptotic response to DNA damage." J Biol Chem 280(12): 11147-11151.

Rajamaki, S., A. Innitzer, C. Falciani, C. Tintori, F. Christ, M. Witvrouw, Z. Debyser, S. Massa and M. Botta (2009). "Exploration of novel thiobarbituric acid-, rhodanine- and thiohydantoin-based HIV-1 integrase inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem 19(13): 3615-3618.

Ramcharitar, J., V. M. Afonso, S. Albrecht, D. A. Bennett and A. C. LeBlanc (2013). "Caspase-6 activity predicts lower episodic memory ability in aged individuals." Neurobiol Aging 34(7): 1815-1824.

Ramcharitar, J., S. Albrecht, V. M. Afonso, V. Kaushal, D. A. Bennett and A. C. Leblanc (2013). "Cerebrospinal fluid tau cleaved by caspase-6 reflects brain levels and cognition in aging and Alzheimer disease." J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 72(9): 824-832.

Rees, D. C., T. N. Williams and M. T. Gladwin (2010). "Sickle-cell disease." Lancet 376(9757): 2018-2031.

Renatus, M., H. R. Stennicke, F. L. Scott, R. C. Liddington and G. S. Salvesen (2001). "Dimer formation drives the activation of the cell death protease caspase 9." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(25): 14250-14255.

Riedl, S. J., M. Renatus, R. Schwarzenbacher, Q. Zhou, C. Sun, S. W. Fesik, R. C. Liddington and G. S. Salvesen (2001). "Structural basis for the inhibition of caspase-3 by XIAP." Cell 104(5): 791-800.

Robert, G., A. Puissant, M. Dufies, S. Marchetti, A. Jacquel, T. Cluzeau, P. Colosetti, N. Belhacene, P. Kahle, C. A. Da Costa, F. Luciano, F. Checler and P. Auberger (2012). "The caspase 6 derived N-terminal fragment of DJ-1 promotes apoptosis via increased ROS production." Cell Death Differ 19(11): 1769-1778.

Rosen, D. R., T. Siddique, D. Patterson, D. A. Figlewicz, P. Sapp, A. Hentati, D. Donaldson, J. Goto, J. P. O'Regan, H. X. Deng and et al. (1993). "Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis." Nature 362(6415): 59-62.

Rotonda, J., D. W. Nicholson, K. M. Fazil, M. Gallant, Y. Gareau, M. Labelle, E. P. Peterson, D. M. Rasper, R. Ruel, J. P. Vaillancourt, N. A. Thornberry and J. W. Becker (1996). "The three-dimensional structure of apopain/CPP32, a key mediator of apoptosis." Nat Struct Biol 3(7): 619.

Rouaux, C., N. Jokic, C. Mbebi, S. Boutillier, J.-P. Loeffler and A.-L. Boutillier (2003). "Critical loss of CBP/p300 histone acetylase activity by caspase-6 during neurodegeneration." EMBO J 22(24): 6537-6549.

Roy, N., Q. L. Deveraux, R. Takahashi, G. S. Salvesen and J. C. Reed (1997). "The c-IAP-1 and c-IAP-2 proteins are direct inhibitors of specific caspases." EMBO J 16(23): 6914-6925.

Ruchaud, S., N. Korfali, P. Villa, T. J. Kottke, C. Dingwall, S. H. Kaufmann and W. C. Earnshaw (2002). "Caspase-6 gene disruption reveals a requirement for lamin A cleavage in apoptotic chromatin condensation." EMBO J 21(8): 1967-1977.

Rust, C., N. Wild, C. Bernt, T. Vennegeerts, R. Wimmer and U. Beuers (2009). "Bile acid-induced apoptosis in hepatocytes is caspase-6-dependent." J Biol Chem 284(5): 2908-2916.

Saganich, M. J., B. E. Schroeder, V. Galvan, D. E. Bredesen, E. H. Koo and S. F. Heinemann (2006). "Deficits in synaptic transmission and learning in amyloid precursor protein (APP) transgenic mice require C-terminal cleavage of APP." J Neurosci 26(52): 13428-13436.

Saleh, M., J. P. Vaillancourt, R. K. Graham, M. Huyck, S. M. Srinivasula, E. S. Alnemri, M. H. Steinberg, V. Nolan, C. T. Baldwin, R. S. Hotchkiss, T. G. Buchman, B. A. Zehnbauer, M. R. Hayden, L. A. Farrer, S. Roy and D. W. Nicholson (2004). "Differential modulation of endotoxin responsiveness by human caspase-12 polymorphisms." Nature 429(6987): 75-79.

Salmena, L. and R. Hakem (2005). "Caspase-8 deficiency in T cells leads to a lethal lymphoinfiltrative immune disorder." J Exp Med 202(6): 727-732.

Samejima, K., P. A. Svingen, G. S. Basi, T. Kottke, P. W. Mesner, Jr., L. Stewart, F. Durrieu, G. G. Poirier, E. S. Alnemri, J. J. Champoux, S. H. Kaufmann and W. C. Earnshaw (1999). "Caspase-mediated cleavage of DNA topoisomerase I at unconventional sites during apoptosis." J Biol Chem 274(7): 4335-4340.

Samiulla, D. S., A. Naidu, G. V. Rao and M. Ramachandra (2012). "Discovery of indole tetrafluorophenoxymethylketone-based potent novel small molecule inhibitors of caspase-3." Org Med Chem Lett 2: 27-27.

Sattar, R., S. A. Ali and A. Abbasi (2003). "Molecular mechanism of apoptosis: prediction of three-dimensional structure of caspase-6 and its interactions by homology modeling." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 308(3): 497-504.

Scaffidi, C., S. Fulda, A. Srinivasan and C. Friesen (1998). "Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways." EMBO J 17(6): 1675.

Scaffidi, C., I. Schmitz, P. H. Krammer and M. E. Peter (1999). "The role of c-FLIP in modulation of CD95-induced apoptosis." J Biol Chem 274(3): 1541-1548.

Schauvliege, R., J. Vanrobaeys, P. Schotte and R. Beyaert (2002). "Caspase-11 gene expression in response to lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma requires nuclear factor-kappa B and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 1." J Biol Chem 277(44): 41624-41630.

Scheff, S. W. and D. A. Price (2003). "Synaptic pathology in Alzheimer's disease: a review of ultrastructural studies." Neurobiol Aging 24(8): 1029-1046.

Schile, A. J., M. Garcia-Fernandez and H. Steller (2008). "Regulation of apoptosis by XIAP ubiquitin-ligase activity." Genes Dev 22(16): 2256-2266.

Schmeck, B., R. Gross, P. D. N'Guessan, A. C. Hocke, S. Hammerschmidt, T. J. Mitchell, S. Rosseau, N. Suttorp and S. Hippenstiel (2004). "Streptococcus pneumoniaeinduced caspase 6-dependent apoptosis in lung epithelium." Infect Immun 72(9): 4940-4947.

Schmitz, J., A. Owyang, E. Oldham, Y. Song, E. Murphy, T. K. McClanahan, G. Zurawski, M. Moshrefi, J. Qin, X. Li, D. M. Gorman, J. F. Bazan and R. A. Kastelein (2005). "IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines." Immunity 23(5): 479-490.

Schoenmann, Z., E. Assa-Kunik, S. Tiomny, A. Minis, L. Haklai-Topper, E. Arama and A. Yaron (2010). "Axonal degeneration is regulated by the apoptotic machinery or a NAD+-sensitive pathway in insects and mammals." J Neurosci 30(18): 6375-6386.

Schweizer, A., C. Briand and M. G. Grutter (2003). "Crystal structure of caspase-2, apical initiator of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway." J Biol Chem 278(43): 42441-42447.

Schweizer, A., H. Roschitzki-Voser, P. Amstutz, C. Briand, M. Gulotti-Georgieva, E. Prenosil, H. K. Binz, G. Capitani, A. Baici, A. Pl,ckthun and M. G. Gr,tter (2007). "Inhibition of Caspase-2 by a Designed Ankyrin Repeat Protein: Specificity, Structure, and Inhibition Mechanism." Structure 15(5): 625-636.

Seaman, J. E., O. Julien, P. S. Lee, T. J. Rettenmaier, N. D. Thomsen and J. A. Wells (2016). "Cacidases: caspases can cleave after aspartate, glutamate and phosphoserine residues." Cell Death Differ 23(10): 1717-1726.

Seifert, A. and P. R. Clarke (2009). "p38alpha- and DYRK1A-dependent phosphorylation of caspase-9 at an inhibitory site in response to hyperosmotic stress." Cell Signal 21(11): 1626-1633.

Shabanzadeh, A. P., P. M. D'Onofrio, P. P. Monnier and P. D. Koeberle (2015). "Targeting caspase-6 and caspase-8 to promote neuronal survival following ischemic stroke." Cell Death Dis 6: e1967.

Shahzidi, S., A. Brech, M. Sioud, X. Li, Z. Suo, J. M. Nesland and Q. Peng (2013). "Lamin A/C cleavage by caspase-6 activation is crucial for apoptotic induction by photodynamic therapy with hexaminolevulinate in human B-cell lymphoma cells." Cancer Lett 339(1): 25-32.

Shalini, S., L. Dorstyn, S. Dawar and S. Kumar (2015). "Old, new and emerging functions of caspases." Cell Death Differ 22(4): 526-539.

Sheng, J. G., R. E. Mrak and W. S. Griffin (1995). "Microglial interleukin-1 alpha expression in brain regions in Alzheimer's disease: correlation with neuritic plaque distribution." Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 21(4): 290-301.

Sheng, J. G., S. G. Zhu, R. A. Jones, W. S. Griffin and R. E. Mrak (2000). "Interleukin-1 promotes expression and phosphorylation of neurofilament and tau proteins in vivo." Exp Neurol 163(2): 388-391.

Shi, J., Y. Zhao, Y. Wang, W. Gao, J. Ding, P. Li, L. Hu and F. Shao (2014). "Inflammatory caspases are innate immune receptors for intracellular LPS." Nature 514(7521): 187-192.

Shi, Y. (2004). "Caspase activation, inhibition, and reactivation: A mechanistic view." Protein Sci 13(8): 1979-1987.

Shimizu, T., C. X. Cao, R. G. Shao and Y. Pommier (1998). "Lamin B phosphorylation by protein kinase calpha and proteolysis during apoptosis in human leukemia HL60 cells." J Biol Chem 273(15): 8669-8674.

Shiozaki, E. N., J. Chai, D. J. Rigotti, S. J. Riedl, P. Li, S. M. Srinivasula, E. S. Alnemri, R. Fairman and Y. Shi (2003). "Mechanism of XIAP-mediated inhibition of caspase-9." Mol Cell 11(2): 519-527.

Shirakura, H., N. Hayashi, S. Ogino, K. Tsuruma, T. Uehara and Y. Nomura (2005). "Caspase recruitment domain of procaspase-2 could be a target for SUMO-1 modification through Ubc9." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 331(4): 1007-1015.

Shirao, T. and Y. Sekino (2001). "Clustering and anchoring mechanisms of molecular constituents of postsynaptic scaffolds in dendritic spines." Neurosci Res 40(1): 1-7.

Simon, D. J., R. M. Weimer, T. McLaughlin, D. Kallop, K. Stanger, J. Yang, D. D. O'Leary, R. N. Hannoush and M. Tessier-Lavigne (2012). "A caspase cascade regulating developmental axon degeneration." The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience 32(49): 17540-17553.

Simon, D. J., R. M. Weimer, T. McLaughlin, D. Kallop, K. Stanger, J. Yang, D. D. O'Leary, R. N. Hannoush and M. Tessier-Lavigne (2012). "A caspase cascade regulating developmental axon degeneration." J Neurosci 32(49): 17540-17553.

Sivananthan, S. N., A. W. Lee, C. G. Goodyer and A. C. LeBlanc (2010). "Familial amyloid precursor protein mutants cause caspase-6-dependent but amyloid  $\beta$ -peptide-independent neuronal degeneration in primary human neuron cultures." Cell Death Dis 1(11): e100.

Slee, E. A., C. Adrain and S. J. Martin (2001). "Executioner caspase-3, -6, and -7 perform distinct, non-redundant roles during the demolition phase of apoptosis." J Biol Chem 276(10): 7320-7326.

Slee, E. A., M. T. Harte, R. M. Kluck, B. B. Wolf, C. A. Casiano, D. D. Newmeyer, H. G. Wang, J. C. Reed, D. W. Nicholson, E. S. Alnemri, D. R. Green and S. J. Martin (1999). "Ordering the cytochrome c-initiated caspase cascade: hierarchical activation of

caspases-2, -3, -6, -7, -8, and -10 in a caspase-9-dependent manner." J Cell Biol 144(2): 281-292.

Slow, E. J., J. van Raamsdonk, D. Rogers, S. H. Coleman, R. K. Graham, Y. Deng, R. Oh, N. Bissada, S. M. Hossain, Y. Z. Yang, X. J. Li, E. M. Simpson, C. A. Gutekunst, B. R. Leavitt and M. R. Hayden (2003). "Selective striatal neuronal loss in a YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease." Hum Mol Genet 12(13): 1555-1567.

Soares, J., M. M. Lowe and M. B. Jarstfer (2011). "The catalytic subunit of human telomerase is a unique caspase-6 and caspase-7 substrate." Biochemistry 50(42): 9046-9055.

Soper, D. L., J. Sheville, S. V. Oneil, Y. Wang, M. C. Laufersweiler, K. A. Oppong, J. A. Wos, C. D. Ellis, A. N. Fancher, W. Lu, M. K. Suchanek, R. L. Wang, B. De and T. P. Demuth (2006). "Synthesis and evaluation of novel 1-(2-acylhydrazinocarbonyl)-cycloalkyl carboxamides as interleukin-1b converting enzyme (ICE) inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem 16(16): 4233-4236.

Soper, D. L., J. X. Sheville, S. V. O'Neil, Y. Wang, M. C. Laufersweiler, K. A. Oppong, J. A. Wos, C. D. Ellis, M. W. Baize, J. J. Chen, A. N. Fancher, W. Lu, M. K. Suchanek, R. L. Wang, W. P. Schwecke, C. A. Cruze, M. Buchalova, M. Belkin, F. Wireko, A. Ritter, B. De, D. Wang and T. P. Demuth, Jr. (2006). "Synthesis and evaluation of novel 8,5-fused bicyclic peptidomimetic compounds as interleukin-1beta converting enzyme (ICE) inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem 14(23): 7880-7892.

Srinivasula, S. M., T. Fernandes-Alnemri, J. Zangrilli, N. Robertson, R. C. Armstrong, L. Wang, J. A. Trapani, K. J. Tomaselli, G. Litwack and E. S. Alnemri (1996). "The Ced-3/interleukin 1beta converting enzyme-like homolog Mch6 and the lamin-cleaving enzyme Mch2alpha are substrates for the apoptotic mediator CPP32." J Biol Chem 271(43): 27099-27106.

Srinivasula, S. M., R. Hegde, A. Saleh, P. Datta, E. Shiozaki, J. Chai, R. A. Lee, P. D. Robbins, T. Fernandes-Alnemri, Y. Shi and E. S. Alnemri (2001). "A conserved XIAP-interaction motif in caspase-9 and Smac/DIABLO regulates caspase activity and apoptosis." Nature 410(6824): 112-116.

Stafstrom-Davis, C. A., C. C. Ouimet, J. Feng, P. B. Allen, P. Greengard and T. A. Houpt (2001). "Impaired conditioned taste aversion learning in spinophilin knockout mice." Learn Mem 8(5): 272-278.

Stanger, K., M. Steffek, L. Zhou, C. D. Pozniak, C. Quan, Y. Franke, J. Tom, C. Tam, I. Krylova, J. M. Elliott, J. W. Lewcock, Y. Zhang, J. Murray and R. N. Hannoush (2012). "Allosteric peptides bind a caspase zymogen and mediate caspase tetramerization." Nat Chem Biol 8(7): 655-660.

Stennicke, H. R., C. A. Ryan and G. S. Salvesen (2002). "Reprieval from execution: the molecular basis of caspase inhibition." Trends Biochem Sci 27(2): 94-101.

Stennicke, H. R. and G. S. Salvesen (1997). "Biochemical characteristics of caspases-3, - 6, -7, and -8." J Biol Chem 272(41): 25719-25723.

Stennicke, H. R. and G. S. Salvesen (1999). "Catalytic properties of the caspases." Cell Death Differ 6(11): 1054-1059.

Su, H., N. Bidere, L. Zheng, A. Cubre, K. Sakai, J. Dale, L. Salmena, R. Hakem, S. Straus and M. Lenardo (2005). "Requirement for caspase-8 in NF-kappaB activation by antigen receptor." Science 307(5714): 1465-1468.

Suboj, P., S. Babykutty, P. Srinivas and S. Gopala (2012). "Aloe emodin induces G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis via activation of caspase-6 in human colon cancer cells." Pharmacology 89(1-2): 91-98.

Sun, C., M. Cai, R. P. Meadows, N. Xu, A. H. Gunasekera, J. Herrmann, J. C. Wu and S. W. Fesik (2000). "NMR structure and mutagenesis of the third Bir domain of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein XIAP." J Biol Chem 275(43): 33777-33781.

Suzuki, A., G. Kusakai, A. Kishimoto, Y. Shimojo, S. Miyamoto, T. Ogura, A. Ochiai and H. Esumi (2004). "Regulation of caspase-6 and FLIP by the AMPK family member ARK5." Oncogene 23(42): 7067-7075.

Suzuki, A., J. Lu, G. Kusakai, A. Kishimoto, T. Ogura and H. Esumi (2004). "ARK5 is a tumor invasion-associated factor downstream of Akt signaling." Mol Cell Biol 24(8): 3526-3535.

Suzuki, A. and S. Ohno (2006). "The PAR-aPKC system: lessons in polarity." J Cell Sci 119(Pt 6): 979-987.

Suzuki, Y., Y. Nakabayashi and R. Takahashi (2001). "Ubiquitin-protein ligase activity of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein promotes proteasomal degradation of caspase-3 and enhances its anti-apoptotic effect in Fas-induced cell death." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98(15): 8662-8667.

Taira, T., Y. Saito, T. Niki, S. M. Iguchi-Ariga, K. Takahashi and H. Ariga (2004). "DJ-1 has a role in antioxidative stress to prevent cell death." EMBO Rep 5(2): 213-218.

Takahashi, A., E. S. Alnemri, Y. A. Lazebnik, T. Fernandes-Alnemri, G. Litwack, R. D. Moir, R. D. Goldman, G. G. Poirier, S. H. Kaufmann and W. C. Earnshaw (1996). "Cleavage of Lamin A by Mch2a but not CPP32: Multiple Interleukin 1b -Converting Enzyme-Related Proteases with Distinct Substrate Recognition Properties are Active in Apoptosis." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(16): 8395-8400.

Takahashi, R., Q. Deveraux, I. Tamm, K. Welsh, N. Assa-Munt, G. S. Salvesen and J. C. Reed (1998). "A single BIR domain of XIAP sufficient for inhibiting caspases." J Biol Chem 273(14): 7787-7790.

Talanian, R. V., C. Quinlan, S. Trautz, M. C. Hackett, J. A. Mankovich, D. Banach, T. Ghayur, K. D. Brady and W. W. Wong (1997). "Substrate specificities of caspase family proteases." J Biol Chem 272(15): 9677-9682.

Tanaka, K., X. Chen, T. Kimura and F. Yoneda (1987). "Oxidation of thiol by 5arylidene 1,3-dimethylbarbituric acid and its application to synthesis of unsymmetrical disulfide." Tetrahedron Lett 28(36): 4173-4176.

Tanaka, K., X. Chen, T. Kimura and F. Yoneda (1988). "5-Arylidene 1, 3-Dimethylbarbituric Acid Derivatives, Mild Organic Oxidants for Allylic and Benzylic Alcohols." Chem Pharm Bull 36(1): 60-69.

Tebbenkamp, A. T., C. Green, G. Xu, E. M. Denovan-Wright, A. C. Rising, S. E. Fromholt, H. H. Brown, D. Swing, R. J. Mandel, L. Tessarollo and D. R. Borchelt (2011). "Transgenic mice expressing caspase-6-derived N-terminal fragments of mutant huntingtin develop neurologic abnormalities with predominant cytoplasmic inclusion pathology composed largely of a smaller proteolytic derivative." Hum Mol Genet 20(14): 2770-2782.

Tesco, G., Y. H. Koh, E. L. Kang, A. N. Cameron, S. Das, M. Sena-Esteves, M. Hiltunen, S. H. Yang, Z. Zhong, Y. Shen, J. W. Simpkins and R. E. Tanzi (2007). "Depletion of GGA3 stabilizes BACE and enhances beta-secretase activity." Neuron 54(5): 721-737.

Tesco, G., Y. H. Koh and R. E. Tanzi (2003). "Caspase activation increases beta-amyloid generation independently of caspase cleavage of the beta-amyloid precursor protein (APP)." J Biol Chem 278(46): 46074-46080.

Thome, M., P. Schneider, K. Hofmann, H. Fickenscher, E. Meinl, F. Neipel, C. Mattmann, K. Burns, J. L. Bodmer, M. Schroter, C. Scaffidi, P. H. Krammer, M. E. Peter and J. Tschopp (1997). "Viral FLICE-inhibitory proteins (FLIPs) prevent apoptosis induced by death receptors." Nature 386(6624): 517-521.

Thornberry, N. A., H. G. Bull, J. R. Calaycay, K. T. Chapman, A. D. Howard, M. J. Kostura, D. K. Miller, S. M. Molineaux, J. R. Weidner, J. Aunins and et al. (1992). "A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1 beta processing in monocytes." Nature 356(6372): 768-774.

Thornberry, N. A., T. A. Rano, E. P. Peterson, D. M. Rasper, T. Timkey, M. Garcia-Calvo, V. M. Houtzager, P. A. Nordstrom, S. Roy, J. P. Vaillancourt, K. T. Chapman and D. W. Nicholson (1997). "A combinatorial approach defines specificities of members of the caspase family and granzyme B. Functional relationships established for key mediators of apoptosis." J Biol Chem 272(29): 17907-17911.

Tinel, A. and J. Tschopp (2004). "The PIDDosome, a protein complex implicated in activation of caspase-2 in response to genotoxic stress." Science 304(5672): 843-846.

Tounekti, O., Y. Zhang, G. Klaiman, C. G. Goodyer and A. LeBlanc (2004). "Proteasomal degradation of caspase-6 in 17beta-estradiol-treated neurons." J Neurochem 89(3): 561-568.

Uribe, V., B. K. Wong, R. K. Graham, C. L. Cusack, N. H. Skotte, M. A. Pouladi, Y. Xie, K. Feinberg, Y. Ou, Y. Ouyang, Y. Deng, S. Franciosi, N. Bissada, A. Spreeuw, W. Zhang, D. E. Ehrnhoefer, K. Vaid, F. D. Miller, M. Deshmukh, D. Howland and M. R. Hayden (2012). "Rescue from excitotoxicity and axonal degeneration accompanied by age-dependent behavioral and neuroanatomical alterations in caspase-6-deficient mice." Hum Mol Genet 21(9): 1954-1967.

Vaidya, S. and J. A. Hardy (2011). "Caspase-6 latent state stability relies on helical propensity." Biochemistry 50(16): 3282-3287.

Vaidya, S., E. M. Velazquez-Delgado, G. Abbruzzese and J. A. Hardy (2011). "Substrate-induced conformational changes occur in all cleaved forms of caspase-6." J Mol Biol 406(1): 75-91.

van de Craen, M., C. de Jonghe, I. van den Brande, W. Declercq, G. van Gassen, W. van Criekinge, I. Vanderhoeven, W. Fiers, C. van Broeckhoven, L. Hendriks and P. Vandenabeele (1999). "Identification of caspases that cleave presenilin-1 and presenilin-2. Five presenilin-1 (PS1) mutations do not alter the sensitivity of PS1 to caspases." FEBS Lett 445(1): 149-154.

van Raam, B. J., D. E. Ehrnhoefer, M. R. Hayden and G. S. Salvesen (2013). "Intrinsic cleavage of receptor-interacting protein kinase-1 by caspase-6." Cell Death Differ 20(1): 86-96.

Van Raamsdonk, J. M., Z. Murphy, E. J. Slow, B. R. Leavitt and M. R. Hayden (2005). "Selective degeneration and nuclear localization of mutant huntingtin in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington disease." Hum Mol Genet 14(24): 3823-3835.

Van Raamsdonk, J. M., J. Pearson, E. J. Slow, S. M. Hossain, B. R. Leavitt and M. R. Hayden (2005). "Cognitive dysfunction precedes neuropathology and motor abnormalities in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington's disease." J Neurosci 25(16): 4169-4180.

Vandenabeele, P., W. Declercq, F. Van Herreweghe and T. Vanden Berghe (2010). "The role of the kinases RIP1 and RIP3 in TNF-induced necrosis." Sci Signal 3(115): re4.

Vazquez, J., A. Garcia-Jareno, L. Mondragon, E. Perez-Paya, F. Albericio and J. Rubio-Martinez (2008). "Conformationally restricted hydantoin-based peptidomimetics as inhibitors of caspase-3 with basic groups allowed at the S3 enzyme subsite." ChemMedChem 3(6): 979-985.

Vegran, F. and R. Boidot (2013). "Survivin-3B promotes chemoresistance and immune escape by inhibiting caspase-8 and -6 in cancer cells." Oncoimmunology 2(11): e26328.

Velazquez-Delgado, E. M. and J. A. Hardy (2012). "Phosphorylation regulates assembly of the caspase-6 substrate-binding groove." Structure 20(4): 742-751.

Velazquez-Delgado, E. M. and J. A. Hardy (2012). "Zinc-mediated allosteric inhibition of caspase-6." J Biol Chem 287(43): 36000-36011.

Vigneswara, V., N. Akpan, M. Berry, A. Logan, C. M. Troy and Z. Ahmed (2014). "Combined suppression of CASP2 and CASP6 protects retinal ganglion cells from apoptosis and promotes axon regeneration through CNTF-mediated JAK/STAT signalling." Brain 137(Pt 6): 1656-1675.

Vohra, B. P. S., Y. Sasaki, B. R. Miller, J. Chang, A. DiAntonio and J. Milbrandt (2010). "APP cleavage dependent and independent axonal degeneration programs share a common Nmnat1-sensitive pathway." J Neurosci 30(41): 13729-13738.

Voss, M. E., P. H. Carter, A. J. Tebben, P. A. Scherle, G. D. Brown, L. A. Thompson, M. Xu, Y. C. Lo, G. Yang, R. Q. Liu, P. Strzemienski, J. G. Everlof, J. M. Trzaskos and C. P. Decicco (2003). "Both 5-arylidene-2-thioxodihydropyrimidine-4,6(1H,5H)-diones and 3-thioxo-2,3-dihydro-1H-imidazo[1,5-a]indol-1-ones are light-dependent tumor necrosis factor-alpha antagonists." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 13(3): 533-538.

Voss, O. H., S. Kim, M. D. Wewers and A. I. Doseff (2005). "Regulation of monocyte apoptosis by the protein kinase Cdelta-dependent phosphorylation of caspase-3." J Biol Chem 280(17): 17371-17379.

Wai, M. S., Y. Liang, C. Shi, E. Y. Cho, H. F. Kung and D. T. Yew (2009). "Colocalization of hyperphosphorylated tau and caspases in the brainstem of Alzheimer's disease patients." Biogerontology 10(4): 457-469.

Waldron-Roby, E., J. Hoerauf, N. Arbez, S. Zhu, K. Kulcsar and C. A. Ross (2015). "Sox11 Reduces Caspase-6 Cleavage and Activity." PLoS One 10(10): e0141439.

Walker, N. P. C., R. V. Talanian, K. D. Brady, L. C. Dang, N. J. Bump, C. R. Ferenza, S. Franklin, T. Ghayur, M. C. Hackett, L. D. Hammill, L. Herzog, M. Hugunin, W. Houy, J. A. Mankovich, L. McGuiness, E. Orlewicz, M. Paskind, C. A. Pratt, P. Reis, A. Summani, M. Terranova, J. P. Welch, L. Xiong, A. Muller, D. E. Tracey, R. Kamen and W. W. Wong (1994). "Crystal structure of the cysteine protease interleukin-1b-converting enzyme: A (p20/p10) 2 homodimer." Cell 78(2): 343-352.

Wang, S., M. Miura, Y. Jung, H. Zhu, V. Gagliardini, L. Shi, A. H. Greenberg and J. Yuan (1996). "Identification and characterization of Ich-3, a member of the interleukin-1beta converting enzyme (ICE)/Ced-3 family and an upstream regulator of ICE." J Biol Chem 271(34): 20580-20587.

Wang, S., M. Miura, Y. K. Jung, H. Zhu, E. Li and J. Yuan (1998). "Murine caspase-11, an ICE-interacting protease, is essential for the activation of ICE." Cell 92(4): 501-509.

Wang, X. J., Q. Cao, X. Liu, K. T. Wang, W. Mi, Y. Zhang, L. F. Li, A. C. LeBlanc and X. D. Su (2010). "Crystal structures of human caspase 6 reveal a new mechanism for intramolecular cleavage self-activation." EMBO Rep 11(11): 841-847.

Wang, Y., S. Jia, B. Tseng, J. Drewe and S. X. Cai (2007). "Dipeptidyl aspartyl fluoromethylketones as potent caspase inhibitors: Peptidomimetic replacement of the P 2 amino acid by 2-aminoaryl acids and other non-natural amino acids." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17(22): 6178-6182.

Wang, Y., S. V. O'Neil, J. A. Wos, K. A. Oppong, M. C. Laufersweiler, D. L. Soper, C. D. Ellis, M. W. Baize, A. N. Fancher, W. Lu, M. K. Suchanek, R. L. Wang, W. P. Schwecke, C. A. Cruze, M. Buchalova, M. Belkin, B. De and T. P. Demuth, Jr. (2007). "Synthesis and evaluation of unsaturated caprolactams as interleukin-1beta converting enzyme (ICE) inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem 15(3): 1311-1322.

Wang, Y., D. Zhao, B. Pan, Z. Song, S. Z. Shah, X. Yin, X. Zhou and L. Yang (2015). "Death Receptor 6 and Caspase-6 Regulate Prion Peptide-Induced Axonal Degeneration in Rat Spinal Neurons." J Mol Neurosci 56(4): 966-976.

Wang, Z., W. Watt, N. A. Brooks, M. S. Harris, J. Urban, D. Boatman, M. McMillan, M. Kahn, R. L. Heinrikson, B. C. Finzel, A. J. Wittwer, J. Blinn, S. Kamtekar and A. G. Tomasselli (2010). "Kinetic and structural characterization of caspase-3 and caspase-8 inhibition by a novel class of irreversible inhibitors." Biochem Biophys Acta 1804(9): 1817-1831.

Warby, S. C., E. Y. Chan, M. Metzler, L. Gan, R. R. Singaraja, S. F. Crocker, H. A. Robertson and M. R. Hayden (2005). "Huntingtin phosphorylation on serine 421 is significantly reduced in the striatum and by polyglutamine expansion in vivo." Hum Mol Genet 14(11): 1569-1577.

Warby, S. C., C. N. Doty, R. K. Graham, J. B. Carroll, Y. Z. Yang, R. R. Singaraja, C. M. Overall and M. R. Hayden (2008). "Activated caspase-6 and caspase-6-cleaved fragments of huntingtin specifically colocalize in the nucleus." Hum Mol Genet 17(15): 2390-2404.

Warby, S. C., C. N. Doty, R. K. Graham, J. Shively, R. R. Singaraja and M. R. Hayden (2009). "Phosphorylation of huntingtin reduces the accumulation of its nuclear fragments." Mol Cell Neurosci 40(2): 121-127.

Watanabe, C., G. L. Shu, T. S. Zheng, R. A. Flavell and E. A. Clark (2008). "Caspase 6 regulates B cell activation and differentiation into plasma cells." J Immunol 181(10): 6810-6819.

Wei, Y., T. Fox, S. P. Chambers, J. Sintchak, J. T. Coll, J. M. Golec, L. Swenson, K. P. Wilson and P. S. Charifson (2000). "The structures of caspases-1, -3, -7 and -8 reveal the basis for substrate and inhibitor selectivity." Chem Biol 7(6): 423-432.

Weidemann, A., K. Paliga, U. Durrwang, F. B. Reinhard, O. Schuckert, G. Evin and C. L. Masters (1999). "Proteolytic processing of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid precursor

protein within its cytoplasmic domain by caspase-like proteases." J Biol Chem 274(9): 5823-5829.

Wellington, C. L., R. Singaraja, L. Ellerby, J. Savill, S. Roy, B. Leavitt, E. Cattaneo, A. Hackam, A. Sharp, N. Thornberry, D. W. Nicholson, D. E. Bredesen and M. R. Hayden (2000). "Inhibiting caspase cleavage of huntingtin reduces toxicity and aggregate formation in neuronal and nonneuronal cells." J Biol Chem 275(26): 19831-19838.

Werz, O., I. Tretiakova, A. Michel, A. Ulke-Lemee, M. Hornig, L. Franke, G. Schneider, B. Samuelsson, O. Radmark and D. Steinhilber (2005). "Caspase-mediated degradation of human 5-lipoxygenase in B lymphocytic cells." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(37): 13164-13169.

White, F. A., C. R. Keller-Peck, C. M. Knudson, S. J. Korsmeyer and W. D. Snider (1998). "Widespread elimination of naturally occurring neuronal death in Bax-deficient mice." J Neurosci 18(4): 1428-1439.

Wilson, K. P., J. A. Black, J. A. Thomson, E. E. Kim, J. P. Griffith, M. A. Navia, M. A. Murcko, S. P. Chambers, R. A. Aldape, S. A. Raybuck and et al. (1994). "Structure and mechanism of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme." Nature 370(6487): 270-275.

Wong, B. K., D. E. Ehrnhoefer, R. K. Graham, D. D. Martin, S. Ladha, V. Uribe, L. M. Stanek, S. Franciosi, X. Qiu, Y. Deng, V. Kovalik, W. Zhang, M. A. Pouladi, L. S. Shihabuddin and M. R. Hayden (2015). "Partial rescue of some features of Huntington Disease in the genetic absence of caspase-6 in YAC128 mice." Neurobiol Dis 76: 24-36.

Xu, G., M. Cirilli, Y. Huang, R. L. Rich, D. G. Myszka and H. Wu (2001). "Covalent inhibition revealed by the crystal structure of the caspase-8/p35 complex." Nature 410(6827): 494-497.

Xu, G., R. L. Rich, C. Steegborn, T. Min, Y. Huang, D. G. Myszka and H. Wu (2003). "Mutational analyses of the p35-caspase interaction. A bowstring kinetic model of caspase inhibition by p35." J Biol Chem 278(7): 5455-5461.

Yang, K. M., B. M. Kim and J. B. Park (2014). "omega-Hydroxyundec-9-enoic acid induces apoptosis through ROS-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress in non-small cell lung cancer cells." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 448(3): 267-273.

Yao, Y., Q. Shi, B. Chen, Q. Wang, X. Li, L. Li, Y. Huang, J. Ji and P. Shen (2016). "Identification of caspase-6 as a new regulator of alternatively activated macrophages." J Biol Chem 291(33): 17450-17466.

Ye, Y. C., H. J. Wang, L. Chen, W. W. Liu, S. Tashiro, S. Onodera, M. Y. Xia and T. Ikejima (2013). "Negatively-regulated necroptosis by autophagy required caspase-6 activation in TNFalpha-treated murine fibrosarcoma L929 cells." Int Immunopharmacol 17(3): 548-555.

Yi, S., L. Wen, J. He, Y. Wang, F. Zhao, J. Zhao, Z. Zhao, G. Cui and Y. Chen (2015). "Deguelin, a selective silencer of the NPM1 mutant, potentiates apoptosis and induces differentiation in AML cells carrying the NPM1 mutation." Ann Hematol 94(2): 201-210.

Yoo, M. S., H. S. Chun, J. J. Son, L. A. DeGiorgio, D. J. Kim, C. Peng and J. H. Son (2003). "Oxidative stress regulated genes in nigral dopaminergic neuronal cells: correlation with the known pathology in Parkinson's disease." Brain Res Mol Brain Res 110(1): 76-84.

Yuan, J., S. Shaham, S. Ledoux, H. M. Ellis and H. R. Horvitz (1993). "The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme." Cell 75(4): 641-652.

Zandy, A. J., S. Lakhani, T. Zheng, R. A. Flavell and S. Bassnett (2005). "Role of the executioner caspases during lens development." J Biol Chem 280(34): 30263-30272.

Zermati, Y., C. Garrido, S. Amsellem, S. Fishelson, D. Bouscary, F. Valensi, B. Varet, E. Solary and O. Hermine (2001). "Caspase activation is required for terminal erythroid differentiation." J Exp Med 193(2): 247-254.

Zhang, J., O. F. Gorostiza, H. Tang, D. E. Bredesen and V. Galvan (2010). "Reversal of learning deficits in hAPP transgenic mice carrying a mutation at Asp664: a role for early experience." Behav Brain Res 206(2): 202-207.

Zhang, Y., C. Goodyer and A. LeBlanc (2000). "Selective and protracted apoptosis in human primary neurons microinjected with active caspase-3, -6, -7, and -8." J Neurosci 20(22): 8384-8389.

Zhao, H., W. Zhao, K. Lok, Z. Wang and M. Yin (2014). "A synergic role of caspase-6 and caspase-3 in Tau truncation at D421 induced by H2O 2." Cell Mol Neurobiol 34(3): 369-378.

Zhao, L., Q. L. Ma, F. Calon, M. E. Harris-White, F. Yang, G. P. Lim, T. Morihara, O. J. Ubeda, S. Ambegaokar, J. E. Hansen, R. H. Weisbart, B. Teter, S. A. Frautschy and G. M. Cole (2006). "Role of p21-activated kinase pathway defects in the cognitive deficits of Alzheimer disease." Nat Neurosci 9(2): 234-242.

Zhao, M. (2003). "Accumulation of caspase cleaved amyloid precursor protein represents an early neurodegenerative event in aging and in Alzheimer's disease." Neurobiol Dis 14(3): 391-403.

Zheng, T. S., S. Hunot, K. Kuida and R. A. Flavell (1999). "Caspase knockouts: matters of life and death." Cell Death Differ 6(11): 1043-1053.

Zhou, Q., J. F. Krebs, S. J. Snipas, A. Price, E. S. Alnemri, K. J. Tomaselli and G. S. Salvesen (1998). "Interaction of the Baculovirus Anti-apoptotic Protein p35 with Caspases. Specificity, Kinetics, and Characterization of the Caspase/p35 Complex." Biochemistry 37(30): 10757-10765.

Zhou, Q., S. Snipas, K. Orth, M. Muzio, V. M. Dixit and G. S. Salvesen (1997). "Target protease specificity of the viral serpin CrmA. Analysis of five caspases." J Biol Chem 272(12): 7797.

Zhou, Y., F. Li, X. Tian, B. Wang, M. Ding and H. Pang (2014). "Changes in phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase 55 kDa gamma expression and subcellular localization may be caspase 6 dependent in paraquat-induced SH-SY5Y apoptosis." Hum Exp Toxicol 33(7): 761-771.